

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Relationship Between Demographic Characteristics and Self-Perceived Wellness of Military Veterans

Oluwatosin Mariam Roselin Animashaun *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Mariam Oluwatosin Roselin Animashaun

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

> Review Committee Dr. Shari Jorissen, Committee Chairperson, Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Jeffrey Harlow, Committee Member, Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Andrew Garland-Forshee, University Reviewer, Human and Social Services Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Relationship Between Demographic Characteristics and Self-Perceived Wellness of

Military Veterans

by

Mariam Oluwatosin Roselin Animashaun

MA, Walden University, 2019

MA, Trident University, 2009

BS, Lagos State Polytechnic, Nigeria, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human and Social Services

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

An estimated 200,000 U.S. service members transition to civilian life each year and experience life-altering changes that can negatively affect how they function, their abilities, and their overall wellness. The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between demographics and wellness (RQ1) and differences in wellness between combat and noncombat veterans when controlling for number of years since discharge (RQ2). Data were collected using the General Wellbeing Schedule, and a sample of 144 veterans participated. The results were explored through the framework of military transition theory. Statistical analyses used included multiple linear regression and ANCOVA. The RQ1 model (gender, branch of service, rank at discharge, service type, years served, and years since discharge) explained approximately 16% of the variance ($R^2 = 0.157$, F (6,132) = 4.091, p = .001) in the dependent variable of self-perceived wellness. Branch of service (B = 3.706, p < .05), rank (B = 6.096, p < .05), and years served (B = .552, p < .05) were the only independent variables related to self-perceived wellness at statistically significant levels (null was partially rejected). For RQ 2, the difference in mean wellness score was not statistically significant (F(1, 136) = 1.429, p = .234) between combat (M = 52.924) and noncombat (M = 57.170) veterans (null hypothesis was retained). The results of this study have potential implications for positive social change as they can be used in veteran transition services to improve and individualize the services offered based on the variables determined to be related to wellness.

Relationship Between Demographic Characteristics and Self-Perceived Wellness of

Military Veterans

by

Mariam Oluwatosin Roselin Animashaun

MA, Walden University, 2019

MA, Trident University, 2009

BS, Lagos State Polytechnic, Nigeria, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human and Social Services

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my wonderful family: my sister, Olabisi, and my children, Mozidat and Mozeed, who supported, encouraged, and motivated throughout the entire journey. I also dedicate this to the memory of my late grandmother and father, Sena Martins and Lateef Agoro, who gave me wings to fly and encouraged my endeavors. I also dedicate this to all transitioning service members and staff I have worked with as a Wounded Warrior Advocate at the Warrior Transition Battalion and Soldier and Family Activity Center at Fort Stewart from 2008 to 2020. My work with the warriors propelled my journey to find ways to alleviate challenges and promote successful transitions.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my faith in God for giving me the wisdom, knowledge, and understanding to complete this journey. Through the grace of God, I was blessed and highly favored beyond human understanding during the most difficult times in this process. I thank God for blessing me with a wonderful family that supported and encouraged me from 2016 when I started this journey and for allowing Faizal to be a part of the journey. I acknowledge the support I received from Oluwapelumi Matteo in 2021 during my proposal oral presentation. I am also very thankful for having a wonderful committee guide me through the process: Dr. Shari Jorissen and Dr. Jeffrey Harlow, for their patience, encouragement, and support. My special friends Ret. SFC Vernon Williams and Tanya Williams, for their support and motivation. I also appreciate the support and love I received from the staff and veterans of the Warrior Transition Battalion and the Soldier and Family Activity Center.

List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of Study	5
Research Question and Hypotheses	6
Theoretical Foundation	8
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	9
Assumptions	11
Scope and Delimitations	12
Limitations	13
Significance	14
Summary	14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
Introduction	16
Literature Search Strategy	17
Theoretical Foundation	
Components of MTT	

Table of Contents

Military Transition Theory and Demographics	
Literature Review	44
Demographics of the U.S. Military	
Leaving the Military (Discharge)	
Postmilitary Separation Support	50
Government Postmilitary Separation Supports	51
Community Postmilitary Separation Supports	56
Wellness	
Summary and Conclusions	75
Chapter 3: Research Method	77
Introduction	77
Research Design and Rationale	78
Research Design	
Methodology	82
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	86
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	89
Operationalization of Constructs	
Data Analysis Plan	
Threats to Validity	
External Validity	

Internal Validity	100
Construct Validity	101
Ethical Procedures	101
Summary	
Chapter 4: Results	104
Introduction	104
Data Collection	
Descriptive Statistics	
Results	111
Research Question 1 (Multiple Linear Regression)	
Research Question 2 (Analysis of Covariance)	122
Summary	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	130
Introduction	130
Interpretation of the Findings	131
Interpretation of Findings in Relation to Theoretical Framework	
Interpretation of Findings in Relation to Literature Reviewed	135
Limitations of the Study	140
Recommendations	143
Implications	144
Conclusion	147
References	149

Appendix A: Online Flyer	
Appendix B: Screening Survey	199
Appendix C: Consent Form	
Appendix D: Demographic Questionnaire	
Appendix E: General Well-being Schedule	
Appendix F: US Military Ranks, Branches, and Pay Scale	
Appendix G: Permission	213

List of Tables

Table 1. Personnel Demographics of the U.S. Armed Forces	46
Table 2. Military Separations By State and Installation, 2010–2013	
Table 3. Variables Used in Study	
Table 4. Demographics of Sample (n=144)	
Table 5. General Well-Being Scale Total Scores (n=144; M=54.42)	
Table 6. Reliability Statistics for GWB Total & Subscales	110
Table 7. Differences in GWB Total Score by Gender	111
Table 8. Differences in GWB Total Score by Rank	112
Table 9. Durbin-Watson Results (Assumption 3)	113
Table 10. Correlations, Multicollinearity Assumption Testing	119
Table 11. Coefficients	120
Table 12. RQ 1 Multiple Regression Results	
Table 13. Model Summary	122
Table 14. Test of Normality for Service Type	
Table 15. Tests of Homogeneity of Variances for Type of Service	
Table 16. ANOVA	
Table 17 Correlations	126
Table 18 ANCOVA Results	128

List of Figures

Figure 1. Military Transition Theory	20
Figure 2. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Age	114
Figure 3. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Number of Years Served	114
Figure 4. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Gender	115
Figure 5. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Branch of Service	115
Figure 6. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Rank Status at Discharge	116
Figure 7. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Service Type	116
Figure 8. Scatter Plot of Total Score and Years Since Discharge	117
Figure 9. A Graph of the Independent and Dependent Variables Showing	
Homoscedasticity	118
Figure 10. P-P Plot Showing a Normal Residual Distribution	121
Figure 11. Boxplot for Service Type	124
Figure 12. Scatter Plot of Total Score by The Number of Years Since Discharge	126
Figure 13. Scatterplot of the Standardized Residuals and the Predicted Values	127

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Researchers have explored the military to civilian life transition and found that the changes associated with transition and the challenges veterans experience involve adjustments to psychological, physiological, and social factors (Zogas, 2017). This transition can be more complicated for some veterans than others due to their different demographic characteristics, backgrounds, and experiences (Zogas, 2017). Much of the research about the reintegration and wellness of military veterans after separation has been qualitative studies (Ahern et al., 2015; Binks & Cambridge, 2017; Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Gregg et al., 2016; Jones, 2017; Leslie & Koblinsky, 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). These researchers have focused on how combat veterans adapt to civilian life after their combat experiences rather than their wellness after permanent discharge from their military obligations (MacLean et al., 2014; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018).

I have not found researchers who have examined the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and selfperceived wellness or the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by Dupuy's (1977) general well-being schedule (GWBS) between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge. Further studies are needed in these areas to add to the literature on the transition and wellness of veterans (Ahern et al., 2015; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018; Suzuki & Kawakami, 2016). The positive change implication of this study is to provide additional information to government agencies and community service providers who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to tailor transitional programs and resources based on veterans' characteristics. Chapter 1 includes the introduction, problem statement, purpose of study, research questions, hypotheses, variables, theoretical foundation, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, significance, and summary.

Background

The effective transition of veterans from military to civilian life is important because service members may experience difficulty becoming fully integrated into civilian society after leaving the military (MacLean et al., 2014; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Ahern et al. (2015) and Keeling et al. (2018) discussed the adjustments that need to occur for an effective transition. Ahern et al. attributed the challenges of an effective transition to traumatic military obligations, cultural change, and repeated disruption of connections to loved ones. Keeling et al. explained that employment was the factor that veterans reported most affected their wellness post service.

Veterans adjusting to civilian life may have problems with acculturation adjustments and their strong ideology of service to others that may not be as valued in civilian life as in the military (Suzuki & Kawakami, 2016). Veterans experience psychological adjustments during their transition due to their loss of identity and purpose and the loss of their self-identity as part of the military culture and community (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Zogas (2018) explained that veterans were once part of an institution that provided unique skills and changed their behaviors and values. Thus, it is difficult for them to translate that military culture and lifestyle to civilian settings to have a successful transition after discharge.

The aftermath of life in the armed forces can be demanding and sometimes leave veterans with health and wellness needs regardless of whether they were exposed to combat or not during service. Oster et al. (2017) identified certain factors that influence the wellness of both combat and noncombat veterans after discharge: intensive daily physical activities and lifestyle factors, such as alcohol consumption, smoking, and military-related traumatic stress. Exposure to combat may complicate matters for some veterans because they may experience physical and psychological trauma after their combat service (Oster et al., 2017). Veterans may have also been exposed to viruses and toxic substances during their service years, which may lead to cancer and other terminal illnesses once they are no longer in service (Oster et al., 2017).

Undiagnosed and untreated mental health illnesses inhibit successful transition and the well-being of veterans after service. Gettings et al. (2019) indicated that combat veterans experience several problems upon returning to the community. Many veterans find it challenging to acculturate, and they may have problems socializing with civilians or maintaining employment when they leave the force with untreated medical conditions (Oster et al., 2017). According to Orazem et al. (2017), veterans reported they felt like outsiders and did not belong or fit into a civilian setting. Thus, military veterans are most vulnerable when separated from active service, especially feeling the loss of important aspects of military culture, the structure, support, and community (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Military veterans find it difficult to adjust to their new lives to rebuild their selfconcept as civilians. Thus, the loss of purpose and meaning impedes their wellness after their transition.

Problem Statement

The U.S. Department of Defense (DOD, 2017) reported that between 174,403 and 188,276 service members had left the military since 2010. The challenges military veterans experience during their transition from military to civilian life are related to adjusting to a civilian environment and culture different from what they experienced while serving in the military (Zogas, 2017). If a veteran cannot successfully assimilate into civilian life, they may find themselves unemployed, experiencing financial hardships due to unemployment, unstable living arrangements, psychological issues, and/or relationship issues. Between 65% and 80% of veterans surveyed between 2014 and 2016 did not have employment after leaving the military, and over 30% of veterans reported financial struggles (Zogas, 2017). Over 40% of veterans are not eligible for housing assistance under the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development programs, even though they do not have permanent housing (Castro et al., 2014). Unresolved relationship issues can result in a deterioration of relationships with others, and unresolved psychological issues/lack of treatment are related to homelessness, substance use, and suicide (Castro et al., 2014; Ahern et al., 2015).

Wellness is defined as a "multidimensional and holistic, encompassing lifestyle, mental and spiritual well-being, and the environment" (National Wellness Institute, 2019). Positive perceptions of wellness among military veterans are found to be related to being gainfully employed (Castro et al., 2014; Kneeling et al., 2018), a strong social support system (Castro & Kintzle, 2016), community acceptance (Castro & Kintzle, 2016), and a sense of contentment with one's life (Cooper et al., 2018; Kneeling et al., 2018). Therefore, the problem addressed in this study is the negative experiences related to wellness that veterans may experience during their postmilitary transition, such as unemployment, changes and challenges in relationships and social support networks, community stigma and discrimination, inadequate support services, loss of purpose, and personal and social identity challenges (Cooper et al., 2018; Kneeling et al., 2018; Sayer et al., 2014)

Previous research into the challenges related to veteran assimilation into civilian life, associated problems, and their relationship to perceived wellness has illuminated important findings (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro et al., 2014; Castrol & Kintzle, 2017; Zogas, 2017) However, I have found no research conducted to examine the relationship between the demographic characteristics of military veterans (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and their self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS. Further research is warranted to examine the relationships between these variables and the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge.

Purpose of Study

The intent of this quantitative, correlational study of a cross-sectional nature was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/non-combat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS in military veterans. In addition, I studied the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge. By having a better understanding of these topics, additional information could be provided to those who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to assist them in individualizing these programs based on veteran characteristics.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: What is the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS in military veterans?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS in military veterans.

 H_A1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since

discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS in military veterans.

The independent variables associated with RQ1 are age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/noncombat), number of years served, and number of years since discharge. The dependent variable is self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS (Dupuy, 1977). I conducted a multiple linear regression to analyze the data as the scoring of the instrument used for the dependent variable is linear (0–100).

RQ2: What is the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for number of years since discharge?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for number of years since discharge.

 H_A2 : There is a statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for number of years since discharge.

The independent variable associated with RQ2 is service type (combat/noncombat). The dependent variable is self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS (Dupuy, 1977). I conducted an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), and the covariate will be the number of years since discharge.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical framework used for this study was the military transition theory (MTT). Service members become accustomed to different forms of transitions throughout their military careers as part of their military obligations (Castro, 2018). Individuals transition from civilian life to military life through basic training. In the military, they experience multiple transitions according to their duty assignments. Service members' final transition is when they separate from the military and transition back to civilian life (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). MTT asserts that even though military personnel may become accustomed to changes within their military career, separating from the service is a more substantial transition. This transition from military life to civilian life can affect their health and well-being because it is a major culture change (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The changes involved can be difficult for some veterans, impacting the outcome of their transition and their perceived wellness (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2016). Castro and Kintzle (2014) developed MTT to gain insight into how service members develop their sense of belongingness, selfless service, and service to others during the lifetime of their military career. Researchers have primarily used MTT to explain transitions such as the military to civilian careers (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro et al., 2014; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Whitworth et al., 2020), military to civilian education (Ford & Vignare, 2015), veterans' physical and mental health (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014; Chin & Zeber, 2020; Mobbs & Boanno, 2018; U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs [VA], 2018a),

postmilitary development (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014), and wellness of veterans (Castro, 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Mobbs & Boanno, 2018).

Military separation involves changing cultures, like the experiences of immigrants who go from one culture to another, *acculturation* (Castro, 2018). Changes immigrants may encounter include dramatic changes to employment, language, housing, health care, community connections, a sense of purpose, and belonging (Castro, 2018). These changes are related to discomfort and stress (Carlos, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2016). This discomfort and stress could negatively impact the well-being of these individuals (Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2016).

Nature of the Study

This study was a quantitative descriptive correlational design of a cross-sectional nature. A correlational study is a nonexperimental procedure used to determine the statistical relationship between two or more variables (Souse et al., 2007). Researchers use a cross-sectional study when they want to collect data at a specific point in time (Sertia, 2016). This research methodology was appropriate because it allowed me to examine the relationship between the demographic characteristics of veterans in relation to veterans' self-perceived wellness at one point in time (one data collection period).

Definitions

Acculturation: The process in which members of one cultural group adopt the beliefs and behaviors of another and apply them to their family or individuality (Meston & Ahrold, 2010).

Active duty: Full-time service, excluding training, as a member of one of the five branches of the military or a commissioned officer of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration or Public Health Service (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018).

Combat: Active fighting in a war (Merriam-Webster, n.d.). For this study, combat involved being deployed to a hostile environment, war zone, or occupied area where the military may not be wanted as part of one's military obligation.

Discharged: The completion of a service member's military service or their separation from service (Armed Forces, 2015).

Military: Relates to the armed forces. It is a heavily armed, highly organized force primarily intended for warfare (DOD, 2005).

Military identity: Conceptualized as a multidimensional construct comprised of warriorism, idealism, professionalism, and individualism (Johansen et al., 2015).

Military service: Serving in a branch of the armed forces listed as military (DOD, 2005).

Military transition/military transition theory: When service members enter a state of progression when transitioning from military culture to civilian culture (Castro & Kintzle, 2014).

Noncombat: Military service without deployment to a combat zone or a hostile environment (Castro & Kintzle, 2014).

Separation: A general term used to identify service members being discharged, released from active duty or custody and control of the Armed Forces, transferred to the Individual Ready Reserve, or changing from active or reserve status (Knight, 2014).

Service members: Military members of the military (Castro & Kintzle, 2014).

Veteran: An individual 18 years or older who served but is not currently serving in an active-duty status in one of the five branches of the military (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018).

Assumptions

Several assumptions were made for this study, and they were necessary to answer the research questions. I assumed that participants would voluntarily participate in the study. The second assumption was that all the participants would meet the minimum requirements for admission into the study (retired U.S. military veterans from the post-9/11 era who retired as enlisted personnel, warrant officers, or officers [DOD, 2017]; veterans who retired from any service component [Active Duty, Reserves or National Guard]; and literacy level in English language sufficient to understand the questionnaire) and that the participants would answer these screening questions honestly. All participants whose data did not meet the inclusion criteria based on their answers to the inclusion items were excluded from the survey.

The third assumption was that the participants would complete the demographic information and GWBS completely and truthfully respond to each question based on their life satisfaction and level of psychological distress. This concern was minimized because participants provided anonymous answers to the online survey (Leiner, 2014). Participants were assured anonymity as I was not collecting any identifying information (e.g., name, social security number, address), and data were reported in aggregate. In addition, the data were stored in a secure location following the guidelines of the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB; Leiner, 2014).

Scope and Delimitations

The focus of this study was the relationship between the demographic characteristics of veterans and their self-perceived wellness. Wellness was measured using the GWBS (Dupuy, 1977), and demographic data were collected using a researcher-developed demographic form. The inclusion criteria for this study included retired United States military veterans from the post-9/11 era who retired as enlisted personnel, warrant officers, or officers (DOD, 2017). Participants were combat or noncombat veterans retired from any service component (Active Duty, Reserves, or National Guard). Participants also were required to have a literacy level in the English language sufficient to understand the questionnaire. There were inclusion criteria screening questions at the beginning of the survey, and potential participants who did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded from the survey.

A correlational design was used in this study to determine the relationship between the dependent and independent variables (University of Connecticut, 2015). A correlational research survey allows a researcher to collect more detailed data in minimal time. Using online forms allows researchers to reach more survey respondents than traditional survey methods (Formplus, 2020; University of Connecticut, 2015). Correlational research is backward-looking because it only observes and measures recent historical relationships between variables. Even though correlational research does not account for cause and effect between variables, it helps researchers identify recurring statistical relationships connecting the variables in research (Formplus, 2020; University of Connecticut, 2015).

Limitations

The main barrier in this study was obtaining a large enough sample (n = 158) to meet the calculated statistical power desired for the study (Faul et al., 2009). Participants were recruited from various social media platforms and the Walden University participant pool. Veterans attend Walden University (2020b), so I recruited participants using the participant pool. I did not recruit from the VA (2020) due to restrictions involved in obtaining permission from government and military groups. I mainly recruited through online forums, which was a limitation of my study that may diminish the generalizability of the results; I was not accessing potential participants who did not have access to these online forums (Gelinas et al., 2017).

There is also a threat to external validity because eligible participants were limited to only veterans who served in the post-9/11 era who were previously active in the U.S. military and not those who served in other eras (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020). Another weakness of this quantitative study was the number of participants who could not participate. Only participants who had access to a computer and internet, those actively participating in veteran organizations on social media, and students from the Walden University (2020b) participant pool could participate.

Other limitations included issues that generally arise with survey designs. These include participants trying to please the researcher, lying to make themselves look better, or having false memories about the questions asked through the survey (DeFranzo, 2020).

Response bias is a cognitive bias that influences a participant's responses and may prevent those responses from being truthful or accurate (Tyson, 2020). Response bias can have an enormous impact on the validity of survey or questionnaire studies (DeFranzo, 2020).

Significance

The results of this study may be used by those who create and administer transition services to military veterans to improve and individualize the services they offer based on what variables the study may show are related to wellness. In addition, providing information about the differences in wellness between veterans who had different types of service experiences and are at different points in their transition could also help those who provide services better understand these differences. Understanding these things could help military service providers, veteran organizations, and other professionals supporting veterans be more responsive to the differences between transitioning veterans to help them have a more successful transition to civilian life and be more productive in their communities.

Summary

Military-to-civilian transitions can challenge veterans' wellness when the transition affects them personally, financially, and socially. The purpose of this correlational study was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS in military veterans. After separating from active

service, military veterans experience considerable life-changing challenges when reintegrating into civilian society. The way veterans adjust and manage their difficulties may depend on their demographic characteristics.

In this study, I only focused on veterans who served in the post-9/11 era, who had access to computers and the internet, who were members of veteran organizations on social media, or who were students at Walden University. The two research questions employed in this inquiry directed and measured the participants' life satisfaction and level of psychological distress using the GWBS. The results from the examination represent an important contribution to the field of study and aid military service providers and veteran organizations in providing a better understanding of how to address veterans' wellness needs based on their demographic characteristics.

Chapter 2 provides a comprehensive review of relevant literature that supports this study. The chapter includes a breakdown of MTT, the theory's development, and its relevance to the current study. In Chapter 2, I also review the demographics of the U.S. military, leaving the military, postmilitary separation support, veteran demographics, and wellness.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

After separation, military personnel experience challenges, including losing their military/career identity, military culture support, and purpose in life (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Researchers have found that the transition from military to civilian life can also be related to their ability to function, capabilities, and their overall wellness (Elnitsky et al., 2017; MacLean et al., 2014). These difficulties stem from a variety of factors at the time of separation, including changes in relationships, employment, social support networks, and personal and social identity (Ahern et al., 2015; Castro, 2018; Elnitsky et al., 2017; Keeling et al., 2018; MacLean et al., 2014). Some researchers have evaluated the psychological challenges that arise with the adjustment to a new environment and a different way of life (culture) and have found the psychological challenges postseparation include decreased mental health and self-stigma (Ahern et al., 2015; Bowe et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2018). When these issues are not appropriately addressed with the necessary interventions, veterans' overall well-being can decline (Bowe et al., 2017; Elnitsky et al., 2017).

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study of a cross-sectional nature was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS (Dupuy, 1977) in military veterans. In addition, I studied the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not while controlling for the number of years since discharge in order to determine how the type of service and the length of separation may be related to wellness for transitioning veterans. By having a better understanding of how these variables are related (and differences in some of the variables based on service type and length of separation), additional information can be provided to those who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to assist them in individualizing these programs based on veteran characteristics.

This chapter includes the literature search strategies used for this study. It includes the examination of the composition of U.S. military service members, their transitions, and issues associated with their separation from service. I also review recent studies on military transition, the findings, and gaps in the literature. Additionally, I evaluate several efforts used by the government and other entities to address the problem to aid successful transitions.

Literature Search Strategy

Literature was collected from peer-reviewed and scholarly literature published from 2014 to 2022. These materials were retrieved from different databases, such as Military and Government Collection, Psyc INFO, SocINDEX, APA PsycArticles, Academic Search Complete, ERIC, MEDLINE, SAGE Journal, Science Direct, EBSCO, Thoreau, and Google Scholar. I also reviewed the website of the Center for Innovation and Research on Veterans and Military Families and the International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies. The keywords used were *transition, readjustment, reintegration, military veterans, soldiers, armed forces, civilians, service members,* military personnel, well-being, wellness, adaptability, quality of life, military transition theory, veteran transition, combat injuries, military-to-civilian transition, transition policies, processes, program efforts, and psychology.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical framework used for this study was MTT. Service members become accustomed to different forms of transition throughout their military careers as part of their military obligations (Castro, 2018). Service members start their transition at basic training when they join the military; during their careers, they move every 2 to 3 years for their duty assignments or go for months of temporary duties to train for special assignments; and their final transition is when they separate from service (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). MTT asserts that even though military personnel are accustomed to changes when they are in service, separating from the service is a different kind of change that affects their health and well-being because it involves changing cultures (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The changes involved can be difficult for some veterans based on several factors, consequently impacting the outcome of their transition and their perceived wellness (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2016).

Castro and Kintzle (2014) developed MTT to gain insight into how service members develop their sense of belongingness, selfless service, and service to others during the lifetime of their military career. Military separation involves moving from military to civilian culture, similar to the experiences of immigrants who go from one culture to another and acculturate (Castro, 2018). Changes those who acculturate experience may include employment, language, housing, health care, community connections, a sense of purpose, belonging, and education (Castro, 2018). These changes are related to discomfort and stress. These feelings can increase when additional factors, such as type of discharge, combat history, mental and physical health issues, and the lack of personal preparedness are included (Carlos, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2016). This discomfort and stress could negatively impact the well-being of these individuals (Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2016). Because MTT was only developed within the last 6 years, researchers have primarily used the theory to explain topics such as military to civilian careers (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro et al., 2014; Keeling et al., 2017; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Whitworth et al., 2020), military to civilian education (Ford & Vignare, 2015), veterans' physical and mental health (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014; Chin & Zeber, 2020; Mobbs & Boanno, 2018; VA Office of Research & Development, 2021), postmilitary development (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014), and wellness of veterans (Castro, 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Mobbs & Boanno, 2018).

Components of MTT

MTT shows how military members and veterans approach, experience, and assess the overlapping phases of the transition (see Figure 1). MTT helps to understand the complexities of the transition process and what service members must undergo individually before and after service (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Pedlar et al., 2019). The theory also provides opportunities for transition support agencies to design programs and services to assist service members, especially in preparation, military identity issues, and leader support (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). When veterans are provided adequate support in these areas and others, it may aid their successful transition and overall wellness.

Figure 1

Military Transition Theory



Source: Adapted from "*The State of the American Military Veteran: The Los Angeles County Veterans Study*", by C. A. Castro, S. Kintzle, & A. Hassan, 2014. https://cir.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/USC010 CIRLAVetReport FPpgs.pdf.

Approaching the Military Transition

The first phase of MTT evaluates how military members approach transitions in their careers, such as entering the military, changing roles, changing duty stations, and leaving the military (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). MTT also considers military culture, personal, and other transitional factors. These factors determine the success of a transition (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The military-to-civilian transition is an individual journey that is different for each veteran. The process takes time, starting during military service and ending after separation, and creates vulnerabilities, challenges, and opportunities for growth (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The military transition requires a change in status, which can affect service members' well-being before separation, but these areas may be addressed with appropriate interventions during the transition process (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). However, preparedness is essential to a successful military-to-civilian transition (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014; 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Military/Cultural Factors. Key elements from military culture must be considered when approaching the transition process (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). These factors include military skills, military identity, and military discharge status (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Veterans may experience difficulty in translating their military skills, experiences, and qualifications into civilian roles (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Some veterans also assume that, based on their military qualifications and skills, they would have better remunerations and benefits than they did in the military (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Veterans sometimes find out that even with their education and skills, their military status does not give them priority over other applicants for nongovernment jobs (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Some veterans might even discover they are earning less than they were receiving in the military or that they need to start at an entry level because their military experience does not transfer (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014, 2016; Kintzle et al., 2015). Situations such as these may cause individuals to develop resentment, anger, and frustration, making the transition process more challenging (Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Cooper et al. (2018) used the concepts of habitus, capital, and field to explain the cultural differences between military and civilian lifestyles and how changing from one culture to the other impacts the lives of veterans (Cooper et al., 2018; Pedlar et al., 2019). For instance, the authors explained *habitus* as a practice subconsciously formed through regular social interactions and experiences in a particular environment (Cooper et al., 2018). The military, in this case, is the field with its own rules and regulations, an institution where its participants compete for recognition, status, and power (Cooper et al., 2018). Being participants in this institution (*field*) enables the people to accrue *capital* over time. Capital, in this case, can be in different forms, such as cultural, economic, social, and symbolic capital (Cooper et al., 2018). Thus, the concepts of habitus, field, and capital are closely connected and are related to one another (Cooper et al., 2018). Military structural values and the unquestioned behaviors of military personnel are different from those in civilian society. These factors also have profound effects on the successful transition of veterans. As a result, these behaviors must be readjusted for veterans to successfully navigate the challenging cultural differences between military and civilian life (Cooper et al., 2018).

Service members acquire their military identities through socialization when joining the military (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). In basic training, recruits are immersed in military culture, traditions, norms, and behaviors. Through these structural values, they are provided a different outlook, a sense of purpose and loyalty to their new family, and a belief in service before self (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). When veterans are separated from service, they leave an institution that has provided them with a sense of culture and community and has trained them in special skills to operate in special circumstances for various purposes (Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Zogas, 2017). MTT states that the socialization, special skills, and training acquired in the military give service members a purpose and an identity in a structured value-based institution they consider home (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018; Zogas, 2017). The theory explains how a veteran's military culture and experiences, loss of purpose and identity, and leaving the military impact their well-being and functionality as civilians (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Thus, MTT can be a tool to understand the uniqueness of military culture and to comprehend the disrupting points of military transitions and how it can either be an opportunity for growth or hinder a successful transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Personal Characteristics. Personal factors include efforts from the service members toward successfully completing their transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). These factors may include personal preparedness, expectations, and physical and mental health (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Researchers have shown that the more efforts service members put into these areas, the easier their transition is (Keeling et al., 2018; 2019; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).
The personal characteristics of veterans in terms of planning, preparation, and health are vital in transition. Researchers have shown that a lack of personal preparedness hinders successful transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2017; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015; Zogas, 2017). Veterans have provided many reasons for their lack of preparation, such as not being provided the time or opportunities to seek employment while still on duty before the transition (Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Other reasons include needing more time to think about what to do for the future, believing it will be easy to get a job once out of the service, or being more focused on the actual steps in the military separation process and not what happens after (Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2017; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015; Zogas, 2017).

Veterans' physical and mental health is also vital to a successful transition. Researchers have shown that many veterans leave the military with untreated physical and mental health issues they do not disclose during service to protect their careers or avoid stigmatization (Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2017, 2018; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). Unfortunately, untreated medical conditions, especially combat conditions such as posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and traumatic brain injury (TBI), prevent a veteran from being gainfully employed or involved in other activities (Castro & Kintzle, 2017, 2018; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). Unmet psychological needs can be problematic in the workplace, and some employers might resist the responsibility associated with an employee experiencing PTSD (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Likewise, in some cases, even though veterans might have the skills for employment, they may not be mentally and emotionally ready for employment (Kintzle et al., 2015). Nature of the Transition. The nature of the transition refers to how service members change duties, locations, or separate from service (Castro & Kintzle, 2016). Sometimes service members are prematurely separated from service for one reason or the other, and the military discharge status of a veteran may determine how well they transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). It may be due to injury and or disability, the end of the contractual period or other reasons considered an honorable discharge (Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Veterans who voluntarily separate after their tenure of service (20 years) or after the end of their term contracts will be more prepared for their separations than those involuntarily separated from service due to inappropriate conduct (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Predicted separation gives veterans time to plan and prepare for their lives after service (Kintzle & Castro, 2018), while unpredicted separations due to injuries or other forms of honorable discharge might not allow veterans to adequately prepare for the changes that await them post-service (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). When veterans are separated with a nonhonorable discharge status, it may prevent them from receiving various retirement benefits from the VA and the DOD, such as health care, education, housing, installation privileges, and other retirement benefits from the military (VA, 2015). It may also reduce their chances of beneficial employment opportunities from potential employers in the community (Kintzle et al., 2015). Potential employers might view their less than honorable discharge status as evidence of a negative character reference irrespective of their other accomplishments in service (Castro & Kintzle, 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015).

Managing the Transition

The second phase of MTT explains the management of the transition. Service members experience different transitions, such as entering the military, changing duty stations, going for different tours of duty, and leaving the military (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The most challenging of all these transitions is separating from active service to become civilians (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro, 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Separating from the military is a monumental change in the life of veterans (Castro, 2018; Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Because the changes for military-to-civilian are multi-faceted, this transition requires changes in multiple areas of life (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro, 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Thus, it requires identity readjustment to renegotiate the structural values embedded in military members at enrollment to adapt to the new cultural change, and it requires the coordinated efforts of various entities (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro, 2014; Castro, 2018; Cooper et al., 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The management of the transition phase includes military transition management, individual adjustment factors, social support, community, and civilian transition support services.

Military Transition Management. The way that the military helps communicate the upcoming transition information to the individual and the resources provided by the military can be related to how well a transition goes (Kintzle & Castro,2018). It is also how service members navigate the resources provided to support their separation (Castro & Kintzle, 2016). These resources include supervisor support, transition assistance programs, career planning, job search, and financial management (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Supervisors are required to provide time for the service members to attend career planning workshops, financial management classes, transition assistance programs, search for jobs, and job interviews to prepare for the transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). However, sometimes the mission-at-hand dictates the time allowed for these activities, and the individual may not be able to spend as much time on these activities as they would want (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). While some service members are provided adequate time to prepare for their separation, others may not be given enough time to prepare and secure the necessary things for their transition, such as employment, housing, and others (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

The different branches of the Armed Forces provide transition assistance programs to service members where they can search for jobs, build their resumes, and translate their military skills (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Through transition assistance programs, military members are also encouraged to have a career plan which they can implement during their transition process (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Service members are encouraged to meet with financial counselors to help them develop a plan or budget for their financial management after separation when they no longer receive the military's the generous salary and benefits (Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Individual Adjustment Factors. Individual adjustment factors refer to how veterans accept the changes they are experiencing and adjust to their new reality (Kintzle

& Castro, 2018). It is based on an individual's coping skills, attitude, and beliefs. Military separation involves changing cultures, moving from the military to civilian culture, and dealing with new norms and ethics. It requires a sort of immigration and acculturation (Castro, 2018). It results in changes in what is held to be important in employment, language/terminology used, housing, health care, community connections, a sense of purpose, a sense of belonging, and education (Castro, 2018). For example, some veterans have reported difficulties overcoming the cultural divide between the military and civilian work environment (employment) due to readjustment difficulties, communication variances, and different work ethics (Castro & Kintzle, 2016; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Some of these issues have affected the attitude of veterans going through their transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Keeling et al., 2018). In some situations, veterans must start over with entry-level jobs due to mismatched abilities when veterans cannot translate their military skills to civilian terms (Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). They become frustrated when they are frequently rejected for employment due to their lack of civilian work experience (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Keeling et al., 2018). All the changes may affect veterans' attitudes and their wellness in achieving a successful transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Keeling et al., 2018). These changes can result in stress for the individual (Carlos, 2018; Carlos & Kintzle, 2016). Personal characteristics could magnify the changes and could ultimately be related to how well they cope when adjusting to the changes happening around them (Carlos & Kintzle, 2014; Carlos & Kintzle, 2016).

Social Support. Veterans consider social support to be an essential part of their transition. MDTT explains that one of the disruptions points and opportunities for growth is the change in social support networks (Castro, 2018). Military service provides servicemembers more than just employment and good benefits; it also provides a safe environment to raise their families, a chance to continue the family tradition and patriotism, and opportunities to travel and experience new cultures (Castro, 2018). Sadly, the positive aspect of military service does not continue when military personnel becomes civilians. Researchers have shown that veterans expect their service to be honored not only by DoD but also by VA and other entities that support military transition (Ahern et al., 2015; Castro, 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). However, in some situations, veterans experience unsupportive situations before separation and afterward (Ahern et al., 2015). Veterans have considered being allowed to receive the necessary resources available for their transition before they are separated from service helpful towards their transition (Ahern et al., 2015; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Researchers also found that when mental health problems are correctly diagnosed and treated before separation, it helps community care providers to manage veterans' care better, and veterans are more ready for their transition (Ahern et al., 2015; Castro, 2018; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Flexible community institutions also play a crucial role in the seamless transition of veterans regarding how they accommodate military certifications and provisions (Ahren et al., 2015; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Adequate social support for transitioning veterans reduces the feeling of alienation they feel in their new environment (Ahern et al., 2015).

Community/Civilian Transition Support. Once individuals complete their discharge, they may continue to receive some support and services from the military. The success of their transition also depends on how well they connect with community/civilian transition supports. Community transition assistance is the support given to veterans to ensure their seamless reintegration back into society. Veterans are introduced to some of these organizations during their out-processing briefings prior to separation. Service members are provided information on the various local veteran organizations and the services they render. Local organizations such as Veterans Inc., Soldiers' Angels, Volunteers of America, and others, provide various services, which can include support groups, job training, clothing, including a Dress for Success Program, transportation services, housing counseling services, pro bono legal assistance, fiduciary and payee services, and others to assist local veterans (Veterans Inc, 2020). The availability of these programs and services to support, train, and employ veterans is key to a successful transition and future well-being (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Communities with an extensive system of supportive services help veterans translate their military skills and experiences to civilian terms. They help with interview skills and connect veterans with viable employment opportunities (Castro & Kintzle, 2014, 2018). These efforts provide veterans a key to their future and help them to believe there can be new life after the military. It may give them hope and a positive outlook and enhances their well-being to look forward to a brighter future.

Assessing the Transition

Being able to assess how well the transition went is the final phase of MTT. In this phase, veterans' successful transition is measured in terms of outcomes. These outcomes are based on how veterans had effectively managed the challenges they encountered when they moved from the military to a civilian lifestyle (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). They are evaluated in terms of employment or other activities, language, housing, health care, community connections, a sense of purpose, belonging, education, and others (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). In some situations, the outcomes are based on the veterans' perspectives on how well they were willing to "fight" to overcome all the odds and achieve the impossible in their new life (Blackburn, 2016; Pedlar et al., 2019).

Work. From the veterans' perspective, a successful military transition involves having meaningful employment or engaging in productive activities (Castro, 2018; Kneeling et al., 2018). Even though being employed is an essential aspect of transition, and it affords financial compensation, it also helps with the psychological well-being of veterans because it provides them status, social contact, common goals, and activities (Castro, 2018; Kneeling et al., 2018: Kintzle, 2015). Researchers have found that most service members do not move directly to civilian employment when discharged because the veterans choose to wait until after their separation to start looking for employment (Keeling et al., 2018: Kintzle & Castro, 2018). The VA (2015) indicated that 53% of transitioning service members experience unemployment after leaving the military. Even though veterans measure successful transition by a seamless transition to the civilian

workplace, society measures the success of veterans by how they manage and retain employment because even if they are successful in securing employment immediately after separation, they may later struggle to maintain their jobs (Castro et al., 2014; Keeling et al., 2018).

Family. How veterans reacclimate to family life and adjust to family roles, routines, and responsibilities also determine the success of their transition, and it is evaluated by the family (Elnitsky et al., 2017; Kintzle & Castro, 2016). Military duties such as temporary duties for training, field exercises, deployments, and others, take service members away from home for weeks, months, or years (Castro, 2018). These absences change the family dynamics, and roles are reversed, but they are temporary, unlike separation (Elnitsky et al., 2017). Upon discharge from their military obligations, veterans find readjusting to family life difficult because they have to renegotiate their position in the family, and it sometimes creates marital discord (Castro, 2018). Building strong relationships with family and friends also takes time and effort. Veterans who are willing to reacquaint themselves with their families have successful outcomes, and others who are unwilling to put in the effort are permanently separated from their families.

Health. Physical and psychological health problems can hinder veterans' successful transition, especially if they are not correctly diagnosed and managed based on the perspective of the veterans (Castro et al., 2014; Keeling et al., 2018). Veterans who have been appropriately diagnosed and treated for their health problems find and maintain employment to support their families (Castro et al., 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018). On the other hand, veterans with unaddressed health problems lack the motivation

to keep their jobs or be successful in employment (Castro et al., 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

General Well-Being. The general wellness of the veteran is also evaluated based on their outlook. Because the military transition is an individual journey involving changes in multiple areas of veterans' lives, veterans can find the adjustment difficult (Kintzle & Carlos, 2016; Pedlar et al., 2019). Nonetheless, the changes may provide veterans with opportunities for growth and development as they adjust to their new realities (Pedlar et al., 2019). Veterans that readily adjust to all the changes successfully may be more content with their efforts and more easily become productive members of society (Pedlar et al., 2019). Those that do not accept these changes are often unable to relate with civilians are not comfortable around civilians, and they continue with their military identity (Pedlar et al., 2019).

Community. Communities with structured veteran support services can make it easier for veterans to integrate quickly through a peer-to-peer approach and other reorientation programs and services (Castro et al., 2014). Veterans are encouraged to build new social networks and connection with civilians (Castro et al., 2014; Castro & Kintzle, 2016). These programs can help veterans successfully move forward toward better opportunities in their community (Castro & Kintzle, 2016). Veterans with strong personal and military identities who refuse to engage in the community may find it difficult to successfully adjust to civilian life and culture (Castro et al., 2014).

Military Transition Theory and Demographics

Military Transitions and Gender

Regardless of gender, MTT contends that transitions are naturally stressful because of the changes involved in career, relationships, social support networks, and the challenge to the individual's personal and social identity (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Previously, transitional changes had only been examined from the male veterans' perspective since there was no distinction of gender before the post-9/11 era (Borsai et al., 2017). However, the post-9/11 era brought about a change in the demographics of service members and veterans (Borsai et al., 2017). The period experienced an influx of more women, a younger generation, and a more racially diverse population in service (VA, 2018a). The repeal of the ban on women serving in direct combat also allowed many women to engage in combat and combat-related occupations in the wars in Afghanistan and Iraq (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015).

Today's research goes beyond the general focus on male veterans' health-related and socio-economic issues (Eichler, 2017). Instead, it is gender-specific, as researchers gather relevant information on the plights and lived experiences of the different sexes (Eichler, 2017). For instance, Burkhart & Hogan (2015) identified the stressors experienced by female veterans before and after their transition. Their findings revealed how the military and civilian worlds' different psychological and social rules inhibit effective transition (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015). Their study also highlights the measures female veterans used in coping with their post-military challenges (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015). Prokos and Cabage (2017) studied the employability of disabled female post-2001 era veterans compared to male veterans and female non-veterans. The authors found that Post 9/11, female veterans are more likely than male veterans to have a service-related disability, which influences their employment status (Prokos & Cabage, 2017). Heitzman and Somers (2015) added that despite the challenges experienced by female veterans and their responsibilities as parents, they are committed to completing their degrees and are persistent in their focus on their goals.

Due to the changing times and shift in focus, researchers have found that the challenges experienced by female veterans during their transition are different from those of the male veterans (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Dichter & True, 2015; Mitta, 2019; National Veterans Foundation, 2017). Mitta (2019) and Villagran et al., 2015 explained that most transition support services are geared toward male veterans, and there is less training specifically for females related to social and psychological transitions (Mittal, 2019; Villagran et al., 2015).

There is also a greater need for female peer support specialists and natural peer networks to assist the veteran female population (Goldstein et al., 2018; Mittal, 2019). For example, Veterans of Foreign Wars (VFW) reported that despite a 150 percent increase in female veterans from 2013 to 2017, there is not enough gender-specific care and services for women veterans (VFW, 2019). Congress is reluctant to pass legislation to expand programs for female veterans, as was evidenced in the 115th Congress, where none of the legislation passed into law addressed the needs of female veterans (VFW, 2019). According to the veterans' organization, peer and gender-based one-on-one assistance programs have been found invaluable to veterans (VFW, 2019). The interaction offers support, understanding, and trust from those with whom they can relate and connect (VFW, 2019).

Researchers also discovered that female veterans have unique circumstances and needs than their male counterparts during the military transition, especially single parents (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Mittal, 2019). For example, the disabled American veterans (DAV) reported that female veterans are often younger and more racially and ethnically diverse. They are also more likely to be divorced and the primary caregiver for their children (DAV, 2018). Unlike male veterans, most females are also less likely to be married, and those in relationships are five times more likely to be in a dual-service-member marriage than male veterans (DAV, 2018). Consequently, female veterans may not have a strong family support system as veterans upon transition. DAV (2018) and Nieves (2020) also explained that 67% of women veterans tend to have greater economic stress and difficult financial transition after service than 47% of men veterans.

In addition, male veterans also have unique circumstances that inhibit their progressive and positive readjustment towards a productive future as veterans (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020; Zogas, 2017). For example, men have more difficulty accepting their change in status as civilians in terms of their sense of identity, self-worth, and purpose (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020). Male veterans often struggle with starting over in society without the authority and respect afforded by military ranks and other life achievements accrued in the military (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020; Zogas, 2017). Combat veterans might also struggle with their personal and professional growth as veterans due to the psychological effects of traumatic experiences (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020). Being depressed, suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder or traumatic brain injury, or having survival guilt sometimes affects their overall transition and how they successfully readjust to their new lives in the community and as productive veterans in society (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020).

Military Transition and Age

Kintzle et al. (2015) studied the economic and employment challenges and revealed that the needs of younger veterans and older veterans are different during transition. The authors identified differences in the transitional needs of the young and old veterans in certain areas, such as job skills, the severity of health problems, and the military (Kintzle et al., 2015). For example, according to Kintzle et al. (2015), older veterans are reported to have outdated skills, have difficulty using technology, and are not interested in social media trends. On the other hand, younger veterans are more likely to have unaddressed mental health problems and are unwilling to seek help (Kintzle et al., 2018). Also, in terms of leaving their military identity and acculturating to civilian identity, older veterans continue to see themselves through their military identity even as civilians (Atuel & Castro, 2018; Cooper et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). Their actions, behaviors, and relations with others still reflect their military training and experiences (Atuel & Castro, 2018; Cooper et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). These factors were identified as determinants impacting veterans' readjustment during their transition. Kypraiou et al. (2017) alluded that the older veterans struggle during their retirement, no matter how much they prepare for it because it is often difficult for them to accept that their military career is over. Some of them mourn the loss of their working life, while others live in denial of what they are experiencing (Kypraiou et al., 2017). Kypraiou et al. added that younger veterans who had to leave prematurely or involuntarily are affected mentally by the unpredicted separation. Post-military life is also difficult for the younger veterans due to the untimely discharge they experience, which sometimes leads to a feeling of depression, stress, and anxiety (Manty et al., 2016; Kypraiou et al., 2017). Citroen (2018) mentioned that all veterans, feel a great loss when they leave the military, no matter their age. They feel like aliens and are uncomfortable in their new culture and community.

Nonetheless, regardless of age, the psychological impact of transition can be problematic for all veterans due to the disconnection from the force, the identity complications, and the feeling of loss. (Ainspan et al., 2018; Binks & Cambridge, 2018; Bowes et al., 2018; Gettings et al., 2019) Some authors have found that while older veterans might not fully adjust to the change, younger veterans are more vulnerable due to their psychological health problems (Ainspan et al., 2018; Binks & Cambridge, 2019; Bowes et al., 2018; Gettings et al., 2019). Thus, for veterans to have a successful transition, the DoD and the VA must carefully consider these barriers when creating transition support services and programs (Kintzle et al., 2015).

Military Transition and Combat Experience Status

Sometimes the successful transition of a service member depends on their activities during service (Cooper et al., 2018; Gettings et al., 2019). Some military personnel can spend their whole career without deployments to a dangerous zone or being involved in active combat. In contrast, others with less time in service would have gone through multiple deployments (Parker et al., 2019). Those veterans exposed to combat have been found to bear the physical or emotional scars of battle due to their traumatic and distressing experiences (Parker et al., 2019).

According to a Government Accountability Office report (2017b), 62% of the 91,764 discharged between 2011 and 2015 were diagnosed with posttraumatic stress disorder, traumatic brain injury, and other mental health conditions about two years before their separation for misconduct. This characterization of service prevents them from receiving VA health care and other services to address their conditions, but it also stigmatizes them among their peers and leads to discrimination in how they are treated in society (Gang, 2017; Scapardine, 2017). Transitioning veterans must receive appropriate services during their reintegration back into society, especially if they have experienced traumatic events during their service to enhance their wellness and successful transition outcomes (Elnitsky et al., 2017; Markowitz et al., 2019) because failure to do so results in the downward trajectory of both the personal and professional lives of such veterans (Gang, 2017; Scapardine, 2017; Tsai et al., 2018). For example, researchers explained that after combat exposure, veterans are more venerable to mental health problems associated with post-traumatic stress disorder, traumatic brain injury, anxiety disorder,

depression, lower quality of life, alcohol misuse, and other traumatic issues (Bowes et al., 2017; Elnitsky et al., 2017; Markowitz et al., 2019, Vogt et al., 2017). These traumatic conditions sometimes require veterans to rebuild their sense of world, self, and competence to fully adjust to civilian life (Elnitsky et al., 2017).

Seamone et al. (2018) explained that undiagnosed and untreated mental health problems during service increase the risk of adverse behavior and mental health negative outcomes post-service, especially for veterans who received non-honorable discharges due to behavioral and personality changes (Gang, 2017). Brignone et al. (2017) reported that non-honorable discharge status severely affects veterans, and it sharply increases suicide risk and substance abuse. Reger et al. (2015) stated that separation from service is a more definite indicator of suicide among veterans with non-honorable discharges and those with less than four years of service among combat and non-combat veterans.

Combat veterans require mental health care during and after their transition, but they do not seek the services they need even though the frequency among war veterans is somewhat high (Ashley & Brown, 2015; Bowes et al., 2017). Bowes et al. (2017) mentioned that veterans in the United Kingdom seek support from informal sources familiar to them rather than professional help. Ashley and Brown (2015) explained that the attitudes and beliefs that prevent service members/veterans from getting help conform to the military culture.

Military norms exemplify the "real soldiers," and the culture favors war heroes with honor and respect (Ashley & Brown, 2015; Gettings et al., 2019). Ashley and Brown reported that post-military combat veterans are regarded by their peers as the elite because their combat status makes the war heroes more masculine, and they are considered the preferred (Ashley & Brown, 2015). Ashley and Brown also explained that the status of combat elitism follows them from active duty through their veteran lives. It is a form of badge of honor they wear for the rest of their lives. Due to this status, most of them did not seek help because of the stigma it would bring, to be considered weak or inadequate by their fellow veterans and society (Ashley & Brown, 2015; Bowes et al., 2017; Kime, 2015). Combat injuries can also result in family and occupational problems that hinder readjustment and reintegration for veterans during their transition (Elitsky et al., 2017; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Markowitz et al., 2019). Family and occupational problems may arise because of the difficulty finding work or the severity of the combat injuries, thus changing the family dynamics and impeding successful transition (Keeling et al., 2018; Markowitz et al., 2019).

Non-combat veterans also have issues that inhibit their successful transition, such as their experience as service members and the psychological impact of leaving the military (Blackburn, 2016; Hodson & McFarlane, 2016). For instance, the military lifestyle involves intense physical activities that could be detrimental to the health and well-being of veterans after service (Fullwood, 2015; Warren et al., 2015). Also, the profound differences between civilian and military lifestyles can be an issue during veterans' transition to civilian life (Oster et al., 2017).

Military Transition and Rank at Discharge/Number of Years Served

When joining the military, individuals with high school diplomas or equivalent can enlist to be non-commission officers, while those with bachelor's degrees or higher are commissioned as officers (Redmond et al., 2015). The rank of service members determines their position, level of authority, and pay. A person's rank at discharge may also have given them access to more information that they could use to understand the transition process (Redmond et al., 2015). Morin (2011) contended that the rank at discharge, education level, and an understanding of the mission could most likely predict how veterans readjust to civilian life. The author explained that 85% of commissioned officers, instead of 74% of enlisted personnel, claimed that they understood their missions during service. It somewhat helped with their transition and readjusting to civilian life (Morin, 2011; Parker et al., 2019).

The number of years an individual served in the military may also determine how they adapt to changes in culture when they must change careers or become community members (Atuel & Castro, 2018). The more years military personnel spend in service, the stronger their personal and military identities and the more difficult their reorientation and readjustment to civilian life and culture can be (Atuel & Castro, 2018; Castro et al., 2014; Elnitsky et al., 2017; Keeling, 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). Atuel & Castro (2018) asserted that military training and culture transform individuals into warriors. The training further infuses their military identity, created in a group context (Atuel & Castro, 2018).

Elnitsky et al. (2017) emphasized that military culture gives service members a sense of identity and values, and members are emotionally invested in their unit (Heitkamp, 2019). Romaniuk and Kidd (2018) stated that military acculturation remodels members' appearance, behaviors, and thoughts. The authors emphasized that the collective social structure of the culture gives members clarity, a sense of direction, support, and a sense of responsibility and support (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Some authors explained that it is difficult for veterans after separation to cope when they are introduced to an unstructured and unsupportive culture (Ahren et al., 2015; Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Elliot et al., 2016; Jones, 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018).

In addition, military missions seclude service members from their families and friends (Elliot et al., 2016). Elnitsky et al. (2017) explained that when service members go on deployments or other long tours, upon their return, they feel disconnected from their families and friends but feel a great sense of purpose for the obligations. The same happens when they are separated from service (Ahern et al., 2015; Elnitsky et al., 2017). Veterans feel a sense of disconnection and disorientation due to their time in service (Elnitsky et al., 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). They struggle against the tensions between their military identity and the new civilian identity as they experience reverse culture shock (Elnitsky et al., 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018).

When veterans leave the military, they feel a sense of loss; of culture, community, and purpose regardless of their nationality (Binks & Cambridge, 2017). In the study of the transition experiences of British military veterans, Binks and Cambridge (2017) found that the military had indoctrinated veterans to group norms that are different from the way of life of civilians, and these differences cause problems after separation. Ahern et al. (2015) and Elliot et al. (2017) explained that leaving a structured military culture that provides safety and comfort can be difficult for veterans who expect to receive the same benefits after service but only to find a less structured community with unsupportive

institutions. In such situations, Ahern et al. and Romaniuk and Kidd (2018) reported that veterans are frustrated and angry. They are disappointed because their new civilian life lacks the meaning and purpose the military gave them (Ahern et al., 2015: Romaniuk and Kidd, 2018). Consequently, veterans lose their drive to go above and beyond the call of duty as they did in the military (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018).

Thus, the longer military members are in service, the deeper their orientation and outlook (Atuel & Castro, 2018). Veterans who joined the military at an early age (between 17 and 19 years) and spent 20 years or more in service will have a strong military identity than someone who served for four to six years and left the force (Atuel & Castro, 2018). Career veterans spent most of their adult life in the force; therefore, their worldview would be based on their experiences before and during military service (Atuel & Castro, 2018; Castro et al., 2014; Elnitsky et al., 2017; Keeling, 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). Veterans may struggle in the workplace because they are less equipped to deal with the culture and traditions of the civilian work environment (Castro et al., 2014; Keeling, 2018).

Literature Review

In the following sections, I describe the personnel demographics of the U.S. military, military discharges, and post-military supports provided by both the government and the community. I explain wellness, its importance to people, and how wellness changes with different life transitions. I also present what previous researchers have found regarding the differences in wellness between different demographic groups.

Demographics of the U. S. Military

Acceptance into the roles of the United States Armed Forces is determined by the Department of Defense, service policies, and recruitment strategies (National Academies of Sciences, 2019). Applicants must be deemed physically and mentally fit to be accepted due to the profession's strenuous demands (National Academies of Sciences, 2019). After the attack on the nation on September 11, 2001, the Armed Forces experienced a substantial increase in the number of young men and women voluntarily joining the military to support the global war on terrorism and participate in the armed conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan. DOD (2018) reported over that 1.3 million active-duty service members serving in the U.S. Armed Forces, Army, Navy, Marine Corps, and Air Force. Table 1 summarizes some of the major demographics in the U.S. military. As can be seen, most individuals are in the Army (37.2%), male (83.5%), enlisted (82.3%), and do not have a college degree (80.7%) (DOD, 2018).

Table 1

Category	Number of personnel	Percent of personnel
Army	471,990	37.2
Navy	325,395	24.9
Marines	185,415	14.2
Air Force	321,618	23.7
Male	1,088,584	83.5
Female	215,834	16.5
White	687,700	52.9
Black/African American, Asian,	403,000	31.0
American Indian, Pacific Islander		
Hispanic or Latino	209,300	16.1
Enlisted active	1,073,394	82.3
Enlisted no college degree	866,229	80.7
Officers active	231,024	17.7
Bachelor's degree		43.5
Graduate degree		41.3

Personnel Demographics of the U.S. Armed Forces

Leaving the Military (Discharge)

According to the DOD (2014), an estimated 200,000 active-duty service members separate from duty each year from the Armed Forces. Based on this number, approximately 1,300 new veterans and family members return to civilian communities daily (DOD, 2014). Table 2 contains the number of service members separated from service between 2010 to 2013 from different states and installations.

Table 2

State	Base installation	Number of personnel
Texas		63,774
	Fort Hood	31,633
	Fort Bliss	15,106
	Lackland AFB	12,801
	Fort Sam Houston	4,234
California		62,314
	Camp Pendleton	32,341
	San Diego Naval Sta.	12,038
	29 Palms MC Air/GRD CMBT CTR	7,615
	MCAS Miramar	6,086
	North Island NAS	4,234
North Carolina		61,820
	Camp Lejeune MCB	32,629
	Fort Bragg	23,175
	Cherry Point MCAS	6,016
Virginia	-	31,408
-	Norfolk Naval Base	24,750
	MCCDC Quantico VA	6,658

Military Separations By State and Installation, 2010–2013

Before a discharge status is assigned, certain factors must be considered (Department of Defense Instruction [DODI], 2019). The service member's quality of service, conduct in the civilian community, and discharge reasons are evaluated. Other considerations include their age, time in service, grade, physical and mental conditions, and how well they met the acceptable standard of operation (DODI, 2019). There are four main categories of separation from the military:

- Separation with a characterization of service as honorable, general (under honorable conditions), or under other than honorable conditions.
- Entry-level separation.

- Order of release from the custody and control of the Military Services because of void enlistment or induction.
- Separation by being dropped from the rolls of the Military Service. (DODI, 2019).

Honorable

Service members are characterized as honorable when they have met the standard of operation with meritorious performance (DODI, 2019). They are provided a discharge certificate and a certificate of release with their honorable award at separation (DODI, 2019). The documentation of this discharge status also details their achievements, training, and completed tours of duty.

General Under Honorable Conditions

The general characterization is awarded when service members' negative conduct or performance outweighs their positive attributes but when they remain honest and faithful (DODI, 2019). It would be noted in their discharge certificate and certificate of release at separation (DODI, 2019).

Other Than Honorable Conditions

Other than honorable conditions (OTH) is awarded when a service member's conduct is not considered appropriate behavior expected from a military member (DODI, 2019). It could be a pattern of behavior, one or two acts, or omissions that show a total disregard for their position. Unacceptable behaviors that can warrant an OTH award include violent acts that result in bodily injury or death, abuse of a unique position of trust, disregard for the authority of the chain of command, and others (DODI, 2019). The OTH status carries a negative social stigma, limits post-military opportunities, and

prevents recipients from receiving any form of civilian employment with the military (Scapardine, 2017).

Bad Conduct

It is generally the discharge status of someone repeatedly convicted of minor offenses and must be discharged from service due to them (DODI, 2019). This status is a more severe punishment for bad conduct, but it is better than a dishonorable discharge in terms of its potential post-military ramifications (DODI, 2019). It is also only awarded to non-commissioned officers and declared by a general or special court-martial (DODI, 2019).

Dishonorable

A dishonorable discharge is a punitive charge declared by a general court-martial. Dishonorable status is awarded to members of the military who have been found guilty in civil jurisdictions or guilty of grievous offenses of a military nature (DODI, 2019). It is awarded due to the dishonor the service members brought to their position and office as military members (DODI, 2019). The status only applies to noncommissioned officers and warrant officers who have been found guilty of any offense (DODI, 2019). Veterans who were released from the military with this type of discharge lose all veteran's benefits irrespective of their past honorable service (DODI, 2019). These veterans also lose their right to vote or receive government assistance in terms of loans and grants, government-level employment or finding other forms of employment due to the nature of their certificate of discharge (DODI, 2019).

Dismissal

A dismissal status is equivalent to the dishonorable discharge award to noncommissioned officers due to severe offenses (DODI, 2019; Mouta-Ali & Panangala, 2015). Dismissal is only awarded to commissioned officers, commissioned warrant officers, cadets, and midshipmen if they have been found guilty of serious offenses (DODI, 2019). It may also be adjudicated by a general court-martial (DODI, 2019, Mouta-Ali & Panangala, 2015)

Postmilitary Separation Support

For transitioning veterans to have successful outcomes post-service, the coordinated efforts of different entities are required to enhance a positive transition and an effective cultural adaptation (Bowes et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2018). Cooper et al. (2018) states that these entities include military institutions, government, local communities, and businesses. Blackburn (2016) and Truusa and Castro (2019) explained that these different organizations have different roles in transitioning service members to veterans. For example, because service members need time and support to have a successful transition, the role of the military institutions is to provide adequate time for them to prepare for their separation. Governments and local communities also play a vital role in meeting the needs of veterans by providing essential programs and services in terms of education, employment, housing, medical care, and other support (Blackburn, 2016; Truusa & Castro, 2019).

Government Postmilitary Separation Supports

When military veterans are separated from service, they may experience transition challenges such as unemployment, homelessness, and physical and mental health issues that may negatively affect their transition to civilian life (Government Accountability Office [GAO], 2020). DOD, the VA, and other federal agencies (through their coordinated efforts) provide benefits and services to try to ensure a smooth military to civilian transition for veterans (GAO, 2020). Before separating from the military, service members are mandated to participate in the three required courses in the Transition Assistance Program (TAP) to achieve their Career Readiness Standard (CRS; GAO, 2017b). The first course is a counseling to create their Individual Transition Plan; the second is the VA Benefits briefings I and II, and the third is the Department of Labor employment workshop (GAO, 2017b). Service members who do not meet these standards are referred to partner agencies such as the Department of Labor and the VA for additional services (GAO, 2017b).

Transition Assistant Program

DOD administers the transition assistant program (TAP) in collaboration with various agencies, which include the VA, Education (ED), Department of Labor (DOL), Homeland Security (DHS), Small Business Administration (SMA), and Office of Personnel Management (OPM) (GAO, 2019b). Centers are available at major installations with full mission support with facilities and resources (GAO, 2019b). The program provides mandatory counseling, employment assistance, veterans' benefits awareness, and other family support services to transitioning service members. The services provided are tailored to each location based on local resources and needs (GAO, 2019b). Military members are provided different options for accessing services and receiving assistance, such as individual meetings with staff members, via telephone or online services (GAO, 2019b).

Additional Programs and Services

Apart from TAP, the federal government provides other federal programs and tax expenditures to support military personnel, veterans, and their families. These programs are administered by several agencies that assist with the military to civilian transition. In January 2019, the GAO (2019a) report identified 45 federal programs and one tax expenditure that supports service members, veterans, and their families by providing education, employment, or self-employment services. Some of these programs are offered through the collaboration of two or more agencies, while others are administered individually (GAO, 2019a). For instance, the All-Volunteer Educational Assistance-Selected Reserve program is jointly offered by DOD, VA, and DHS (GAO, 2019a).

Veterans Administration and Governmental Supports

In order for service members to be eligible for post-service supports, services, and benefits from the Department of Veterans Affairs and the federal government, they must be separated from service with favorable status, which includes honorable, under honorable conditions, and general discharge (VA, 2015). The VA not only considers the characterization of discharge but also evaluates service members' active service and length-of-service in determining eligibility for benefits (VA, 2015). For service members given OTH or bad conduct discharge, the VA conducts a formal character of service determination based on the length of service to determine if they should receive support as veterans (VA, 2015). Types of support the VA provides include career or employment support, education benefit, housing assistance, health care, and mental health services.

Career/employment supports. Both service members and veterans are eligible to receive education and career counseling benefits (VA Chapter 36, 2020c). Active-duty members in their transition process pending their discharge and those separated within 365 days are eligible for this benefit (VA, 2020c). Other eligible veterans qualify for education assistance or are already receiving VA education benefits. The program aims to guide veterans in determining the appropriate civilian or military jobs for them (VA, 2020c). Another benefit of the program is that it helps veterans find training programs or jobs suitable for their skill sets (VA, 2020c). Also, veterans receive academic and adjustment counseling support through the program to address issues that hinder successful transition outcomes (VA, 2020c).

Chapter 31 (or the former Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment Program) assists service members and veterans with employment options and training need post-transition (VA, 2020h). The program offers support and services in learning new skills, finding employment, and providing business opportunities (VA, 2020h). The program also assists the family members of veterans with a service-connected disability that hinders their employability (VA, 2020h).

Education Benefits. Education and training benefits are provided through the GI Bill benefits, which are called the Montgomery GI Bill for Active-Duty members (MGIB-AD) and the Montgomery GI Bill for Selected Reserve members (MGIB-SR) (VA, 2020a; 2020d). The MGIB-AD is for those who served on active duty for at least two years and were honorably discharged, while MGIB-SR is meant for those who served in the reserved components of the armed forces and the Air National Guard and the Army National Guard (VA, 2020d). This education support has been provided to eligible veterans and their family members since 1944 to pay for college, graduate school, and other training programs (VA, 2020a).

Veterans who served on active duty after September 10, 2001, are eligible for the post-9/11 GI Bill (VA, 2020a). When veterans decide not to use their education benefits, these unused Post-9/11 GI Bill benefits can be transferred to their spouses or children. (VA, 2020a). The GI Bill education assistance program was set up to assist service members, veterans, and their family members with appropriate education and training to succeed in their civilian communities and be productive members of society (VA, 2020c).

Housing Assistance. The VA provides housing assistance to support service members transitioning to civilian communities (VA, 2020g). The VA home loan program helps veterans who want to buy their own homes, build, or improve their homes (VA, 2020g). This assistance is provided through a VA direct loan or three VA-backed loans (VA, 2020g).

When veterans use the VA direct home loan, they work directly with the VA to apply and manage the loan because the VA serves as the mortgage lender (VA, 2020g). On the other hand, the VA-backed home loan allows the VA to guarantee the loan for the private lender, allowing the veterans to be given the loan under better terms (VA, 2020g). In most cases, the VA guarantee that home loans are given to veterans without down payments (VA, 2020g).

Health support. The VA must provide inpatient and outpatient care, mental health care, long-term care, and community health care when needed (VA, 2020b; USA GOV, 2020). The care and services are needed to promote, preserve, and restore the health of military veterans after their tour of duty (VA, 2020b, MilitaryOne Source, 2019). Based on the generally accepted standards of clinical practice, VA health care providers offer treatments, procedures, supplies, or services to eligible veterans (VA, 2020b; Military.Com, 2020).

Health Care. Active-duty service members can receive VA health care services after receiving their separation or retirement orders (VA, 2020b). Their eligibility for this benefit and other health care services is based on their service history and other factors (VA, 2020b). Post-9/11combat veterans who served in Iraq and Afghanistan in support of the war on terrorism are provided VA health care for up to five years after their separation for any conditions relating to the combat deployment (VA, 2020b). This enhanced eligibility period is only offered to combat veterans of Operation Enduring Freedom, Operation Iraqi Freedom, or Operation New Dawn (VA, 2020b).

The eligibility of other veterans who separates from service at the end of their contracts is based on their service history, VA disability rating, income, and other factors (VA, 2020b). On the other hand, veterans who are retired from service are eligible to receive both the Department of Defense's TRICARE program, which, they have during their active duty, and VA health care (VA, 2020b). Service members who were medically

discharged from active duty for service-connected disabilities who received a 30% or more disability rating from the DoD are eligible for both the TRICARE program and VA health care (VA, 2020b).

Mental Health Services. Regardless of discharge status, service history, or veterans' eligibility for VA health care, free mental health care is now offered for a year post-separation to all veterans (VA, 2020b). This mental health care was in response to the 2017 Veteran Health Administrative Directive 1601A.02 issued to provide new mental health services to over 505,000 veterans with dishonorable military discharges (VA, 2017). The order was to provide the veterans with much-needed mental health services and follow-up services for up to 90 days (VA, 2017a).

Disability Compensation. The VA also provides a monthly tax-free stipend to veterans who were injured or got sick in the line of duty (VA, 2020f). These conditions could be physical or mental health conditions that occurred during service or aggravated by military obligations (VA, 2020f). Compensation benefits are paid to deceased veterans' spouses, dependents, or parents (VA, 2020f).

Community Postmilitary Separation Supports

Veterans moving into communities may require additional support to adjust to their new environment. Many communities have stepped up to provide services to veterans who decide to settle in the area. Large communities with local military installations tend to have larger systems of supportive services for veterans who decide to settle in the area post-military separation (Castro & Kintzle, 2016). The Joint Chief of Staff (2014) office reported that over 40,000 registered organizations support military veterans and their families in communities around the country. These nonprofit and veterans service organizations provide various services such as career/employment readiness, education support, housing assistance, health care support, and others.

Career/Employment Supports

Non-profit military support organizations provide various services to veterans in the community to assist them with employment. Some organizations assist with job training opportunities, career development, resume development, and job-seeking skills coaching (National Veterans Foundation, 2020). They also offer other services, such as independent living services for severely disabled veterans interested in non-traditional employment (National Veterans Foundation, 2020). An example of such an organization is Hiring Our Heroes.

Hiring Our Heroes is an affiliate of the U. S. Chamber of Commerce that provides employment opportunities to transitioning service members, veterans, and their spouses (Hiring Our Heroes, 2020). They organize job fairs across the country and on military installation through their nationwide initiative and using their networks of state and local chambers (Hiring Our Heroes, 2020). They offer free online career tools for resume building, a job portal for employment opportunities, a 24/7 virtual career fair platform, and a virtual mentorship program to connect veterans and their spouses to experienced mentors for assistance (Hiring Our Heroes, 2020).

Education Support

Various profit and non-profit organizations in the community provide different educational programs to support veterans in the community. These organizations offer online learning and on-campus programs, apprenticeships, certificate programs, associate's, bachelor's, and master's degrees, non-degree and on-the-job training, and others (College Stats.Org, 2020). Other federal programs in the community provide education benefits for veterans in addition to the training and education benefits provided by the VA, such as the Yellow Ribbon Program (College Stats.Org, 2020).

The Yellow Ribbon Reintegration Program is an education program provided to veterans and their family members (College Stats.Org, 2020). The program is available for veterans and family members who plan to attend private or out-of-state colleges (College Stats.Org, 2020). The Yellow Ribbon program covers the cost of tuition and fees not covered by the Post-9/11 GI Bill for veterans studying out-of-state or in private institutions (College Stats.Org, 2020).

Housing Support

One of the transitional challenges veterans faces when they are separated from the military is finding affordable housing (Ahern et al., 2015; Bink & Cambridge, 2019; Kintzle et al., 2016). Housing and Urban Development (HUD) work with various VA programs in various communities around the country to provide housing and prevent homelessness among veterans (HUD, 2020). Housing programs such as Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (VASH) and Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) provide affordable housing and rental assistance to veterans and their families (HUD, 2020). Non-profit organizations such as Operation Homefront and Veterans Inc provide housing to veterans after their military careers (Operation Homefront, 2020).

Operation Homefront transitional housing program. This program provides rent-free housing to veterans in the transition process to reduce the financial strains veterans may experience during their transition (Operation Homefront, 2020). The program also aims to alleviate the risk of homelessness among young veterans and provide stability for military families moving into the community (Operation Homefront, 2020). The housing program is operated in three locations across the country under SoCal program, the Maryland program, and the San Antonio program (Operation Homefront, 2020).

Operation Homefront provides fully furnished homes with all amenities, including internet access, cable TV, and telephone service (Operation Homefront, 2020). Once veterans and their families are placed in homes, Operation Homefront provides families with counselors. They are also offered support groups, workshops, financial counseling, benefits briefings, resume writing classes, and assistance with employment (Operation Homefront, 2020). Once families are determined to be self-sufficient and have completed the program, their counselors help them find suitable forever homes in the chosen areas (Operation Homefront, 2020).

Veterans Inc. The organization provides various support services to veterans and their families who are homeless or at risk (Veterans Inc, 2020). The organization employs a holistic approach to address the needs of veterans and not only provides housing, but the organization also offers meals, employment and training programs, legal and medical services, and special services for PTSD and other mental health issues. The organization also provides financial assistance for affordable housing and assistance with initial rent
and utilities in addition to transportation, moving expenses, childcare, emergency supplies, and legal services (Veterans Inc, 2020). Through their Post-9/11 veteran support, the organization also offers peer-to-peer support, post-9/11 community engagements, assistance with college and education benefits, and access to supportive services (Veterans Inc, 2020).

Health Support

Several veteran organizations in the community assist retired service members by providing various services and resources to help them manage their health. Some of these organizations assist veterans with their prescription refills, medical appointment scheduling, assistance with medical supplies, and others (National Veterans Foundation, 2020). Some non-profit organizations, such as Volunteers of America, collaborate with the local and state governments to strategically address more issues in one location (National Veterans Foundation, 2020). Other organizations, such as Give an Hour, provide mental health support to veterans in the community (National Veterans Foundation, 2020).

Health Care. Volunteers of America (VOA) is a veteran organization in over 400 communities in 46 states (Volunteers of America, 2020). The organization's service providers work in collaboration with local and state governments and other community organizations to meet the specific needs of veterans using a holistic approach. It also connects veterans to information on their health care and disability benefits and assists them in applying for local and federal support and other community support services (Volunteers of America, 2020).

The organization has a peer support program where they connect veterans for shared experiences and to share information on successful treatments and employment (Volunteers of America, 2020). VOA uses a holistic strategy to address multiple issues such as housing, employment, financial management, mental health, and substance abuse to ensure long-term employment success and wellness among community veterans (Volunteers of America, 2020). VOA (2020) service providers follow up with veteran clients placed in employment to ensure that any issue that would jeopardize their employment is addressed appropriately. The organization also uses the financial management classes to hold veterans in employment accountable by using the skills they learned in the class to be financially responsible and plan for their future (Volunteers of America, 2020).

Mental health support. Give an Hour (2020) is a non-profit organization that provides free mental health and alternative care such as acupuncture, yoga, and nutritional counseling. The organization offers services to active duty, National Guard and Reserve service members, veterans, their families, and other others across the country (Give an Hour, 2020). The program works with a network of volunteer professionals and various local, state, and national mental health associations, to recruit and educate their community members to support the organization (Give an Hour, 2020).

The organization works to change the mental health culture whereby people experiencing emotionally difficulties can comfortably seek help without feeling stigmatized by those around them (Give an Hour, 2020). It is a collaboration with government, corporate, and non-profit partners through their Campaign to Change Direction program launched in 2015. The focus is to improve the delivery of communitybased services for those in the military and veteran communities (Give an Hour, 2020).

Disability benefits. Veterans of Foreign Wars (VFW) is the United States of America's oldest major war veterans' organization (Veterans of Foreign Wars, 2020). The organization is a non-profit organization that utilizes patriotic Americans' financial and non-monetary resources to educate, train, and support service members and veterans. Over 2,100 VA accredited VFW representatives educate transitioning service members and veterans on their VA benefits through various counseling sessions. The representatives also assist veterans in filing their disability claims after service for their physical health (VFW, 2020).

Trained VFW service officers provide support and referrals to combat veterans who need VA mental health programs and services (VFW, 2020). The organization provides support to military families struggling with the hardship of war by assisting with rent, utilities, or groceries through the VFW Unmet Needs Program. VFW members also offer a morale-boosting welcome celebration to returning combat veterans after their tours (VFW, 2020).

Wellness

The concept of wellness is multidimensional and holistic (World Health Organization, 2020). It encompasses integrating several dimensions to form a state of physical, psychological, and social well-being for an individual (contentment) (Stoewen, 2017; World Health Organization, 2020). Optimal wellness can enhance the quality of life, attitudes, relationships, personal growth, and overall success (Stoewen, 2017). One's experiences/choices and demographics (gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and others) have been related to the level of wellness individuals experience throughout their lifetime (University of Maryland, 2017). To obtain wellness, one needs to be mindful of the choices and consequences of those choices and able to make positive changes in behavior and other life situations even when it is difficult (Green Cross Academy of Traumatology, 2020; Stoewen, 2017).

Physical Health and Wellness

Physical wellness involves adopting and maintaining healthy behaviors and practices to care for the body and stay healthy through a balanced diet, regular exercise, and adequate sleep (Stoewen, 2017; University of Maryland, 2017; Zaidi, 2020). It also involves avoiding unhealthy behaviors such as alcohol abuse, substance abuse, and other physical health-related habits such as occupational stress (University of Maryland, 2017; Zaidi, 2020). As infectious diseases threaten one's health, so is their wellness vulnerable to work-related stress and other external stressors (Blanch et al., 2014). Hricova and Lovasova (2020) explained that employment and working conditions could impede physical health and well-being.

Gleason et al. (2019) and Virga et al. (2020) reported that helping professionals in the human services related fields such as social work, counseling, psychology, and criminal justice has been combatting the negative impacts of the stressors of their profession that negatively affect their physical and mental well-being. Due to the nature of the jobs of helping professionals, they must work with high-need clients, large caseloads, daily exposure to overwhelming emotional situations, and lack of personal and or professional support (Gleason et al., 2019; Hricova & Lovasova, 2020; Virga et al., 2020). These stressors sometimes result in burnout, compassion fatigue, and vicarious traumatization, which endangers these case workers' physical health and well-being (Gleason et al., 2019; Hricova & Lovasova, 2020; Newell & Nelson-Gardell, 2014; Virga et al., 2020).

Burnout is often caused by prolonged physical and emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment on the job (Gleason et al., 2019; Newell & Nelson-Gardell, 2014). Compassion fatigue in social practice is emotional exhaustion that occurs when working with traumatized clients (Gleason et al., 2019; Hricova & Lovasova, 2020; Newell & Nelson-Gardell, 2014; Virga et al., 2020). Vicarious traumatization, like compassion fatigue, is secondary traumatization whereby care workers allow their clients' stress and personal trauma to change their clinical worldview (Gleason et al., 2019; Hricova & Lovasova, 2020; Newell & Nelson-Gardell, 2014). These three stressors affect the physical and emotional well-being of the care workers and negatively impact their performance and the care provided to their clients (Gleason et al., 2019; Virga et al., 2020).

Mental Health and Wellness

Psychological wellness involves the ability to constructively manage one's emotions, understand and respect the feelings of others to have positive relationships with others, and to be able to recognize when one needs the help of others (Stoewen, 2017; University of Maryland, 2017; Zaidi, 2020). Psychological issues, such as depression,

anxiety disorders, and other mental illnesses, make it difficult for individuals to experience psychological wellness (University of Maryland, 2017; Zaidi, 2020).

Social wellness is related to one's ability to form and maintain positive, healthy, and meaningful relationships with others (Stoewen, 2017; University of Maryland, 2017). Being considered to have social wellness includes the ability to have active community participation, developing supportive social networks, believing that one has value to others and is appreciated, and a sense of belonging in a community (University of Maryland, 2017; Zaidi, 2020). Social exchange is part of the human connection people make in their daily lives with family, friends, and acquaintances (Birditt et al., 2005; Ji et al., 2017). Even though these social interactions are mostly positive, sometimes they are also negative and can become stressful and detrimental to the individual's psychological well-being (Reed et al., 2014).

Goetzel et al. (2018) stated that mental and behavioral health problems affect adults with mood and substance abuse problems. The occupational health problems common among employed adults include depression, anxiety, and substance abuse. Mental Health America (2018) and Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2016) reported that 50-60% of all adults do not receive the treatment and do not seek treatments for their mental health issues. Goetzel et al. mentioned that mental health issues often lead to other conditions without proper treatments.

Wellness related to mental and physical health are also prevalent among athletes. Birdie et al. (2015) and Bauman (2016) explained that participating in competitive sports may pose specific risks to athletes' mental health and wellness. Those dependent on their physical fitness and performance are pressured by a culture that does not approve of mental weakness (Bauman, 2016; Breslin et al., 2017; Trojian, 2016). If individuals do not feel comfortable reaching out to get help when needed, this can affect their physical and mental wellness. The military is also a highly physical career; the activities required to maintain the required physical standards of the military are like those seen in athletics.

Experiences/Choices and Wellness. Transitions are natural life changes that everyone is expected to experience in their lifetime (Joelson, 2020). Life transitions can be either positive or negative, as well as planned or unexpected (Joelson, 2020). Regardless of it the changes are positive or negative, planned or unexpected, adjusting to life changes can be difficult and stressful because we do not always have control over the life transitions we experience (Sonder Behavioral Health & Wellness, 2020). Some authors explained that even though our brains eventually learn and adapt over time when we initially experience changes, our minds do not accept and process them immediately (Gregory, 2020; Healthy Barrington, 2018; Joelson, 2020; Wardleigh, 2020). Life transition changes often destabilize individuals, especially if they are transitions that the individual did not want (Gregory, 2020).

Negative and unexpected life transitions such as losing employment, accidents, death of a loved one, news of a difficult diagnosis, or terminal illness generally have some negative psychological and physical impact that affects the wellness of an individual (Gregory, 2020; Healthy Barrington, 2018). Cleland et al. (2016) and Kettlewell et al. (2019) found that life events can considerably affect on one's health and well-being. Wardleigh (2020) asserted that adjusting to negative and unexpected life changes can be difficult as overcoming the negative change takes much energy and requires a learning curve. It also sometimes requires appropriate coping mechanisms to properly address the stress level an individual is experiencing to prevent drastic negative changes to their physical and psychological wellness, unlike positive changes (Healthy Barrington, 2018; Sonder Behavioral Health & Wellness, 2020).

Expected and positive life changes such as getting a new job, going away to college, getting married, moving to a new city, or the birth of a child can still impact an individual's wellness (Healthy Barrington, 2018; Joelson, 2020). These have unique stressors, but they are generally less destructive to the wellbeing of a person because they were expected (Joelson, 2020). Just like negative transitions, positive and expected transitions can leave individuals feeling exhausted or overwhelmed at times as people navigate the new season of their lives. For example, the birth of a baby for first-time parents is a life-changing experience that requires time and practice to learn how to figure things out and adjust to the challenges of caring for a child (Joelson, 2020; Wardleigh, 2020). Though the daily experiences can be overwhelming and exhausting, most parents look forward to the opportunities for refinement daily (Wardleigh, 2020). It is easier for people to accept and readily adjust to positive life transitions for growth than to accept unexpected negative life transitions (Wardleigh, 2020). Kettlewell et al. (2019) added that even though life events can both be detrimental and beneficial to the well-being of individuals, the duration and magnitude of the effects are also important. For instance, the authors found that even though the loss of a spouse results in a negative devastation

feeling, it has a short-term negative effect that diminishes by two years (Kettlewell et al., 2019).

Demographics and Wellness

Age and Wellness. Some researchers have found that age can be related to one's emotional well-being (Charles et al., 2016; Reed & Carstensen, 2012; Reed et al., 2014). Charles et al. (2016) found that older adults in the late part of their lives have a positive outlook and a reduced level of distress compared to younger people in their twenties. When older adults were asked to appraise their lives, situations, or interaction with others, they focused on the positive aspects of their environment using their emotional stimuli because they value the emotion-related goals (Reed & Carstensen, 2012; Reed et al., 2014). Young adults often indicated a negative bias when asked to appraise their lives, situations, or interactions (Reed & Carstensen, 2012; Reed et al., 2014).

Researchers who have studied the lifespan and outlook have postulated that as people get older, they perceive time to be limited (Birditt et al., 2005; Wiener et al., 2016). These individuals then seek emotional satisfaction, main emotionally close relationships, tend to be less distressed, and they are more conciliatory because they have been exposed to different social contexts (Birditt et al., 2005; Ji et al., 2017; Reed et al., 2014; Wiener et al., 2016). They can better manage how they react to different situations with a more positive approach. Older adults tend to interpret negative interactions more positively than to younger adults (Ji et al., 2017; Reed et al., 2014).

Age also plays a part in how individuals manage their occupational stress were intervening factors such as workload, time on the job, and social support. Antoniou et al. (2006) found that younger teachers who were new to the profession had a higher level of stress and burnout than older and experienced teachers. Ramos et al. (2016) also explained that younger adults might not have appropriate coping strategies to manage their occupational stress compared to older experienced adults. They also found that lack of support in the workplace causes disengagement and job dissatisfaction for younger adults, while older adults are more resilient to it.

Age also impacts the psychological and physical well-being of the younger and older veterans after leaving military service. Wiener et al. (2016) asserted that some older veterans were prone to Late-Onset Stress Symptomatology (LOSS) which can be triggered when they reflect on their time in service. Younger veterans have difficulties hiding their PTSD symptoms compared to older veterans (VA, 2015). Due to their younger age and inexperience, their behavioral changes and unhealthy social lifestyles resulted in their early military separation for misconduct (VA, 2015). The researchers did not indicate which military branch or rank has the most age-related psychological or physical problems.

Gender and Wellness. Gender roles of men and women have traditionally assigned their societal functions, and social status is related to wellness (Lieberman, 2019). In today's world, societal achievements breed new needs and challenges that define gender differences in wellness based on educational accomplishments and political, and socio-economic status (Carmel, 2019). These societal expectations and limitations ultimately lead to gender differences in the wellbeing of men and women (Batz & Tay, 2018). .-

In a community where women have limited access to resources, opportunities, and power, there would be a difference compared to men on how to meet their basic and psychological needs (Batz & Tay, 2018). However, in societies with equal in opportunities, resources, and power, there might be only a slight gender difference (Bay & Tay, 2018). Even though women in advanced societies that provide equality for both genders would be expected to be more successful and "happier," the shift in standards, the demands, and the additional roles women occupied are related to lowering their wellbeing resulting in the decrease in their happiness over time (Batz & Tay, 2018; Lieberman, 2019). Meisenberg and Woodley (2015) contended that even though gender equality results in higher life satisfaction for women due to the increase in opportunities and rights, the responsibilities, and stressors that women encounter have changed over time and resulted in a lowered sense of wellness.

Some researchers have found that sometimes gender differences influence how individuals cope with stress and manage wellness (Antoniou et al., 2006; Lieberman, 2019; Wallnas & Jendle, 2017). Antoniou et al. (2006) and Wallnas and Jendle (2017) reported that female teachers have a higher level of occupational stress and emotional exhaustion than their male colleagues. Gomez-Baya et al. (2018) indicated that women have better psychological well-being in the workplace when their basic psychological needs are satisfied, unlike men. Matud et al. (2019) explained that men and women experience stress differently, affecting their psychological well-being differently. They indicated that men have higher self-acceptance and autonomy than women, with better personal growth and positive relations with others. The authors found that men and women who adhered to traditional gender roles in the workplace have better psychological well-being (Matud et al., 2019).

Gender differences were also important in how military occupational stress impacts the well-being of male and female veterans. Boston University Medical Center (2017) explained that combat exposure, military sexual harassment, and family stressors influence veterans' functioning and satisfaction in the family and at work and family. For example, deployment exposures result in PTSD symptoms associated with mental health, only affecting men's functioning and satisfaction in romantic relationships and indirectly affecting their parenting (Boston University Medical Center, 2017). On the other hand, female veterans are more prone to PTSD and depression after deployments and combat exposure, and they are highly susceptible to parental impairment (Boston University Medical Center, 2017).

Oster et al. (2017) affirmed that female veterans experience more mental health problems that affect their health and well-being and lead to other problems such as homelessness. Bryne et al. (2013) reported that as opposed to male veterans, young and unemployed female veterans with behavioral health issues are at a higher risk for homelessness. However, they have a lower drug or alcohol abuse rate than young and unemployed male veterans (Oster et al., 2017). These findings confirm that men and women, due to their biological vulnerabilities, may react differently when they are exposed to different environmental situations (Lieberman, 2019). However, not much is known about the military ranks and branches of male and female veterans in the military context. This study would provide important insight into wellness and gender difference in military branches and ranks.

Military Factors and Wellness. Most service members have looked favorably on their time in service, which has positively affected their well-being (Oster et al., 2017). As part of an institution, they appreciate the group cohesion and *esprit de corps* (a sense of camaraderie on and off the battlefield) that connect them (Mayne, 2013). Nevertheless, their military obligations, the duration of service, and transition from service sometimes negatively affect their well-being (Oster et al., 2017).

Time in Service. Time in service has been found to be related to mental, physical, and social well-being. Oster et al. (2017) stated that veterans' mental health problems mainly stem from PTSD issues attributed to their deployment and exposure to trauma. The more time spent in the military, the more opportunity to be deployed to war zones, areas with conflict, and to be exposed to trauma. Xue et al. (2015) indicated that about 35% of veterans had combat-related PTSD.

Military personnel also incur serious physical injuries and illnesses due to their military obligations that impact their physical and psychological wellness (Oster et al., 2017). Beard & Kamel (2015) and Hodson & McFarlane (2016) found that prolong military duties such as intensive physical activities, physical trauma, psychological trauma, and exposure to toxic substances can be detrimental to the health and wellbeing of veterans. Some authors indicated that the prevalent physical illness sustained by veterans because of deployment include TBI, hearing impairment/tinnitus, and Hepatitis C Virus (Arriola & Rozelle, 2016; O'Neil et al., 2014; Theodoroff et al., 2015; Wall, 2012).

In addition to the impart of military factors on veterans' mental and physical wellbeing, their social wellness is also impacted by their military service. For example, some authors indicated that in comparison to civilians, military veterans have the highest rate of substance abuse and homelessness (Hoggatt et al., 2015; Lan et al., 2016). Hoggatt et al. (2015) reported that binge drinking was prevalent among veterans by approximately 37% of male veterans and about 25% of female veterans. Lan et al. (2016) found that veterans have a higher alcohol and drug abuse rate, primarily under diagnostic and administrative criteria. Tsai and Rosenheck (2015) found that in comparison to civilians, veterans are at a greater risk for homelessness than non-veterans. Female veterans are at 2.5 times higher risk than civilian women of being homeless (Bryne et al., 2013).

Occupational Years of Experience and Wellness. Job characteristics and occupational health wellness affect all workers regardless of their time on the job. Worker coping strategies and social support determine how this stress is managed among young and seasoned workers (Olvera Alvarez et al., 2019; Salvagioni et al., 2017). For instance, seasoned and student nurses experience chronic stress and burnout that severely affect their health and well-being (Olvera Alvarez et al., 2019; Salvagioni et al., 2017). However, in-clinic care, seasoned nurses have learned to adapt to their adverse working conditions based on their experience and knowledge on the job (Olvera Alvarez et al., 2019; Salvagioni et al., 2017)). Hricova and Lovasova (2020) explained that the employment and working environments are often the two main sources of stressful situations. Individuals react to stress and stressful situations differently because of the individual level of resiliency they acquire on the job (Hricova & Lovasova, 2020). Olvera Alvarez et al. (2019) asserted that apart from their common stressors when exposed to the same environmental toxins, new nurses are particularly vulnerable in clinical care than seasoned nurses (Olvera Alvarez et al., 2019). Olvera Alvarez et al. (2019) also reported that over 34% of new nurses change jobs due to stress and burnout during their transition from school to their workplace in the first two years following graduation.

Ramos et al. (2016) found that younger workers with higher tenure have lower engagement and higher burnout rates in some high demanding jobs that affect their health and well-being than low-tenure workers. However, Wiener et al. (2016) found that among military veterans, occupational time in service or duration of service is not a major determinant of occupational stress (Wiener et al., 2016). In this occupation, regardless of the duration of service, some veterans are exposed to combat and trauma that can affect their physical and mental well-being, unlike non-combat veterans (VA, 2015; Wiener et al., 2016). However, most veterans experience rigorous military life and duties that affect their physical, psychological, and occupational wellness even years after discharge, regardless of their deployment status (Wiener et al., 2016). There was limited literature on how occupational time in service affects veterans' wellness in different military branches and the ranks mostly affected. This study would highlight the military branch and ranks with the most occupational distress.

Summary and Conclusions

The intent of this quantitative, correlational study of a cross-sectional nature was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/non-combat), number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS in military veterans. In addition, I studied the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not participate in military veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge in order to determine how the type of service and length of separation may be related to wellness for transitioning veterans. It is in hope that by having a better understanding of how these variables are related (and differences in some of the variables based on service type and length of separation) that additional information can be provided to those who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to assist them in individualizing these programs based on veteran characteristics.

The problem that was addressed in this study was the negative experiences related to wellness that veterans may experience during their post-military transition, such as unemployment, changes and challenges in relationships and social support networks, community stigma and discrimination, inadequate support services, loss of purpose, and personal and social identity challenges (Cooper et al., 2018; Kneeling et al., 2018; Sayer et al., 2014). Military veterans undergo an identity shift when they exit the service, just as they had at boot camp when joining the Armed Forces (Mitre Corporation, 2019; Mobbs & Bonanno, 2018). Even though is the transition from the military to civilian life is a

normative experience, they are sometimes accompanied by negative experiences that add additional burdens to the challenges of veterans as they make this transition (Angel et al., 2018; Mitre Corporation, 2019; Mobbs & Bonanno, 2018). The ease of transitioning to a new phase of life can also be related to the demographic characteristics of individuals (Mitre Corporation, 2019; Mobbs & Bonanno, 2018).

Although the research above regarding the challenges related to veteran assimilation into civilian life and the associated problems and their relationship to perceived wellness illuminates important findings (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Castro et al., 2015; Castrol & Kintzle, 2017; Zogas, 2017), I found no researchers who have examined the relationship between demographics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/non-combat), number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS in military veterans. Given such, further research was warranted to examine the relationships between these variables as well as the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not serve among military veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge in order to determine how the type of service and length of separation may be related to wellness for transitioning veterans. Chapter 3 contain details regarding the planned research design, methodology (including sampling, data collection, instrumentation, operationalization of constructs, data analysis plan), threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

Researchers have found that many veterans experience considerable challenges transitioning from military to civilian life (Castro et al., 2014; Keeling et al., 2018; Kintzle et al., 2016; MacLean et al., 2014). After separation, military personnel experience challenges that include losing their military/career identity, military culture support, and purpose in life (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Researchers have found that transitioning from military to civilian life can also affect their ability to function, capabilities, and overall wellness (Elnitsky et al., 2017; MacLean et al., 2014).

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study of a cross-sectional nature was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS (Dupuy, 1977) in military veterans. In addition, I studied the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not while controlling for the number of years since discharge to determine how the type of service and the length of separation may be related to wellness for transitioning veterans. By having a better understanding of how these variables are related (and differences in some of the variables based on service type and length of separation), additional information can be provided to those who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to assist them in individualizing these programs based on veteran characteristics. In this chapter, I discuss the research design and

rationale, methodology, population, sampling procedures, procedures for recruitment, data collection, instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, data analysis plan, threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

RQ1: What is the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS in military veterans?

RQ2: What is the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge?

The independent variables I used in this study for RQ1 were the demographic characteristics of participants, including age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge and the dependent variable was self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS. For RQ2, I used the independent variable of service type (combat/noncombat) and the dependent variable of self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS. For RQ2, I used the independent variable of service type (combat/noncombat) and the dependent variable of self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS. For RQ2, I used the number of years since discharge.

The GWBS is an 18-item instrument that measures life satisfaction and level of psychological distress (Dupuy, 1977). The instrument includes six subscales measuring anxiety, depression, positive well-being, self-control, vitality, and general health (Dupuy, 1977). The measuring instrument's total score runs from 0 to 110, with lower scores

indicating severe distress (Dupuy, 1977). The scale shows 0 to 60 reflects severe distress, 61 to 72 indicates moderate distress, and 73 to 110 shows positive well-being (Dupuy, 1977).

Research Design

I used a quantitative, correlational study of a cross-sectional nature. A correlational study is a quantitative nonexperimental research design used to determine the statistical relationship between two or more variables (Souse et al., 2007). This design does not allow a researcher to control or manipulate the variables but only to determine the statistical relationship between variables (Creswell, 2015). Correlational designs are used when researchers want a deeper understanding of the relationship between two or more variables without establishing causation (Creswell, 2015).

Unlike experimental studies, variables are not manipulated. Thus, variables can be measured in a closed environment or a public setting (Gaille, 2020). The results from correlational studies are also more applicable to everyday encounters because the investigation occurs in real-life situations (Gaille, 2020). Also, correlational research provides an excellent starting position for research; the data from each variable also create new opportunities for future researchers to investigate established and unknown relationships (Gaille, 2020).

Correlational research helps researchers find each relationship's direction and strength, thereby creating new discoveries about the world and specific situations, especially when a survey method is used (Cerritos College, 2020). Despite the advantages of the correlational study, it does not provide a conclusive reason the relationships it reveals exist (Gaille, 2020). In addition, correlational research reveals connections variables share in a specific situation but does not determine the variables with the most influence (Gaille, 2020). Additional influences can also interfere with the work because, when completing surveys, some people may try to provide information to create specific outcomes (Cerritos College, 2020; Gaille, 2020). The usefulness of the data collected depends on the quality of the work performed during the study because if the data collection does not generate appropriate information, the time, money, and efforts invested may be wasted (Gaille, 2020).

A cross-sectional study allows a researcher to collect data at one point in time (Leedy & Ormrod, 2001). Correlational studies can be conducted using observation, survey, or archival research (Williams, 2007). I used a survey method to collect data from participants. Correlational and cross-sectional designs are used when a researcher wants to compare different groups, study behavior as it occurs in everyday life, collect data at a specific point in time, and allow researchers to make predictions (Sertia, 2016). This research methodology was appropriate because it allowed me to examine the relationship between different groups of veterans based on their demographic characteristics in relation to their self-perceived wellness at one point in time (one data collection period).

Because the focus of this study was to examine the relationship between the demographic characteristics of veterans in relation to veterans' self-perceived wellness at one point in time and the difference in the self-perceived wellness between combat and noncombat veterans, other nonexperimental research designs, such as case study design or causal–comparative studies would not have been appropriate. The case study design is

an in-depth qualitative inquiry of a research problem used to narrow down a broad field of research to a few easily researchable examples (Sacred Heart University Library, 2020; USC Libraries, 2020). The design provides detailed descriptions of specific and rare cases, thereby providing a better understanding of complex issues through detailed contextual analysis of events and relationships (Sacred Heart University Library, 2020; USC Libraries, 2020). Despite the benefits of using the case study design, it is difficult to establish reliability or to generalize the findings due to the limited number of cases the design allows (Sacred Heart University Library, 2020; USC Libraries, 2020). Also, a researcher's interpretation of the findings might be biased due to intense exposure to the study, and where vital information is missing, it would be difficult to correctly interpret the findings (USC Libraries, 2020; Winston-Salem State University, 2020).

Causal–comparative studies, on the other hand, are used to evaluate how a specific change impacts existing norms and assumptions; that is, the design seeks to establish the cause–effect relationship among the variables (USC Libraries, 2020; Winston-Salem State University, 2020). In causal–comparative studies, a variation in a phenomenon result in the variation of another phenomenon (Winston-Salem State University, 2020). The design provides a better understanding of why things happen by providing a causal link between the variables involved and eliminating other possibilities (Sacred Heart University Library, 2020; USC Libraries, 2020). This type of study also has better interval validity because of the systematic subject selection (Sacred Heart University Library, 2020; USC Libraries, 2020). However, not all relationships are causal, and it is difficult to determine them due to other extraneous variables that may be

present (USC Libraries, 2020; Winston-Salem State University, 2020). Thus, using either a case study design or a causal–comparative study would not have been appropriate to conduct the research because both designs do not attempt to seek and interpret relationships between variables. The research problem also determines the most suitable type of design to use.

Methodology

Population

According to DOD (2014), an estimated 200,000 active-duty service members separate from duty each year from the Armed Forces. Based on this number, approximately 1,300 new veterans return to civilian communities daily (DOD, 2014). The Statista Research Department (2019) reported that the number of U.S. male veterans was approximately 15.78 million, and the number of female veterans was approximately 1.64 million in 2018. The VA (2020) reported the population of veterans by the branch of service in 2019 to include 8.8 million Army veterans, 4.2 million Navy veterans, 2.1 million Marine Corps veterans, 3.5 million Air Force veterans, and over 971,000 Reserve Forces.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

Sampling Strategy

The sampling strategy used for this study was the purposeful convenience sampling method and snowball sampling. Purposive sampling is a nonprobability sampling technique where potential participants must meet criteria set forth by the researcher to participate in the study (Laerd Dissertation, 2012b; Palinkas et al., 2015). The main advantage of this method is that it ensures the participants have the characteristics necessary to answer the research question (Laerd Dissertation, 2012b; Palinkas et al., 2015). The disadvantage of the technique is that it could potentially result in less generalizable results because individuals who do not meet the inclusion criteria for the study are not in the sample (Laerd Dissertation, 2012b; Palinkas et al., 2015).

Researchers use convenience sampling because of its cost-effective and timely advantages compared to other sampling methods (Palinkas et al., 2015). The participants are accessed based on their easy availability to the researcher (Palinkas et al., 2015). A disadvantage of using a convenience sampling method is that it can lead to overrepresentation or underrepresentation of particular groups within the sample (Palinkas et al., 2015). Also, because the sample was not chosen randomly, it may not be representative of the population, and the results may not be easily generalized (Palinkas et al., 2015).

Snowball sampling is a nonprobability sampling method used to recruit samples to access population subgroups that may be hard to reach (Explorable, 2009a; Laerd Dissertation, 2012b). The sampling method is considered a chain referral because those who participate or see the recruitment materials are asked to let others know about the study who may be eligible to participate (Explorable, 2009a; Laerd Dissertation, 2012b). The benefits of using this sampling method includes reaching populations that are difficult to sample with other sampling methods (Explorable, 2009; Laerd Dissertation, 2012b). The snowball sampling method is an excellent technique to recruit military veterans because they are part of the population that are difficult to locate or are hidden, but they are likely to keep in contact with one another after they end their military service (Explorable, 2009a; Laerd Dissertation, 2012b). Locating one veteran could lead to referrals to other veterans. The disadvantages of using the snowball sampling method are that the initial participant might be hesitant to provide the names of peers, and sampling bias may occur due to oversampling a particular network of peers (Explorable, 2009a; Laerd Dissertation, 2012a). Therefore, I did not be request the names or contact information of people who participated but provided information in the recruitment materials asking those who saw the materials to let others know about the study (see Appendix A).

Other sampling techniques, such as quota sampling and heterogeneity sampling were not appropriate to identify and sample military veterans as potential participants for this study (Glen, 2015c). Quota sampling is deemed an unsuitable method because a researcher must ensure that the groups in the sample are proportional to the groups in the population, which may not be possible when recruiting a hard-to-find population (Explorable, 2009b; Glen, 2015c). Heterogeneity sampling was also not the right fit for this study because researchers deliberately choose participants for the study to represent all views. However, all views may not be proportionately represented when recruiting a hidden population (Explorable, 2009b; Glen, 2009b; Glen, 2015c).

Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

The inclusion criteria for this study included: (a) U.S. military veteran; (b) discharged with the rank E-3 to E-9, WO-1 to WO-4, or O-1 to O-6; (c) must have served in Operation Enduring Freedom, Operation Iraqi Freedom, or Operation New Dawn; (d)

combat or noncombat veterans; (e) any service component (active duty, Reserves, or National Guard); and (f) literacy level in English sufficient to understand the survey. Those who would be excluded from participating in the study were those who did not meet the criteria.

Sample Size

A power analysis was conducted to determine the appropriate sample size for the study. Kyonka (2019) asserted that a priori is based on predetermined maximum tolerable Type I and II error rates and the minimum effect size, which is most meaningful. Thus, using power analysis is important in research designs to determine sample size because it provides a better chance of studies having conclusive results (Kyonka, 2019). Because I conducted two statistical tests, multiple linear regression and ANCOVA, I calculated the necessary sample size for both tests using G*Power (Faul et al., 2009).

In calculating the sample size for the multiple linear regression, an alpha of .05 and power of .95 were used. Cohen (1992) recommended that to have adequate power for multiple linear regression analysis; there should be two independent variables to establish a medium effect size at the 0.15 level. The power analysis computation for the multiple linear regression indicated that 153 participants were needed to conduct the multiple regression with an alpha of .05, medium effect size (0.15) and power of .95. An alpha of .05 and a power of .80 was used to calculate the ANCOVA sample size. The power analysis computation of the ANCOVA indicated that 158 participants were needed with a medium effect size (0.25), alpha (0.05), and power (0.80). To be able to conduct both analyses, I planned to collect data from at least 158 participants.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Recruitment

Recruitment notices were posted online via social media veterans' groups (Facebook and LinkedIn) and the Walden University Participant Pool. The groups on Facebook and LinkedIn had the recruitment materials posted to them via groups that anyone can join and post materials to but are focused on military and military veterans. It made permission to post and cooperation agreements unnecessary. The recruitment materials can be found in Appendix A

The recruitment materials outline information about the study, my contact information, a link to participate, and a statement requesting those who saw the recruitment materials to also forward the information to those they know who may qualify to participate. Also, at the end of the data collection process, participants who completed the study was asked to forward the recruitment materials (via a screen after submitting them) to other veterans through other social media or email to increase participation.

The veteran Facebook groups that will be utilized include:

- Vet 2 Vet Info, Women Veterans
- I Proudly Served, Vet Friends
- Together We Served
- OIF/OEF Veterans military empire
- United States Veterans on Facebook
- Women Veterans of the United States Army

- Air Force Vets, U.S. Navy Veterans
- Marine Corps Vets

A few LinkedIn veteran groups with large followers that do not require permission to post on their sites will also be used to recruit participants for the study. These groups include veterati, vets2industry, and women veterans alliance. Some veteran groups on LinkedIn ask veterans to request to join their groups, while other veteran interest groups only require veterans to follow their group.

The Walden University Participant Pool was used as a venue to recruit participants. A post with a short explanation of the study and a link to the survey was posted on the virtual bulletin board for members of the Walden community who are interested in participating in the study to access the site (Walden University, 2020). Walden Participant Pool is a diverse population of students and faculty members that provides easy access for researchers to connect with potential study participants (Walden University, 2020).

Even though the VA would have been an excellent resource for recruiting study participants, it was not appropriate for my study due to potential time issues and the potential that the participants may feel coerced to participate if the government was associated with recruitment. I would need to get approval from the VA IRB and go through the research approval steps required by the VA (VA, 2020). It could be a lengthy process, and there are other ways to access individuals who have served in the military without going through government agencies.

Participation

Once potential participants saw the recruitment materials, they clicked on the link, which directed them to the survey. The questions that they were asked first are those to confirm that they qualify to participate in the study (inclusion criteria questions, see Appendix B). When they answer yes to all the inclusion criteria questions, they were directed to the informed consent. Suppose they answered no to any of the inclusion questions. In that case, they were directed to a page thanking them for their potential participation but that they do not qualify for the study based on their answers to the inclusion questions.

Participants was presented with the informed consent and asked to print out a copy of the informed consent page for their records. A survey question was at the end of the informed consent asking them if they agree to consent to participate (see Appendix C). If they answered yes (give consent), they were directed to the demographic form. If they answered no, they were directed to a page thanking them for their potential participation. After completing the demographic questions (Appendix D), the participants were asked to answer the 18 items on the *General Well-being (*Dupuy, 1977, see Appendix E). After completion, the participants were thanked for participating in the study on the final screen.

Data Collection

The questionnaire for the survey was administered to the participants through SurveyMonkey. SurveyMonkey is an online program and hosting site used by researchers to collect research data from study participants (Waclawski, 2012). It is a program used for collecting data for research purposes for health, market, a quick poll, competitive analysis, customer or employee feedback, and other purposes (Waclawski, 2012). SurveyMonkey allows researchers to create, collect, and analyze data from millions of participants to get real-time results. The reporting and analysis tool allows data to be exported into different formats and accelerate data-driven decisions.

SurveyMonkey was chosen because it could be set up with a secure web link, SSL with https, encrypt personal information, and collect surveys anonymously, thereby protecting the research participants' information (Regmi et al., 2016). Regmi et al. (2016) explained that the online survey approach helps contact hard-to-reach populations or people with certain conditions to collect data via various social media platforms. As a data collection platform, Survey Monkey allows researchers to deploy and analyze surveys using the internet without special knowledge (Regmi et al., 2016). Thus, using an online social media platform to reach thousands of potential participants simultaneously provides an equal opportunity for all the members of the veterans' groups to participate.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

Demographic Form

The researcher created the demographic form (see Appendix D) and included the independent variables for research question 1 age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge. The variable data collected through the demographic form for research question 2 includes the independent variable of service type (combat/noncombat) and the covariate of the number of years since discharge.

GWBS

The GWBS was initially developed for the U.S. Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (HANES I) is a brief assessment of health (Dupuy, 1978). It measures an individual's subjective sense of well-being and distress over the preceding month (Dupuy, 1977). The GWB Schedule includes positive and negative questions across six dimensions: well-being, self-control, vitality, depression, anxiety, and general health (Dupuy, 1977). There are three versions with 18, 22, and 33-items, but the 18-item version is the most popular and will be used for this study (Dupuy, 1977).

The 18-item version contains 14 items rated on a 6-point scale representing intensity or frequency, and adjectives define four items rated on a 10-point scale at each end (Dupuy, 1977). The 18-item GWB Schedule can be found in Appendix E. An example item on the 18 version GWB schedule includes, "How happy, satisfied or pleased have you been with your personal life during the past month?" (Dupuy, 1977). The response option offers 14 items rated on a 6-point Likert scale, with 1 "All the time" to 6 "None of the time" (Dupuy, 1977). The remaining four items are rated on a 10-point Likert scale with response options that are relevant to each of these 4 items (Dupuy, 1977).

The total score of the answers to the items is summed from 0 to 110, with lower scores indicating more severe distress. The three levels of distress are sectioned accordingly:

- 0 to 60 reflect severe distress
- 61 to 72 moderate distress

• 73 to 110 positive well-being.

The GWBS (GWB) measures life satisfaction, corresponding to Box E (subjective evaluations and reactions; life satisfaction) of Dijker's Model. The GWBS is in the public domain and may be used if proper citation is given. The scale can be obtained in McDowell and Newell (Eds.), Measuring health: A guide to rating scales and questionnaire (2nd ed) (pp. 206-213). The permission is provided in Appendix C.

Reliability and Validity. Several large-scale population-based studies have validated the reliability and validity of the GWBS in ethnic minority groups various researchers (Leonardson et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2003; Poston et al., 1998). The GWB is commonly used to address subjective well-being as a measuring instrument. Concerning this study, military personnel experiences traumatic events due to their military obligations regardless of their ranks, gender, age, and time in service (Ahren et al., 2015; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Even after separation from service, their experiences can affect their sense of well-being, and the change in culture and lifestyle results in other losses (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018).

When service members leave the military, they experience a sense of loss of community, culture, and identity (Ahren et al., 2015; Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Elliot et al., 2016; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). These changes impact their acculturation when they become civilians in the community (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). The GWB is appropriate to determine the post-traumatic adjustment of this target population. Therefore, it is a suitable measuring instrument to measure how the demographic characteristics of veterans influence their well-being post-service. *Reliability.* Cronbach's alpha will be used to test the GWB's reliability. It provides a number from 0 to 1, where 0.70 and above is acceptable, .80 and above indicates good, while .90 and above is regarded as excellent (Glen, 2014). As an internal reliability measure, it evaluates the consistency of the survey items that examine the topic of interest. As a measure of reliability, Cronbach's alpha confirms that a participant would repeatedly generate the same score for an observed variable using the same scale (Glen, 2014).

The validity and reliability of the psychometric characteristics of the GWB have also been established through extensive testing. They have been found to be an extremely useful instrument in various research. For example, Taylor et al. (2003) validated the psychometric characteristics of the GWB with 599 overweight African American women who participated in a multicenter weight-loss trial. The authors found concurrent and construct validity when examined in association with measures of self-concept, depression, and several health behaviors (Taylor et al., 2003). They also indicated that the standardized internal consistency of the GWB total score was high, with Cronbach's alpha = 0.92. Only general health, one of the six subscales, did not meet the internal consistency standard of 0.70 (Taylor et al., 2003). The researchers considered the GWB a reliable and valid instrument to measure the psychological well-being of African American women (Taylor et al., 2003).

Leonardson et al. (2003) also validated the GWB with a sample of 88 diabetic American Indians at an Indian Health Service hospital. They indicated that the internal reliability was Cronbach's alpha .89. the authors also reported adequate concurrent and divergent validity on the measuring instruments (Leonardson et al., 2003). The authors indicated that the GWB was a reliable and valid instrument for measuring the subjective feelings of psychological well-being and distress of the American Indian population (Leonardson et al., 2003).

Alagheband et al. (2013) investigated the validity, reliability, and factors of the GWB scale with 434 Iranian university students (242 females and 192 males) with an average age of 20.38. The researchers found an internal consistency of 0.85 (Alagheband et al., 2013). The authors found that the scale was a reliable and valid measure of the psychological well-being of Iranian students (Alagheband et al., 2013).

Validity. The validity of an instrument is also essential because it has to be suitable for a specific purpose and with the specific group of people to provide appropriate interpretations for the results (University of Connecticut, 2015). The validity of an instrument is established either by correlating the scores with a similar instrument or by expert review (University of Connecticut, 2015). In determining the validity of an instrument, the reliability of the measure and other kinds of evidence must be considered (Price et al., 2014). In evaluating the validity of a measure, researchers also consider three types of validity, namely content-related validity, construct validity, and criterion validity (Price et al., 2014).

Construct Validity. Construct validity deals with how the items in the measuring instrument adequately cover the construct of interest (UCONN, 2015; Scholtes et al., 2011). The items must be relevant and comprehensive to what is being measured (Scholtes et al., 2011). Taylor et al. (2003) used the GWB to provide evidence of

construct and concurrent validity with the measures used in examining the psychological well-being of 599 overweight African American women. The researchers found that the GWB was a valid measure to evaluate the psychometric characteristics of the research participants (Taylor et al., 2003).

Criterion Validity. Criterion-related validity is when a measuring instrument's scores perfectly compares to a set standard, which could be a current or future criterion (Price et al., 2011; UCONN, 2015). Thus, the measuring tool aims to determine if predictive or concurrent validity is needed (UCONN, 2015). Alagheband et al. (2013) examined the validity of the GWB with a sample of 434 students using concurrent validity, where the criterion was measured simultaneously with the construct. The researchers indicated that the correlation coefficient between the GWB subscale and concurrent validity scales was statistically significant and in the appropriate direction (Alagheband et al., 2013)

Operationalization of Constructs

Table 3 contains the categorization and coding of variables that will be used in this study.

Table 3

RQ	Data source	Variable type	Variable	Coding
1	Demographic form	IV	Age Gender	Age in years 0=male
			Military branch	0=Army 1=Marine Corps 2=Air Force 3=Navy
			Rank at discharge	0=Enlisted 1= Warrant officer 2=Officer
			Service type	0=Noncombat 1=Combat
	General	DV	Number of years served Number of years since discharge Self-perceived wellness total	Number of years Number of years Total score: 0–110
	Well-Being Schedule		Lower scores reflect distress, and higher scores reflect positive well- being	
			These categories will be recoded into a new variable and used for sample descriptive	
			0-60=severe distress 61-72=moderate distress 73-110=positive well-being	
2	Demographic form	IV	Service type	0=noncombat 1=combat
	General Well-Being Schedule	DV	Self-perceived wellness Lower scores reflect distress, and higher scores reflect positive well- being These categories will be recoded into a new variable and used for sample descriptive 0-60=severe distress 61-72= moderate distress 73-110= positive well-being	Total score: 0–110
	Demographic form	Covariant	Number of years since discharge	Number of years

Variables Used in Study
Data Analysis Plan

The research questions and hypotheses for this study are:

RQ1: What is the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans?

H₀1: There is no statistically significant relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans.

H_A1: There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans.

RQ2: What is the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge.

 H_A2 : There is a statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for number of years since discharge.

The data analyses I used in this study include descriptive statistics, t-Tests, multiple linear regression (RQ 1), and ANCOVA (RQ 2). The statistical analyses were processed using SPSS 24 (IBM, 2016).

The demographic data collected from participants include age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/non-combat), number of years served, and number of years since discharge. Descriptive information, including percentages in each category of variable as well as mean, median, mode, frequencies, and percentages of the variable as appropriate for each variable to illustrate the sample characteristics. In addition, I reported the categories on the GWBS (0-60=severe distress, 61-72= moderate distress, 73-110= positive well-being) and the mean for the overall sample.

While the *t*-test was not used to answer the research questions, I used *t*-tests as part of the descriptive statistics to determine if there were statistically significant differences in the dependent variable for groups within independent variables. I looked at the demographic variable of gender and the differences between males and females on the dependent variable of the total score on the GWBS. I also looked at the difference in the total score of the GWBS by rank group (enlisted/officer). I did this because service members' rank determines their position, level of authority, and pay (Morin, 2011). A person's rank at discharge may also have given them access to more information that they could use to understand the transition process and cope with the challenges of acclimatizing to a new culture and lifestyle (Redmond et al., 2015).

I checked for multicollinearity between variables using a Pearson correlation analysis. Multicollinearity is an important assumption to be tested before conducting a multiple linear regression analysis (Minitab, 2016). If two or more variables are highly correlated, then it can result in the results of the multiple linear regression being skewed (Glen, 2015b). In a dataset, multicollinearity can be found using a tolerance and its reciprocal, called variance inflation factor [VIF] (Glen, 2015b; Minitab, 2016). If the value of tolerance is less than 0.2 or 0.1 and simultaneously the value of VIF = 10 and above, it indicates that multicollinearity is a problem (Glen, 2015b). Where multicollinearity between variables was an issue, I removed one of the highly correlated variables before running the multiple linear regression.

Multiple linear regression was used to measure the relationship between the independent and dependent variables for research question 1. It was an appropriate statistical test as the dependent variable of the total score on the GWBS is a scale/linear coded variable (Dupuy, 1977). I used a hierarchical method of linear regression. It was appropriate to estimate the degree of association between the predictor variables on the dependent variable after controlling for the covariates (David, 2017; Statistics Solutions, 2020). Also, it helped to obtain a reduced set of predictor variables, thus eliminating unnecessary predictors (David, 2017; Statistics Solutions, 2020). It also helped to simplify the data, as well as to enhance predictive accuracy (David, 2017; Statistics Solutions, 2020).

The ANCOVA was used to test if there was a statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge (RQ2). It was appropriate for my research because it allowed for me to control for the variable of the number of years that a veteran has been out of the military (Glen, 2015a). It was appropriate as it can take military members time to effectively transition from the military into civilian life (Mitre Corporation, 2019). Service members face overwhelming life transitions in terms of personal, economic, and cultural challenges when separated from service. The DoD and the VA consider 365 days before the separation to 365 days after discharge a critical time when veterans are vulnerable due to the change in their personal identity and other changes to acculturate to their new environment (VA, 2020; Mitre Corporation, 2019). According to Morin (2011), 44% of post-9/11 veterans stated that they had a problematic readjustment their first year as veterans.

Threats to Validity

External Validity

Threats to external validity involve factors within a study that limit the generalization of a study's result beyond the scope of the research (Laerd Dissertation, 2012c). These factors include people, settings, situations, or periods (Siegler, 2020). The threats to external validity identified for this study are people and situational factors. The research used a convenience and snowball sampling of military veterans and limited to only veterans who served during the post-9/11-Era (Torreon, 2016). These limitations could result in an over-representation of a specific military branch of service, rank, or

service type, thus limiting the generalization of the results of the study. Another threat to validity is how the participants interpret and honestly answer the survey questions (Campbell & Stanley, 1963).

The second threat to external validity is situational factors. The participants for this survey were provided the convenience of conducting the survey on their computers and or mobile devices and in their free time. Even though this might create a good opportunity for some participants to take the survey in a conducive domain of their choice, others may not be so lucky to find a comfortable place or time to effectively complete the requested survey. Also, there are other veterans who are of lower socioeconomic status who cannot afford a personal phone or computer, veterans who are not on social media, and homeless veterans who may not have access to computers or the internet. Because data cannot be collected from these groups of veterans, it would limit the generalization of the study's results across all facets of the veteran population.

Internal Validity

The two threats identified for this study include selection bias and experimenter bias. Selection bias can threaten internal validity when research participants are not randomly selected. Due to convenience snowball sampling, and the voluntary nature of study participation, there might be differences between the veteran groups or how specific demographics are motivated to participate in the study (Stratton, 2021). Experimenter bias can also occur due to the researcher's influence on the study participants (Andrade, 2018; Laerd Dissertation, 2012a). The researcher's expectations and desires for the outcome may consciously or unconsciously affect the outcome when participants who are more likely to provide specific results are selected for the research (Laerd Dissertation, 2012a; Leiner, 2014). Even though using convenience sampling for this study limits its generalization, however, the results have a considerable level of lower external validity (Leiner, 2014).

Construct Validity

Construct validity refers to the extent to which a test or a measuring instrument tests the hypothesis or theory it was meant to measure (Ginty, 2013). The threat to construct validity for this study involves the use of only a single method of measurement for the dependent variable. Though using of only a single test measurement may create some concerns in some situations, the GWB is one of the population-based well-being measures that has been validated for measuring the well-being of the military population (Brown, 2011). It is also currently in use within the military mental health system under the psychological health and traumatic brain injury (Brown, 2011).

Ethical Procedures

The data collection protocols and procedures were submitted to the Walden University IRB for evaluation and approval. Once approval was received, the study recruitment materials were posted using the social media sites listed earlier in Chapter 3. The informed consent form indicated that the potential participant should print a copy for their records. The informed consent form outlined the purpose and potential benefits of the study. Potential participants were informed that their participation was purely voluntary, and they could discontinue their participation at any time. The informed consent form also included example items the potential participant will see in the data collection instruments and let them know that the data they provided will only be used for this study.

At the end of the informed consent form was an item asking for their consent to participate (yes/no). If the participants did not agree to the informed consent, they were made to leave the data collection tool, and they saw a page that thanked them for their time. (See Appendix C). No names or other contact information was collected as part of the data collection for the study. The data was stored on my personal computer and is password protected. It was also backed up on a removable hard drive, password protected. The removable hard drive was placed in a locked box in my study. The data would be stored for five years.

Summary

The purpose of this correlational study was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/non-combat), number of years served, number of years since discharge) and selfperceived wellness as measured by the GWBS in military veterans. A minimum of 158 military veterans from Walden's participant pool, Facebook, and LinkedIn were proposed for the sampling using snowball and convenience sampling methods. The participants were contacted through ads placed on bulletin boards and web pages of various veteran organizations. Apart from the eligibility criteria, volunteers were also screened with three items about their military service that must be consistent with the branch of service they indicated they served. Eligible participants provided their informed consent before completing the survey, which was conducted through SurveyMonkey. Upon completion, participants were asked to forward the survey to other eligible veterans they know.

Chapter 4 will include data collection, results, and a summary.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between the demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS (Dupuy, 1977) in military veterans. Also, I sought to evaluate the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not while controlling for the number of years since discharge to determine how the type of service and the length of separation may be related to wellness for transitioning veterans. The GWBS measures an individual's subjective sense of well-being and distress over a preceding month (Dupuy, 1977). The research questions and hypotheses that guided this study were the following:

RQ1: What is the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans?

H₀1: There is no statistically significant relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans.

H_A1: There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], number of years served, number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans.

RQ2: What is the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge.

 H_A2 : There is a statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge.

Chapter 4 contains a discussion of the data collection, analysis, and the results.

Data Collection

I received IRB approval on May 28, 2021 (#05-28-21-0671267). Data were collected using online platform Survey Monkey from June 1 to November 29, 2021. The survey link was reposted on Fridays of every week. Recruitment occurred per the data collection processes described in Chapter 3. A total of 300 potential participants accessed the online survey. Of the 300 potential participants, only 144 participants completed all items in the survey. The 144 full responses were used.

Even though LinkedIn veteran groups were listed as a potential site to recruit participants in Chapter 3, posting information on the sites was not allowed for nonmembers. Instead, I recruited through only the Walden University participant pool and Facebook groups. I also experienced some problems initially with Facebook because the first two accounts I created with my school email account were blocked in the first 2 weeks of the data collection. After sending several emails to Facebook administration and completing various forms without a successful outcome. I resorted to using my private Facebook account to continue my study. Some veteran groups were also restrictive about what was posted on their page. In some veteran groups, the survey content had to be verified and approved by their administrative personnel before it was allowed to be posted on their page. On October 1, 2021, I requested a change in procedure from the IRB to post flyers in my military community to allow local veterans who may not have seen the survey online to be aware of it and participate. I also wanted to add more veteran sites to increase participation. I received the IRB letter of approval on October 7, 2021, to proceed with the changes.

On November 29, 2021, I reached out to my chair and let her know that I had only been able to obtain full responses from 144 participants. The other members of my committee were consulted, and it was determined that 6 months was enough time, and I had enough responses to move on with data analyses. The number of participants to ensure appropriate statistical power was calculated in Chapter 3. A medium effect size (0.25), alpha of .05, and power of .80 were used in calculating ANCOVA sample size, resulting in a sample size of 158 needed. I calculated the resulting statistical power for an ANCOVA with 144 participants using a large effect size (0.25) and alpha of .05 (same used in Chapter 3). The statistical power for this sample size for the ANCOVA was 0.93.

Some data were missing for some of the participants in the demographic characteristics, such as age, the number of years served, and the number of years since discharged. However, the missing data were few and thus not enough to be detrimental to the analyses. The data were cleaned and analyzed using SPSS Version 27.

Descriptive Statistics

Sample Demographics

The demographic characteristics of the participants included age, gender, branch of service, rank status at discharge, service type, number of years served, and number of years since discharge (see Table 2). Most participants were male (56.7%), served in the Army (72.2%), were enlisted personnel (85.4%), and had been in combat (56.9%). The majority were between ages 50 and 59 (37.5%), and the groups with the highest percentage in relation to how long they served in the military were between 6 and 10 years (26.4%) or 21 and 25 years (26.4%).

These sample demographics matched the overall population reported in Chapter 3 in terms of gender, branch of service, and service type. The number of male veterans (15.78 million) in the overall population is larger than the number of female veterans (1.64 million; Statista Research Department, 2019). Army veterans are twice the number of those who serve in the other military branches (VA, 2020). Likewise, enlisted personnel in the overall military veteran population are more than twice the number of

warrant officers and officers (VA, 2020). Therefore, the demographics of my sample mirrored that of the overall military veteran population.

Table 4

Demographics of Sample (n=144)

Variable	Category (years)	Percent (n)
Age (M=45.76)	18–29	4.2(6)
	30–39	22.9(33)
	40-49	27.8(40)
	50-59	37.5(54)
	60+	5.5(8)
	Missing	2.1(3)
Gender	Male	56.9(82)
	Female	43.1(62)
Military branch	Army	72.2(104)
-	Marine Corps	4.2(6)
	Air Force	14.6(21)
	Navy	9.0(13)
Rank at discharge	Enlisted	85.4(123)
-	Warrant officer	3.5(5)
	Officer	11.1(16)
Service type	Noncombat	43.1(62)
51	Combat	56.9(82)
Years served (M=16.56)	0-5	10.4(15)
	6-10	26.4(38)
	11-15	10.4(15)
	16–20	9.7(14)
	21–25	26.4(38)
	25+	16.0(23)
	Missing	.7(1)
Years since discharge	0-5	30.6(44)
(M=11.58)	6-10	35.4(51)
	11–15	21.5(31)
	16–20	8.3(12)
	21–25	.7(1)
	25+	0(0)
	Missing	3.5(5)

GWBS

Distribution of Scores. The GWBS scale was used to measure general well-being and is used to determine anxiety, depression, general health, positive well-being, selfcontrol, and vitality (Dupuy, 1977). The frequencies for each of the items on the instrument can be found in Appendix E. Most of the participants (59.7%) were in the severe distress category, while 20.1% were in the moderate well-being category and 20.1% were in the positive well-being category (see Table 5).

Table 5

General Well-Being Schedule Scale Total Scores (n=144; M=54.42)

Category based on total score	Percent (n)
Positive well-being (73–110)	20.1 (29)
Moderate well-being (61-72)	20.1 (29)
Severe distress (0–60)	59.7 (86)

GWBS Reliability Analyses. Table 6 contains the reliability analysis results for the total score and each subscale. The standardized internal consistency of the GWBS total score was high (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.926$). The acceptable values of alpha range from 0.70 to 0.95, and all but two subscales were in this range (Tayakol & Dennick, 2011).

Table 6

Scale	Items	Standardized a
GWB total score	18 items	.926
Anxiety	2, 5 8, 16	.885
Depression	4, 12, 18	.858
Positive well-being	1, 6, 11	.829
Self-control	3, 7, 13	630
Vitality	9, 14, 17	.866
General health	10, 15	.698

Reliability Statistics for GWBS Total and Subscales

Two subscales, self-control (-.630) and general health (.698), did not meet the reliability standard of 0.70 (Glen, 2014). General health (.698) was right at the lower acceptable value (.70), so was close to meeting the standard. However, self-control had a negative value (-.630). Various researchers have interpreted a low value for alpha to indicate an insufficient number of questions in a test, poor interrelatedness of the items, or heterogeneous constructs (Glen, 2014; Tavakol & Dennick, 2011).

To address the negative value for the self-control subscale, I checked the online survey platform setup. The coding was verified to be correct, so there was no error with the original setup and coding. The data set imported to SPSS was also checked, and no error was found. The SPSS output of Question 13 also matched the raw data responses for this item in SurveyMonkey. The inconsistencies in this item may be related to the sample who participated in this study and will be discussed in the limitations and recommendations for future research sections in Chapter 5. Because the overall reliability test result falls within the acceptable values, it demonstrates that the GWBS is a reliable instrument to answer the research questions for this study.

Results

An independent *t*-test analysis was completed to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in GWB total score between male and female participants. Equal variances were assumed as Levene's test for equality of variances was not statistically significant (p = .715). There were no statistically significant differences (t(142) = .084, p = .933) between male participants (M = 54.55) and female participants (M = 54.26) in total GWB score (see Table 7).

Table 7

Differences in General Well-B Total Score by Gender

	Б	Sig	+	df	Sig.(2-	Mean	Std. error	95%	C.I.
	Г	Sig	ι	u	tailed)	diff.	diff.	Lower	Upper
Equal									
variances	.133	.715	.084	142	.933	.291	3.441	6 5 1 1	7.092
assumed								0.311	
Equal									
variances			084	126 324	033	201	3 175	-	7 167
not			.004	120.324	.955	.291	5.475	6.586	/.10/
assumed									

An independent *t*-test analysis was completed to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in GWBS total score between enlisted and officers. Equal variances were assumed as Levene's test for equality of variances was not statistically significant (p = .178). There were statistically significant differences (t(137) = -2.67, p = .008) between enlisted (M = 52.20) and officers (M = 66.31) in total GWBS score (see Table 8).

Table 8

				df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean diff.	Std. error diff.	95% C.I.	
	F	Sig	t					Lower	Upper
Equal variances assumed	1.833	.178	-2.670	137	.008	-14.117	5.287	-24.572	-3.663
Equal variances not assumed			-3.425	23.249	.002	-14.117	4.122	-22.640	-5.595

Differences in General Well-Being Schedule Total Score by Rank

Research Question 1, Multiple Linear Regression

Assumptions

A multiple linear regression has eight assumptions that must be met (or mitigated) to conduct multiple regression analyses.

Assumption 1 is that the dependent variable should be measured on a continuous scale (Laerd Statistics, 2018a; Open University, n.d.). The GWBS is measured using Likert scales, which are continuous in nature (0–6), and the total score is also continuous (Dupuy, 1977). Assumption 1 is met.

Assumption 2 is that a multiple linear regression requires two or more independent variables, which can be either continuous or categorical (Laerd Statistics, 2018a; Open University, n.d.). The independent variables for RQ1 were age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type, years served, and years since discharge. These are all either continuously or categorically measured, so Assumption 2 is met.

Assumption 3 is independence of observations. This assumption was checked using Durbin-Watson's statistic to test that the residuals were independent (Laerd Statistics, 2019; Open University, n.d.). The statistic ranges from 0 to 4 (Laerd Statistics, 2018a; Open University, n.d.). Assumption 3 is met when the value is close to 2 (Open University, n.d.). The Durbin-Watson value for this test was .807, which did not meet the assumption. However, using the table of Durbin-Watson test bounds, the value of the Durbin-Watson statistic falls below the lower bound at a 0.01 significance level, providing strong evidence that error terms are positively correlated (Penn State University, n.d.). Because this assumption is not met, it can be considered as a limitation, and the results need to be interpreted carefully.

Table 9

Durbin-Watson Results (Assumption 3)

Model H	P	R square	Adjusted R	Std. error of	Durbin-
	K	K square	square	the estimate	Watson
1	.394	.155	.117	19.142	.807

Assumption 4 is that there must be a linear relationship between the variables (Laerd Statistics, 2018a; Open University, n.d.). Scatterplots were produced for each of the independent variables and the dependent variable. The scatterplots showed that the assumption was met for each of the variables in relation to the total GWBS score.

Scatterplot of Total Score and Age



Figure 3

Scatterplot of Total Score and Number of Years Served







Figure 5

Scatterplot of Total Score and Branch of Service





Scatterplot of Total Score and Rank Status at Discharge

Figure 7







Scatterplot of Total Score and Years Since Discharge

Assumption 5 is that the data must show homoscedasticity, meaning that the variance of the residuals is constant (Laerd Statistics, 2018a). A special scatterplot was plotted for the whole model, where the standardized predicted values were plotted against the standardized residuals obtained (see figure 8). The graph showed a random array of dots without any sign of funneling, which met the homoscedasticity. The graph reveals a random array of dots which indicates that the variation on the residuals is similar at each point of the model.

A Graph of the Independent and Dependent Variables Showing Homoscedasticity



Assumption 6: Multicollinearity which means that the predictors must not be highly correlated with one another (Laerd Statistics, 2018a). The assumption was tested using a Pearson's correlation (See table 10). The highest correlation was .780 (age and years served; Table 10), which indicates multicollinearity between these variables. It makes sense that as military members get older, they will accumulate more years of experience. The value is high enough of a correlation to remove age from the multiple linear regression for RQ 1 and leave years of experience.

Table 10

		GWBS total score	Age	Gender	Branch of service	Discharge rank	Service type	Years served	Years since discharge
tion	GWBS total score	1.000							
ela	Age	.121	1.000						
IIO	Gender	008	143	1.000					
urson e	Branch of service	.190	052	.170	1.000				
Pea	Discharge rank	.226	.205	.010	073	1.000			
	Service type	-0121	.081	378	245	.002	1.000		
	Years served	.209	.780	170	139	.235	.210	1.000	
	Years since discharge	.109	.294	.081	.230	077	199	198	1.00

Correlations, Multicollinearity Assumption Testing

The highest VIF score was 5.619 (Table 11), and it needs to be below 10 to establish that multicollinearity is not an issue (Open University, n.d.). It confirms the results of the Pearson's correlation. However, because of the high correlation between age and years served, age will be removed from the model, and years served will remain.

Table 11

Coefficients

Model	Unstand Coeff B Std.	lardized icients . Error	Standardized Coefficients Beta	Т	Sig.	Collinearit Tolerar	y Statistics nce VIF
(Constant)	79.367	11.887		6.677	.000		
Age	1.469	.417	-646	-3.524	.001	.178	5.619
Gender	-3.461	3.439	-0.85	-1.007	.316	.835	1.197
Branch of service	3.207	1.584	.166	2.025	.045	.887	1.127
Rank at discharge	6.956	2.532	.220	2.747	.007	.930	1.075
Service type	5799	3.549	-142	-1.634	.105	.790	1.266
Years served	1.811	.413	.781	4.389	.000	.189	5.297
Years since discharge	1.664	.481	.411	3.457	.001	.423	2.364

Assumption 7 is that there should be no significant outliers, leverages, and influential points. This assumption was tested using Cook's Distance (Laerd Statistics, 2018a; Open University, n.d.). Cook's Distance statistics for each participant were not over 1. The result indicated that this assumption was met.

Assumption 8 is that the residuals must be normally distributed (Laerd Statistics, 2018a; Open University, n.d.). The P-P plot showed that the dots lie on the diagonal line, which indicates that the residuals are normally distributed, indicating that the assumption was met.





Multiple Linear Regression

A multiple linear regression was conducted to determine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/non-combat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the *GWBS* in military veterans. I utilized a hierarchical multiple regression model (as indicated in chapter 3). As indicated in assumption 6 (multicollinearity) above, the independent variable of age was removed from the model as it was highly correlated with the number of years served.

The R² of the multiple regression model with the included variables (gender, branch of service, rank at discharge, service type, number of years served, and number of years since discharge) indicated that approximately 16% of the variance (R² = 0.157, F(6,132) = 4.091, p = .001) in the dependent variable of self-perceived wellness (as measured by the *GWBS* total score. While branch of service (*B*=3.706, *p*<.05), rank (*B*=6.096, *p*<.05), and years served (*B*=.552, *p*<.05), were all related to self-perceived wellness (as measured by the total score) at statistically significant levels (see Table 12). However, gender (B=-2.377, p=.51), service type (B=-5.068, p=.17), and years since discharge (B=.427, p=.22) were not related to self-perceived wellness at statistically significant levels. Because some of the variables were related to the dependent variable at statistically significant levels, the null hypothesis is partially rejected.

Table 12

	Unstanda	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			95.0% Confidence Interval		
Model	coefficie		Beta	t	Sig	Lower Bou	nd Upper Bound		
	B Std. E	rror							
(Constant)	42.189	5.935		7.109	.000	30.450	53.929		
Gender	-2.377	3.572	058	665	.507	-9.442	4.689		
Branch of service	3.706	1.647	.190	2.250	.026	.448	6.964		
Rank (status) at	6.096	2.633	.191	2.315	.022	.888	11.304		
discharge									
Service type	-5.068	3.695	124	-1.371	.173	-12.377	2.242		
Years served	.552	.200	.236	2.759	.007	.156	.949		
Years since discharge	.427	.344	.104	1.240	.217	254	1.108		

RQ 1 Multiple Regression Results

Table 13

Model Summary

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R	Std. Error of
			Square	the Estimate
1	.394	.157	.118	19.108

RQ 2 (Analysis of Covariance)

What is the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and non-combat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge?

Assumptions

An analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) has nine assumptions that need to be met (or mitigated) to conduct the ANCOVA. Below are the results of the assumption testing for research question 2.

Assumption 1 is that the dependent variable and covariate variables should be measured on a continuous scale (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). The *General Wellbeing Schedule* is measured using a total score that is continuous (Dupuy, 1977). Likewise, the covariate (years served) is also continuous. Assumption is met.

Assumption 2 is that an ANCOVA must have two or more categorical independent groups (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). The categorical group for research question 2 is service type. This variable is categorically measured, which meets the assumption.

Assumption 3 is independence of observations. Which indicates that there is no relationship between the observations in each group or between groups (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). In ANCOVA, this mostly relates to the study design, and it does not require a statistical test (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). For example, combat and non-combat veterans must be in separate groups with no participant being in more than one group. This assumption is met.

Assumption 4 is that there should be no significant outliers. Outliers have negative effects on an ANCOVA because they reduce the validity of the results (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). This assumption can be tested in SPSS statistics when running a oneway ANCOVA, and possible outliers can be detected (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). The results indicated that there were no outliers (Figure 11). This assumption was met.

Boxplot for Service Type



Assumption 5 states that the residuals should be normally distributed for each category of the independent variable (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). This assumption can be violated to a degree without invalidating the results (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). Normality can be statistically tested in SPSS using the Shapiro-Wilk test (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). The results were above p = 05 (Tables below), which indicated that the assumption was met.

Table 14

Test of	Normal	lity for 1	Service	Type
---------	--------	------------	---------	------

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov				Shapiro-Wilk			
	Service type	Statistics	df	Sig.	statistics	df	Sig.	
Total score	Non-combat	.075	62	.200	.985	62	.634	
	Combat	.057	82	.200	.994	82	.962	

Assumption 6 states that there must be homogeneity of variances. This assumption can be tested in SPSS using Levene's test for homogeneity of variances (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). Equal variances can be assumed if p > 0.05 (Marshall, n.d.). In

the Table below, the p-values were all greater than 0.05, which indicates that the assumption was met.

Table 15

Tests of Homogeneity of Variances for Type of Service

		Levene	df1	df2	Sig.
		statistics			
Total score	Based on mean	2.601	1	142	.109
	Based on median	2.569	1	142	.111
	Based on median and with adjusted df	2.569	1	139.068	.111
	Based on trimmed mean	2.633	1	142	.107

Assumption 7 states that the covariate and dependent variable (at each level of the independent variable) should be linearly related (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). Table 16 (p > .05) below indicates there is no statistically significant correlations between the covariate and the dependent variable because it is not statistically significant. As a result, it can be considered as a violation of the assumption.

Where there is a nonlinear relationship, the adjustments made in the ANCOVA will be biased (Northern Arizona University, n.d.). However, the magnitude of the bias depends on the degree of departure from linearity (Northern Arizona University, n.d.). To analyze the nature of the relationship between the dependent variable (DV) and covariate, a scatterplot and an ANOVA on the covariate were conducted (Northern Arizona University, n.d.). The scatterplot in Figure 12 reveals that there is not much of a relationship between the DV and the covariate. The fit line on the graph is almost horizontal, and the r-square is also low at R^2 Linear = 0.011. The output of the ANOVA

also reveals a relationship that is not statistically significant at F(5, 138) = 1.117, p =

.354. Therefore, I can conduct the ANCOVA as planned.

Figure 12

Scatterplot of Total Score by The Number of Years Since Discharge



Table 16

ANOVA

Total score	Sum of	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
	squares				
Between groups	2307.952	5	461.590	1.117	.354
Within groups	57041.208	138	413.342		
Total	59349.160	143			

Table 17

Correlations

		Years since discharged
Total Score	Pearson correlation	.107
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.212
	N	139

Assumption 8 states that there must be homoscedasticity which refers to whether the residuals are equally distributed or if they are clustered together at some values and spread far at other values (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). This assumption was tested using SPSS by plotting a scatterplot of the standardized residuals against the predicted values. The results in Figure 13 indicate that the residual values are uniformly distributed without no cluster forming. This assumption is met.

Figure 13

Scatterplot of the Standardized Residuals and the Predicted Values



Assumption 9 states that there must be homogeneity of regression slopes, meaning that the slopes for the dependent variable and covariate are homogenous with interactions between the dependent variable and the covariate that are not statistically significant (Laerd Statistics, 2018b). This test was conducted in SPSS under the Univariate model to get an interaction effect between the covariate and the independent variable. The output revealed a relationship between the covariate and the independent variables that was not statistically significant (p = .522). This indicates that this assumption is met.

ANCOVA

An analysis of covariance was conducted to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the *GWBS* between combat veterans and non-combat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge. The mean total score measured by the *GWBS*, when controlling for the number of years since discharge, for combat veterans was 52.924, and non-combat veterans was 57.170. However, there was no statistically significant difference in those mean scores on (F(1, 136) = 1.429, p=.234; see table 18) between the service types (combat and non-combat). Therefore, the null hypothesis is retained.

Table 18

ANCOVA Res	ults
------------	------

Dependent Variable: Total Score							
(I) Service	(J) Service	Mean	Std. error	Sig.	95% Confidence interval for difference		
type	type	difference					
		(I-J)			Lower bou	nd Upper bound	
Non-combat	Combat	4.246	3.552	.234	-2.777	11.270	
Combat	Non-	-4.246	3.552	.234	-11.270	2.777	
	combat						

Summary

The purpose of this study was to determine the (RQ 1) relationship between the demographic characteristics and the self-perceived wellness of military veterans as measured by the *GWBS*, as well as to (RQ 2) evaluate the difference in self-perceived wellness between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not while

controlling for the number of years since discharge. The results for RQ 1 indicated that branch of service, rank at discharge, and the years served were all related to selfperceived wellness of military veterans (as measured by the *GWBS* total score). However, gender, service type (combat/noncombat), and years since discharge were not related to the self-perceived wellness of military veterans. Because some of the variables were related to the dependent variable at statistically significant levels, the null hypothesis is partially rejected. The results for research question 2 revealed that there was no statistically significant difference in self-perceived wellness between those veterans who served in combat versus those who did not while controlling for years since discharge. In chapter 5, I will discuss the interpretation of the findings, limitations, recommendations, and implications of the study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The intent of this quantitative, correlational study of a cross-sectional nature was to examine the relationship between demographic characteristics (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/noncombat], years served, and years since discharge) and self-perceived wellness measured by the GWBS in military veterans. In addition, I studied the difference in self-perceived wellness as measured by the GWBS between combat veterans and noncombat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge. By having a better understanding of these topics, additional information can be provided to those who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to assist them in individualizing these programs based on veteran characteristics.

For RQ1, the results of the multiple linear regression indicated that some of the variables (branch of service, B = 3.706, p = .026; rank at discharge, B = 6.096, p = .022; and years served, B = .552, p = .007) were related at statistically significant levels to veterans' self-perceived wellness. Thus, the null hypothesis was partially rejected. For RQ2, the results of the ANCOVA indicated that the difference in self-perceived wellness between combat and noncombat veterans was not statistically significant (F(1, 136) = 1.429, p = .234). As a result, the null hypothesis was retained. Chapter 5 includes an interpretation of the findings and a discussion of the study's limitations, recommendations, and implications.

Interpretation of the Findings

Interpretation of Findings in Relation to Theoretical Framework

MTT was used to explain how veterans approach, experience, and assess the different stages of transition (Castro & Kintzle, 2014). The theorists postulated that the interacting and overlapping of certain factors, such as individual, community, and military organizational issues, could impact military transition. When veterans approach the transition process, they are faced with personal, cultural, and transitional factors they must address in the first phase of leaving the military (Castro & Kintzle, 2014).

I used MTT to set the foundation to understand the different levels involved in the transition process. My findings are related to MTT in that military/cultural factors, such as military skills, military identity, and military discharge status, can affect the well-being of veterans. The monumental challenge for veterans can be their separation from active duty and losing their status as military personnel (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Kintzle & Castro, 2018; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). When veterans face changes in multiple areas of their lives and leave behind everything they know (military branch, rank, and years of service), this corresponds to the factors I studied in relation to veterans' self-perceived well-being (Castro & Kintzle, 2014).

Even though transition challenges can be overwhelming and stressful due to the changes involved, they can also create opportunities for growth and lead to positive wellbeing if adequately managed (Carlos, 2018). Some researchers have found that despite the demographic characteristics of veterans, positive outcomes or a successful transition
is based on veterans' willingness to achieve a better future after the military and be successful, productive members of society (Blackburn, 2016; Pedlar et al., 2018).

Interpretation Related to Descriptive Statistic Results

The results of the *t*-test analysis to determine the difference in the general wellbeing between male and female veterans indicated there was not a statistically significant difference (t(142) = .084, p = .933) between male participants (M = 54.55) and female participants (M = 54.26). Other researchers have found that male veterans have more difficulties accepting and adapting to the changes resulting from transition, so I expected a statistically significant difference between the genders, and I expected the difference to be greater than it was (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020; Zogas, 2017). Male veterans may have difficulty adapting to their change in status due to the lack of authority and respect that they received as military members (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020; Zogas, 2017). My result could be due to the individuals in my sample, but because this finding does not align with previous research, this should continue to be studied by other researchers.

The independent *t*-test analysis to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in the general well-being between those who were enlisted (M = 52.20) and officers (M = 66.31) was statistically significant (t(137) = -2.67, p = .008). My results support previous researchers' findings that higher-ranking individuals are more resilient than junior-ranking individuals (Mitchell et al., 2013). This resiliency related to the transition and well-being can be seen in the mean well-being score for officers being 14.12 points higher than those who were enlisted personnel.

Interpretation Related to RQ1 Results

The results of RQ1 indicate that the overall regression model was significant F (6, 132) = 4.10, p < .001, $R^2 = .16$. This indicates that, as a group, the demographic characteristics of veterans predict their self-perceived wellness significantly. When the predictors were evaluated individually, branch of service, with a p-value of (B = 3.706, p = .026) is a significant predictor of wellness; rank at discharge with a p value of (B = 6.096, p = .022) is a significant predictor of wellness; and number of years served at p value (B = .552, p = .007). This result indicates that branch of service, rank at discharge, and number of years served offer unique contributions to the self-perceived wellness of veterans.

Military identity has been found to be tied to things like the branch served in the military (Carlos, 2018; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018), the rank achieved (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018), and years of service (Elnitsky et al., 2017); my results support these findings. When an individual's identity is no longer tied to these things, a veteran can experience a sense of emptiness and an existential crisis that can be related to well-being (Keeling, 2018). A veteran's change from being identified by their military accomplishments and service can be internalized as a loss of status because their military experiences, status, and achievements are not valued the same in civilian society (Keeling, 2018; Smith & True, 2014). Veterans must navigate and interpret how to adapt to these changes and determine how they identify in their civilian life (Keeling, 2018; Smith & True, 2014).

Gender (B = -2.377, p = .507), service type (combat/noncombat; B = -5.068, p = .173) and number of years since discharge (B = .427, p = .217) were not related to self-

perceived wellness at statistically significant levels in RQ1. MTT asserts that transitions are innately complex for all veterans due to the changes in relationships, employment, support network, and personal and social identity (Kintzle & Castro, 2018). Combinations of factors (individual and environmental) may explain veterans' different experiences transitioning from military to civilian life (Kintzle & Castro, 2018).

Interpretation Related to RQ2 Results

The mean total score measured by the GWBS, when controlling for number of years since discharge for combat veterans was 52.924 and for noncombat veterans was 57.170, with a difference of 4.246 (combat veterans had a lower mean well-being score); this finding supports previous research. The mean values are adjusted with the number of years since discharge value, which means that as the number of years since discharge increases, combat veterans' well-being improves. There was also a nonsignificant difference in wellness [F(1, 136) = 1.43, p = .234] between the service type (combat/noncombat) while adjusting for number of years since discharge. According to MTT, experiencing deployments to combat areas and later transitions to civilian life are more difficult than veteran transitions (Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Elnitsky et al., 2017). Experiencing combat intensifies the trauma, and stressors of deployment affect veterans because they bear the physical and or emotional scars of battle (Castro, 2018; Parker et al., 2019).

Researchers have also found that exposure to combat environments makes veterans more susceptible to mental health problems and sometimes changes how they view the world and themselves (Bowes et al., 2017; Elnitsky et al., 2017; Markowitz et al., 2019, Vogt et al., 2017). The traumatic experiences suffered by combat veterans can affect their overall transition and how they successfully readjust to new lives in the community (Ahren et al., 2015; New Direction for Veterans, 2020). While I did not ask participants about their level of combat engagement, this is an important finding; the difference supports previous research, although not at a statistically significant level.

Interpretation of Findings in Relation to Literature Reviewed

Interpretation Related to Descriptive Statistic Results

The results of the *t*-test analysis to determine the difference in the general wellbeing of male and female veterans indicated no statistically significant differences (t(142)= .084, p = .933) between genders: male participants (M = 54.55) compared with female participants (M = 54.26). This result contradicts prior researchers who found the male and female veteran transition experience and well-being different due to gender differences (Fletcher et al., 2022; Thomas et al., 2015).

National Veterans' Training Institute (2021) reported that women describe their transition back to civilian life as very difficult due to a lack of preparation on various aspects of their transition. As a result, women experience unique challenges and gaps in transition, care, and employment as opposed to men (National Veterans' Training Institute, 2021). Thomas et al. (2015) and Fletcher et al. (2022) found that female veterans, as opposed to male veterans, are hindered by factors such as financial hardship, family responsibilities, and lack of support, affecting their wellness. Likewise, Fletcher et al. (2022) found that post service women were more concerned about discrimination, military sexual trauma, stigma, alienation, and reporting barriers than men were. I found the opposite in that the differences were not statistically significant, so this is an area that should continue to be studied. As more women serve in more varied roles and environments, this may mean that women and men are more alike than previous researchers have found.

The results of my second independent *t*-test analysis conducted to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in the general well-being (as measured by the GWBS) between enlisted personnel and officers indicated there were statistically significant differences (t(137) = -2.67, p = .008) between enlisted personnel (M = 52.20) and officers (M = 66.31). This result supports prior researchers who argued that military rank can be an important factor in determining the severity of PTSD and depression in veterans (Blackburn & Owen, 2015; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Blackburn and Owen (2015) found that enlisted personnel experience higher symptoms severity than officers. The researchers also found that enlisted personnel have a lower degree of control over their environment and deployment decisions, unlike military officers who are often in charge of military operations and personnel (Blackburn & Owen, 2015). Thus, enlisted personnel are sometimes subjected to a higher level of combat exposure than officers are, which may be related to well-being (Blackburn & Owen, 2015).

Interpretation Related to RQ 1 Results

I found significant relationship $F(6, 132) = 4.10, p < .001, R^2 = .16$ between the demographic characteristics of veterans [branch of service (B=3.706, p = .026), rank at discharge (B=6.096, p = .022), the number of years served (B=.552, p = .007)], and their self-perceived wellness (as measured by the *GWBS*). The result of my RQ1 supports the

findings of previous researchers who found that leaving the military is difficult for some veterans (Ahren et al., 2015; Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Elliot et al., 2016; Jones, 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Researchers found that some veterans find it challenging to cope with the unstructured and unsupportive civilian culture, and the problems they experience upon military separation inevitably have a drastic effect on their well-being (Ahren et al., 2015; Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Elliot et al., 2016; Jones, 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Zogas (2017) and Castro (2018) found that when service members join a military branch of service, they become a part of a value-based institution where they are trained in unique skills, and they acquire technical knowledge to operate and perform in extremely high-stakes situations using specialized institutional language. In the early stages of joining the service, members are taught the importance of teamwork, a hierarchical form of command, and leadership.

Elnitsky et al. (2017) also found that service members' time in service is crucial because being a part of the military gives its members a sense of identity and values, and they are often emotionally invested in their units. Xue et al. (2015) and Oster et al. (2017) also found that veterans' time in service profoundly impacts their mental, physical, and social well-being due to their military obligations. Likewise, some researchers found that the longer veterans stay in service, the more difficult it is for them to acculturate to civilian identities and relate in the civilian environment to the people, the culture, and the lifestyle (Atuel & Castro, 2018; Castro et al., 2014; Elnitsky et al., 2017; Keeling, 2018; Kintzle et al., 2015). Entering the civilian environment can leave military veterans feeling disconnected and disoriented due to the tensions between their military and their new

civilian identities (Elnitsky et al., 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). This can result in lowered wellness when individuals initially make this transition, but it would make sense that their wellness could increase the longer they are back in the civilian world.

While I did not do a longitudinal study where I measured wellness at different points after leaving the military, and I did not find that time since discharge was related to wellness at a statistically significant level, I did find that years in the service were related to wellness at a statistically significant level. It could mean the time in service allowed service members to have a sense of culture, community, identity, and purpose (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2017). Future researchers can conduct longitudinal studies evaluating the wellness of veterans at the beginning of their transition process and at the end. The transition process is defined as 365 days before separation and 365 days after separation (Mitre Corporation, 2019). It is considered a critical time to enable a smooth transition to civilian life (Mitre Corporation, 2019)

Veterans' rank at discharge can sometimes be related to self-perceived wellness because different ranks may have a different understanding of the transition process and how they can effectively be prepared for their future after leaving service (Redmond et al., 2015). Castro et al. (2014), Scherrer et al. (2014), and Mitre Corporation (2019) found that veterans' rank at discharge and their level of education sometimes define their stress level during the transition process because of the hierarchical authority in the military and the lower degree of control enlisted personnel have (Castro et al., 2014; Mitre Corporation, 2019; Scherrer et al., 2014). I also found that rank at discharge was related to wellness at a statistically significant level, so my results supported the work of these researchers.

My results also indicated relationships that were not statistically significant between gender (B = -2.377, p = .507), service type (combat/non-combat; B = -5.068, p = .173), the number of years since discharge (B = .427, p = .217), and wellness of military veterans. These findings contradict earlier findings that revealed that premature separation, reintegration, and readjustment affect the well-being of both male and female veterans (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Dichter & True, 2015; Eichler, 2017). Earlier researchers found that women veterans experience more mental health problems after discharge and are more prone to homelessness than their male counterparts (Burkhart & Hogan, 2015; Byrne, Montgomery, & Dichter, 2013). It is also reported that female veterans are less susceptible to substance abuse and hearing problems than males (Hoggart et al., 2015; Theodoroff et al., 2015).

My findings also contradict researchers who indicated that life in the armed forces (combat/noncombat) could result in differences in the wellness of veterans due to the nature of their daily activities, military-related traumatic stress, combat experience, and exposure (Mitre Corporation, 2019; Oster et al., 2017; Scherrer et al., 2014). The time after military discharge can be challenging for veterans due to the personal, economic, and cultural changes they experience as they transition to being civilians (Mitre Corporation, 2019). Further studies can evaluate the challenges different veterans face based on the number of deployments, geographical locations, age, and rank.

Interpretation Related to RQ 2 Results

The result of my RQ 2 indicated that there were no statistically significant differences in the self-perceived wellness between combat and noncombat veterans (F(1,136) = 1.429, p = .23). It supports the findings of McLaughlin et al. (2008), who indicated no differences in the healthy soldier effect in combat and noncombat veterans. However, this result contradicts other researchers that found that combat exposure is detrimental to veterans' health and well-being because of the physical and psychological traumas veterans experience during and after deployments (Elnitsky et al., 2017; Oster et al., 2017; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Other researchers explained that combat deployments result in mental health illnesses that remain with veterans long after being discharged from service (Bowes et al., 2017; Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Gettings et al., 2019). Further researchers can provide an in-depth analysis of how combat/non-combat veterans differ in terms of combat or no combat exposure, the number of deployments, and the location of deployments. An understanding and recognition of these differences may facilitate the early identification and provision of necessary support to aid veterans' wellness.

Limitations of the Study

The main barrier I expected was getting enough participants (n = 158) to meet the calculated statistical power. Due to some challenges, I encountered with the Facebook accounts I created for the study and the restriction of some veteran groups, I requested a change in procedure from the IRB to post flyers in my military community to create awareness for the study and allow local veterans to participate. I also added more veteran

sites to increase participation. After six months of data collection, 300 potential participants accessed the online survey, but only 144 of them completed all the items in the survey. I recalculated the resulting statistical power for an ANCOVA with the 144 participants using the same effect size and alpha to ensure appropriate statistical power. The statistical power for the 144 exact sizes for the ANCOVA was 0.93, which was an acceptable statistical power for the study (Laerd Statistics, 2018b).

An identified threat to external validity remained because I only recruited participants who served in the post-9/11 era and not those who served in other eras. Post-9/11 era veterans since October 2001 are considered a new generation of veterans because they are younger, more racially diverse, and include more women than in other military eras (VA, 2018a; Zogas, 2017). Nonetheless, 43% of the total participants were older veterans over 50. Therefore, future researchers should include other service eras to compare how transitions affect different "generations" of veterans in relation to wellness.

I attempted to widen the characteristics of my sample by posting flyers in my community to create awareness for veterans who may not have seen the survey online or who did not have a computer of their own to participate (they could use a computer in the library or other public access). I believe that my efforts increased participation from June 2021, thus increasing the number of individuals in the sample and, hopefully, generalization of the study results. However, the efforts conducted in a specific Army military community may have also caused an over-representation of a specific branch of service over others because the demographics of the participants indicated that over 72% of the total participants were Army veterans. There could also be response bias where the participants consciously or unconsciously attempt to make themselves look better when answering the survey questions (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). I attempted to mitigate this response bias by letting the participants know through the recruitment materials and informed consent that their responses would be anonymous. Providing anonymity in surveys can help reduce response bias because it promotes more honest self-disclosure among the participants with specific experiences and encourages participants who might otherwise be reluctant to participate (Murdoch et al., 2014). Response bias may still have occurred, but I attempted to limit it as much as possible.

A limitation related to data analysis results was found that should be considered when interpreting the results. It includes the negative value for the self-control subscale. The inconsistency (negative value) of the self-control subscale of the *GWBS* may have affected the total score and the overall results of the analyses. The result of the Durbin-Watson was also a concern because it was less than 1 (.807) and not closer to 2 (Open University, n.d.). It is important when considering the results as a representation of the population. As mentioned in my chapter 3, I used purposive sampling to gather specific information and data necessary to answer the research questions that would not have been possible with probability sampling methods. Also, one of the assumptions of the ANCOVA was violated because the data analyses showed a very low linear relationship (R^2 linearity = .011) between the dependent variable and the covariate (Northern Arizona University, n.d.). Even though it indicates a low positive relationship between veterans' self-perceived wellness and the number of years since discharge, it is also a relationship that was not statistically significant based on the result of the ANOVA F(5, 138) = 1.117, p = .354. As such, it can be considered a possible limitation.

Recommendations

This study's strengths lie in using the validated measuring instrument (Rampersad, 2017) that was specific to the research topic and in locating hard-to-reach participants. For future exploration, several approaches should be taken to identify factors that hinder the wellness of veterans. The research should be open to all United States military veterans, irrespective of their era. It is recommended for the researchers to examine the participants based on era, age, service type, and other factors. Recruitment notices can also be expanded to other social media platforms such as Instagram, Snapchat, Twitter, and local veteran groups in the community and surrounding cities. Researchers could also seek the assistance of the local VA in recruiting veterans.

Additional research also needs to be conducted to examine other demographic characteristics of veterans that could be related to their well-being, such as discharge status, income, and marital status, as well as examine veterans' personal characteristics that contribute to their vulnerabilities as indicated by MTT. Various researchers have revealed that military training and military life instills a strong military identity, values, and norms in the minds of military veterans, creating more challenges and additional demands on veterans (Castro, 2018; Jacco Duel et al., 2018; Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). Thus, leaving the military without adequate preparation, veterans might be hindered by a lack of life skills, negative coping strategies, help-seeking behavior, and gender and minority issues (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). These factors could be related to the outcome of

veterans' transition and their wellness (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). An investigation into these factors would highlight problem areas and possible solutions.

Future researchers can further examine how service type (combat/non-combat) and how genders interact and mediate or moderate wellness. Also, they could evaluate the physical wellbeing of combat/non-combat veterans in relation to their military roles. Stevelink et al. (2015) explained that the physical health of veterans is connected to their mental health and social well-being. Thus, a more focused inquiry would provide a more comprehensive result to assist future veterans.

Furthermore, apart from the veterans' demographic characteristics that influence their well-being, researchers have found that other factors that affect veterans' lives after services are environmental factors such as lack of opportunities, lack of support, and public attitude and stigma (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). As indicated in MTT, these environmental factors are part of the community/civilian transition support. Future researchers should evaluate the relationship between these factors and veterans' selfperceived wellness and how the positive enhancement of these factors at critical points can positively improve the well-being of veterans (Castro, 2018: Kintzle & Castro, 2016).

Implications

The results of my study indicated that branch of service, rank at discharge, and the number of years served were related at statistically significant levels to veterans' selfperceived wellness. These findings could reinforce the need to improve and individualize the transition services provided to military veterans because it highlights the specific areas that need urgent attention during the transition process. Military service providers could address veterans' service-based factors and personal characteristics that created the issues (Oster et al., 2017).

In alleviating the service-based factors, military providers can provide support in the form of unit cohesion and post-deployment support to assuage the risk factors associated with veterans' mental health and well-being prior to transition (Oster et al., 2017). Likewise, the personal characteristics that create challenges and place more demand on veterans can be lessened by providing comprehensive re-orientation programs (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). These re-orientation programs would assist veterans by reducing their strong military identity, teaching them life skills, positive coping strategies, and encouraging help-seeking behavior (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). This support could be provided to veterans using a continuous, comprehensive, and long-term approach before and after transition (Jacco Duel et al., 2018).

Military service providers, veteran organizations, and other professionals supporting veterans should also understand that veterans' self-perceived wellness differs due to their military life experiences and the critical points in their transition they were vulnerable. Thus, service providers and health care professionals can provide support and assistance based on a comprehensive, holistic approach tailored specifically to the demographic characteristics of veterans, whereby veterans' demands are met with resources mapped to support such issues (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). This support can be made available to veterans early in the transition process, depending on the nature of the discharge (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). If the discharge was planned, the support could be provided early in the transition process (Jacco Duel et al., 2018). However, if military discharge is unplanned, assistance could be provided as soon as emerging issues are identified (Jacco Duel et al., 2018).

Understanding and recognizing the service-based factors and the demographic characteristics of veterans that affect their health and wellness could facilitate the prevention, early identification, and improved management of veterans' wellness (Oster et al., 2017; Kintzle et al., 2016). It could also allow policymakers, military service providers, and other health-care professionals to understand better all the attributes that encompass veterans' well-being and identify the most vulnerable veterans. Service providers, health care professionals, and policymakers should have a structured process whereby they can systematically assess and support the needs of transitioning veterans. A better understanding of these factors could inform these processes (Oster et al., 2017).

In addressing the environmental factors (lack of opportunities, lack of support, and public attitude) that contribute to veterans' vulnerability after service, local service providers such as veterans support agencies. The local VA could create a structured local community support network to provide various services that would assist veterans in transitioning into the community (Castro et al., 2014). One beneficial service could be peer-to-peer mentorship, where seasoned veterans could assist new veterans as they move into the community and throughout their adjustment (Castro et al., 2014). Mentors could encourage and support veterans by helping them build new community networks and connections to ease their transition (Castro et al., 2014).

Conclusion

The aim of this research study was to aid military service providers and veteran organizations in providing a better understanding on how to address veterans' wellness needs based of their demographic characteristics. The result of the investigation aligns with previous findings that indicated that military veterans are most venerable when they are discharged from active service (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). The separation sometimes impedes their wellness (Romaniuk & Kidd, 2018). This study reinforces the need to improve and individualize the transition services provided to military veterans based on their demographic characteristics. A better understanding of all the attributes that encompass a veteran's well-being would allow policymakers, military service providers, veteran organizations, and other professionals supporting veterans to create programs and services that would assist in the prevention, early identification, and improved management of veterans' wellness (Kintzle et al., 2016; Oster et al., 2017).

Regarding the gaps in literature (i.e., the relationship between the demographic characteristics of military veterans and their self-perceived wellness and the self-perceived wellness between combat and non-combat veterans when controlling for the number of years since discharge), the study revealed that the demographic characteristics of veterans did have a statistically significant impact on the self-perceived well-being of veterans. However, when controlling for the number of years since discharge, there is no statistically significant difference between the self-perceived wellness of combat and non-combat veterans. This calls for a more focused analysis of the differences between combat/non-combat veterans based on their military roles, gender, and ranks; an in-depth

inquiry would reveal how this population is different. Also, future research efforts should be more focused on understanding and identifying the risk factors that result in negative transition outcomes before military discharge. Thereby support can be provided to venerable service members based on the need to facilitate the prevention and a better management of veterans' wellness post-transition.

References

- Ahern, J., Worthen, M., Masters, J., Lippman, S. A., Ozer, E. J., & Moos, R. (2015). The challenges of Afghanistan and Iraq veterans' transition from military to civilian life and approaches to reconnection. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0128599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128599</u>
- Ainspan, N. D., Penk, W., & Kearney, L. K. (2018). Psychosocial approaches to improving the military-to-civilian transition process. *Psychological Services*, *15*(2), 129–134. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000259
- Alagheband, M., Ahmadabadi, N. M., & Abdollahi, A. (2013). Psychometric characteristics of the general well-being schedule (GWB) in an Iranian sample.
 Life Science Journal, 10(6s), 167–173.

http://www.lifesciencesite.com/lsj/life1006s/026_17210life1006s_167_173.pdf

Albright, D. L., McCormick, W. H., Carroll, T. D., Currier, J. M., Thomas, K. H.,
Hamner, K., Slagel, B. A., Womack, B., Sims, B. M., & Deiss, J. (2018). Barriers and resources for veterans' post-military transitioning in south Alabama: A qualitative analysis. *Traumatology*, 24(3), 236–245.

https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000147

- Allen, M. (2017). *The Sage encyclopedia of communication research methods* (Vols. 1–
 4). SAGE Publications. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411</u>
- America's Warrior Partnership. (2020). *Empowering communities to empower veterans*. <u>https://www.americaswarriorpartnership.org/our-mission</u>

Andrade C. (2018). Internal, external, and ecological validity in research design, conduct,

and evaluation. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 40(5), 498–499. https://doi.org/10.4103/IJPSYM_J334_18

Angel, C. M., Smith, B. P., Pinter, J. M., Young, B. B., Armstrong, N. J., Quinn, J. P., Brostek, D. F., Goodrich, D. E., Hoerster, K. D., & Erwin, M. S. (2018). Team red, white & blue: A community-based model for harnessing positive social networks to enhance enrichment outcomes in military veterans reintegrating to civilian life. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 8(4), 554–564.

https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/iby050

- Antoniou, A.-S., Polychroni, F., & Vlachakis, A.-N. (2006). Gender and age differences in occupational stress and professional burnout between primary and high-school teachers in Greece. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *21*(7), 682–690.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940610690213
- Arriola, V. D., & Rozelle, J. W. (2016). Traumatic brain injury in United States Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF) Hispanic veterans: A review using the PRISMA method. *Behavioral Sciences (Basel, Switzerland)*, 6(1), 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/bs6010003</u>
- Armed Forces. (2015). United States Code, 2012 Edition, Supplement 3, Title 10 Armed Forces. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2015-</u> <u>title10/pdf/USCODE-2015-title10-subtitleA-partII-chap33A.pdf</u>
- Aronson, K. R., Perkins, D. F., Morgan, N., Bleser, J., Davenport, K., Vogt, D.,Copeland, L. A., Finley, E. P., & Gilman, C. L. (2019). Going it alone: Post-9/11veteran nonuse of healthcare and social service programs during their early

transition to civilian life. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 45(5), 634–647. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2018.1493410

Ashley, W., & Brown, C. (2015). The impact of combat status on veterans' attitudes toward help seeking: The hierarchy of combat elitism. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work, 12*, 534–542.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15433714.2014.992695

- Atuel, H. R. & Castro, C. A. (2018). Military cultural competence. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 46, 74–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-018-0651-z</u>
- Barr, N., Kintzle, S., Alday, E., & Castro, C. (2019). How does discharge status impact suicide risk in military veterans? *Social Work in Mental Health*, 17(1) 48–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2018.1503214

Batz, C., & Tay, L. (2018). Gender differences in subjective well-being. In Diener, E., Oishi, S., & L. Tay, L. (Eds.), *Handbook of Well-being*. DEF Publishers. https://www.nobascholar.com/chapters/30/download.pdf

 Bauman N. J. (2016). The stigma of mental health in athletes: Are mental toughness and mental health seen as contradictory in elite sport? *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 50(3), 135–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095570</u>

BC Campus. (2020). *Reliability and validity of measurement*. <u>https://opentextbc.ca/researchmethods/chapter/reliability-and-validity-of-</u>measurement/

Beard, J. D., & Kamel, F. (2015). Military service, deployments, and exposures in relation to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis etiology and survival. *Epidemiologic* *Reviews*, 37(1), 55–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxu001

- Beste, L. A., & Ioannou, G. N. (2015). Prevalence and treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection in the US Department of Veterans Affairs. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 37, 131–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxu002</u>
- Bevans, R. (2020, October 26). An introduction to multiple linear regression. *Scribbr*. <u>https://www.scribbr.com/statistics/multiple-linear-regression/</u>
- Bhandari, P. (2020, June 25). A guide to operationalization. *Scribbr*. Retrieved from https://www.scribbr.com/dissertation/operationalization/
- Blackburn D. (2016). Transitioning from military to civilian life: Examining the final step in a military career. *Canadian Military Journal*, *16*(4), 53–61.
 <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Dave_Blackburn/publication/309609538/Transitioning-from-Military-to-Civilian-Life-Examining-the-Final-Step-in-a-Military-Career.pdf</u>
- Blackburn, L., & Owens, G. P. (2015). The effect of self-efficacy and meaning in life on posttraumatic stress disorder and depression severity among veterans. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 71, 219–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22133</u>
- Blanch, A. K., Shern, D. L., Steverman, S. M. (2014). Toxic stress, behavioral health, and the next major era in public health. *Mental Health America*. <u>https://www.mhanational.org/issues/toxic-stress-behavioral-health-and-next-</u> major-era-public-healt
- Binks, E. & Cambridge, S. (2019). The transition experiences of British military veterans. *Political Psychology*, 39(1). <u>https://doi.10.1111/pops.12399</u>

- Birdie, A.K., Jain, M.B., & Kulhari, S. (2015). Work stress, general well-being, and coping strategies: A comparative study on medico couples. *Indian Journal of Positive Psychology*, 6, 288.
- Birditt, K. S., Fingerman, K. L., & Almeida, D. M. (2005). Age differences in exposure and reactions to interpersonal tensions: a daily diary study. *Psychology and Aging*, 20(2), 330–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.20.2.330</u>
- Bog, M., Filges, T., & Jorgensen, A. M. K. (2018). Deployment of personnel to military operations: Impact on mental health and social functioning. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 14(1), 1-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2018.6</u>
- Borsari, B., Yurasek, A., Miller, M. B., Murphy, J. G., McDevitt-Murphy, M. E.,
 Martens, M, P., Darcy, M. G., & Carey, K. B. (2017). Student service
 members/veterans on campus: Challenges for reintegration. *Am J Orthopsychiatry*, 87(2),166-175. <u>https://doi:10.1037/ort0000199</u>
- Boston University Medical Center. (2017, June 1). Deployment stress impacts well-being through different mental health issues for female and male vets. *ScienceDaily*. <u>https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2017/06/170601124111.htm</u>
- Bowes, M. A., Ferreira, N., & Henderson, M. (2017). The influence of psychosocial factors in veteran adjustment to civilian life. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 25(4), 583-600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2182</u>
- Bradbard, D. A., Maury, R. V., & Armstrong, N. J. (2016). Pathways to opportunity: Financial flexibility and workforce readiness. *Institute for Veterans and Military Families*. <u>https://ivmf.syracuse.edu/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2016/12/USAA Paper4FINAL-DIGITAL.SINGLE.pdf

- Bramow, J. (2016). The cost of a negative separation: The extreme impact of a military discharge that is other than 'honorable'. *SSRN*, Article e2859044. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2859044</u>
- Bravo, G., Gaulin, & Dubois, M. (1996). Validation of a general well-being scale with a French-speaking population aged 50 to 75. *Canadian Association on Gerontology*, *15*(1), 112-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0714980800013325</u>
- Breslin, G., Shannon, S., Haughey, T., Donnelly, P., & Leavey, G. (2017). A systematic review of interventions to increase awareness of mental health and well-being in athletes, coaches, and officials. *Systematic Reviews*, 6(1), 177. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-017-0568-6
- Brignone, E., Fargo, J. D., Blais, R. K., Carter, M. E., Samore, M. H., & Gundlapalli, A.
 V. (2017). Non-routine discharge from military service: Mental illness, substance use disorders, and suicidality. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 52(5), 557–565. https://doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.11.015
- Brown, D. G. (2011). Measuring military family well-being. *Defense Centers of Excellence*.

https://www.moaa.org/uploadedFiles/MOAA_Main/Main_Menu/Access_Member Benefits/Professionalism/Symposia/May2011 dcoe.pdf

Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020, March 6). Employment situation – 2019. U.S. Department of Labor. <u>https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/vet.pdf</u>

Burkhart, L., & Hogan, N. (2015). Being a female veteran: A grounded theory of coping

with transitions. Social Work in Mental Health, 13(2), 108–127.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2013.870102

- Byrne, T., Montgomery, A. E., & Dichter, M. E. (2013). Homelessness among female veterans: A systematic review of the literature. *Women & Health*, 53,572–596. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2013.817504</u>
- Campbell, D. T., & Stanley, J. C. (1963). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs
- for research on teaching. In N. L. Gage (Ed.), *Handbook of research on teaching* (pp. 171–246). Rand McNally.
- Carmel S. (2019). Health and well-Being in late life: Gender differences worldwide. *Frontiers in Medicine*, *6*, 218. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2019.00218</u>
- Castro, C. A. (2018). Military transition, identity, and health. *The Canadian Institute for Military and Veteran Health Research.*

http://www.cimvhr.ca/documents/Military%20Transition%20Identity%20Health.

<u>pdf</u>

- Castro, C. A., & Kintzle, S. (2014). Suicides in the military: The post-modern combat veteran and the Hemingway effect. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 16(8), 460. <u>https://doi:10.1007/s11920-014-0460-1</u>
- Castro, C. A., Kintzle, S., & Hassan, A. M., (2014). The state of the American veteran: The Los Angeles County veterans' study. University of Southern California Center for Innovation and Research on Veterans and Military Families. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4268.7848</u>

Castro, C. A., & Kintzle, S. (2016). Military matters: The military transition theory:

Rejoining civilian life. *International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies*. <u>https://istss.org/public-resources/trauma-blog/2016-june/military-matters-the-military-transition-theory-re</u>

Castro, C. A., & Kintzle, S. (2017). The state of the American veterans: The San Francisco veteran study. *University of Southern California Center for Innovation* and Research on Veterans and Military Families. <u>https://cir.usc.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/05/USC-CIR-SF-VET-2017_FINAL-Pgs.pdf</u>

- Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. (2014). Treatment improvement protocol (TIP): Series, No. 57.) Chapter 3, understanding the impact of trauma. *Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration - Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Services*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK207191/</u>
- Cerritos College. (2020). White paper on habits of mind campaign.

https://www.cerritos.edu/ifalcon/whilte_paper.htm

- Charles, S. T., Piazza, J. R., Mogle, J. A., Urban, E. J., Sliwinski, M. J., & Almeida, D.
 M. (2016). Age differences in emotional well-being vary by temporal recall. *The Journals of Gerontology*, *71*(5), 798–807. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbv011</u>
- Chin, D. L. & Zeber, J. E. (2020). Mental health outcomes among military service members after severe injury in combat and TBI. *Military Medicine*, 185(5-6), e711-e718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usz440</u>
- Citroen, L. (2018, October 8). 10 truths about the military transition process employers need to understand. *Entrepreneur*. <u>https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/320625</u>

Cleland, C., Kearns, A., Tannahill, C., & Ellaway, A. (2016). The impact of life events

on adult physical and mental health and well-being: Longitudinal analysis using the GoWell health and well-being survey. *BMC Research Notes*, *9*(1), 470. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-016-2278-x

Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *I*(3), 98–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.ep10768783</u>

College Stats.Org. (2020). The veterans guide for academic aid and programs. <u>https://collegestats.org/resources/veterans-college-guide/</u>

- Community provider toolkit. (n.d.) Serving veterans through partnership. *Department of Veteran Affairs*. <u>http://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/communityproviders/index.asp</u>
- Congress. (2001). Veterans Education and Benefits Expansion Act of 2001. *Public Law* 107-103. <u>https://www.congress.gov/107/plaws/publ103/PLAW-107publ103.pdf</u>
- Congressional Research Service. (2018). Military transition assistance program (TAP): An overview. <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/IF10347.pdf</u>
- Cooper, L.W., Caddick, N., Godier, L.R., Cooper, A., & Fossey, M. (2018). Transition from the military into civilian life. *Armed Forces & Society*, 44, 156–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X16675965</u>
- Creswell, J. (2015). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (4th ed). Merrill Prentice Hall. SAGE Publications
- David, A. (2017). Hierarchical linear modeling vs hierarchical regression. *Statistics Solutions*. <u>https://www.statisticssolutions.com/hierarchical-linear-modeling-vs-hierarchical-regression/</u>

DeFranzo, S. E. (2020). Carefully review survey response options.

https://www.snapsurveys.com/blog/carefully-review-survey-response-options/

Department of Defense. (2005). Joint publication: Definition of military and associated terms. Pentagon, Washington D.C

Department of Defense. (2014). Enabling collaborative support to reintegrate the military family. Office of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Chairman's Office of

Reintegration: Veterans/Families/Communities.

https://www.jcs.mil/Portals/36/Documents/CORe/141103_Enabling_Collaborativ

e_Support.pdf

Department of Defense. (2018). 2018 demographics profile of the military community. <u>https://download.militaryonesource.mil/12038/MOS/Reports/2018-demographics-</u> <u>report.pdf</u>

Department of Defense Instruction 1332.14. (2019). Enlisted administrative separation procedures.

https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/issuances/dodi/133214p.pdf? ver=2018-03-22-111139-823

Department of Defense. (2019, May 3). Permanent change of station move.

Headquarters, Deputy Chief of Staff, Army G-4.

https://www.army.mil/standto/archive 2019-05-03/

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2015). Applying for benefits and your character of discharge. https://www.benefits.va.gov/benefits/character of discharge.asp

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2017a). Access to mental health services for other than

honorable discharged servicemembers.

https://www.va.gov/vhapublications/ViewPublication.asp?pub_ID=5350

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2017b). Other than honorable discharges: Impact on eligibility for VA health care benefits.

https://www.va.gov/healthbenefits/resources/publications/IB10-

448 other than honorable discharges5 17.pdf

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2018a). The Military to Civilian Transition 2018 - A Review of Historical, Current, and Future Trends.

https://benefits.va.gov/TRANSITION/docs/mct-report-2018.pdf

- Department of Veterans Affairs. (2018b, May). VA thanks nine communities across the country for being Veteran-friendly. <u>https://www.blogs.va.gov/VAntage/48916/va-thanks-nine-communities-across-country-veteran-friendly/</u>
- Department of Veterans Affairs. (2018c). Veterans' benefits administration education and career counseling.

https://www.benefits.va.gov/BENEFITS/factsheets/vocrehab/chapter36.pdf

Department of Veteran Affairs. (2020a). About GI Bill benefits.

https://www.va.gov/education/about-gi-bill-benefits/

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2020b). Active-duty service members and VA health care. https://www.va.gov/health-care/eligibility/active-duty/

Department of Veteran Affairs. (2020c). Educational and career counseling (VA Chapter

36). <u>https://www.va.gov/careers-employment/education-and-career-counseling/</u>

Department of Veteran Affairs. (2020d). GI Bill and other education benefit eligibility.

https://www.va.gov/education/eligibility/

Department of Veteran Affairs. (2020e). Transition and economic development - your

VA transition assistance program (TAP).

https://www.benefits.va.gov/transition/tap.asp

Department of Veteran Affairs. (2020f). VA disability compensation.

https://www.va.gov/disability/

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2020g).VA home loan types.

https://www.va.gov/housing-assistance/home-loans/loan-types/

Department of Veteran Affairs. (2020h). Veteran readiness and employment (Chapter

31). <u>https://www.va.gov/careers-employment/vocational-rehabilitation/</u>

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2020i). Women veterans health care: Facts and statistics about women veterans.

https://www.womenshealth.va.gov/WOMENSHEALTH/latestinformation/facts.as

pe

DeSilver, D. (2019). How veterans and non-veterans fare in the U.S. job market. *Pew Research Center*. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/09/17/how-veterans-and-non-veterans-fare-in-the-u-s-job-market/</u>

 Dichter, M. E., & True, G. (2015). "This is the story of why my military career ended before it should have": Premature separation from military service among U.S. women veterans. *Affilia: Journal of Women & Social Work, 30*(2), 187–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109914555219</u>

Disabled American Veterans. (2018, September 12). New report spotlights continuing

challenges facing women veterans. https://www.dav.org/learn-

more/news/2018/new-report-spotlights-continuing-challenges-facing-womenveterans/

- Dijksma, I., Zimmermann, W., Hertenberg, E. J., Lucas, C., & Stuiver, M. M. (2020).
 One out of four recruits drop out from elite military training due to musculoskeletal injuries in the Netherlands Armed Forces. *BMJ Military Health*: <u>https://militaryhealth.bmj.com/content/jramc/early/2020/03/05/bmjmilitary-2020-001420.full.pdf</u>
- Duel, J., Godier-McBard, L., Maclean, M. B., & Fossey, M. (2019). Challenging missions: vulnerable veterans leaving the armed forces and promising avenues to support them. In C. A. Castro & S. Dursun (Eds), *Military Veteran Reintegration* 95–134. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815312-3.00006-1
- Dupuy, H.J. (1977). The General Well-being Schedule. In I. McDowell & C. Newell (Eds.), Measuring health: a guide to rating scales and questionnaire (2nd ed), 206–213. Oxford University Press.
- Dupuy, H. J. (1978). Self-representations of general psychological well-being of American adults. Paper presented at the American Public Health Association Meeting.
- Eichler M. (2017). Add female veterans and stir? A feminist perspective on gendering veterans' research. *Armed Forces & Society*, 43(4):674–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X16682785

Elbogen, E. B., Wagner, H. R., Brancu, M., Kimbrel, N. A., Naylor, J. C., Swinkels, C.

M., VA Mid-Atlantic MIRECC Workgroup, & Fairbank, J. A. (2018).

Psychosocial risk factors and other than honorable military discharge: Providing healthcare to previously veterans. *Military medicine*, *183*(9-10), e532–e538. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usx128

- Elliott, B., Chargualaf, K. A., & Patterson, B. (2016). Military to civilian nurse: Personal and professional reconstruction. *Journal of Clinical Nurses*, 26(9-10): 1375-1384. <u>https://doi.10.1111/jocn.13693</u>
- Elnitsky, C. A., Blevins, C. L., Fisher, M. P., & Magruder, K. (2017). Military service member and veteran reintegration: A critical review and adapted ecological model. *The American journal of orthopsychiatry*, 87(2), 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000244
- Elnitsky1, C. A., Fisher, M. P., and Blevins, C. L. (2017). Military service member and veteran reintegration: A conceptual analysis, unified definition, and key domains. *Frontiers of Psychology*, 8:369. <u>https://doi.10.3389/fpsyg.201700369</u>
- Explorable.com (2009a, April 24). Snowball sampling. <u>https://explorable.com/snowball-sampling</u>
- Explorable.com (2009b, May 17). Non-Probability Sampling. https://explorable.com/non-probability-sampling
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149–1160.

Fletcher, K., McDaniel, J., Thomas, K., Scaffa, M., Albright, D., Alsheri, M., & Anthony,

J. (2022). Transition services utilization among US women veterans: A secondary analysis of a national survey. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 8(1), 164–174. <u>http://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v8i1.299</u>

- Ford, K. & Vignare, K. (2015). The evolving military learner population: A review of the literature. *Online Learning*, 19(1), 7–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v19i1.503</u>
- Formplus. (2020). Correlational research designs: Types, examples, & methods. https://www.formpl.us/blog/correlational-research
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., Nachmias, D., & DeWaard, J. (2015). Research methods in the social sciences (8th Ed.). Worth.

Fullwood, D. (2015). Understanding and managing the health needs of veterans. Nursing standard (Royal College of Nursing (Great Britain): 1987), 30(10), 37–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.30.10.37.s46</u>

- Gaille, L. (2020). 12 advantages and disadvantages of correlational research studies. *Vittana*. <u>https://vittana.org/12-advantages-and-disadvantages-of-correlational-</u> research-studies
- Gang, E. (2017, June 6). Reports confirms wrongful separations of military personnel for misconduct when it was really underlying mental illness. *Veterans Disability Info*. <u>https://www.veteransdisabilityinfo.com/blog.php?article=report-confirms-</u> wrongful-separation-for-misconduct-due-to-underlying-mental-illness 359

Gelinas, L., Pierce, R., Winkler, S., Cohen, I. G., Lynch, H. F., & Bierer, B. E. (2017).
Using social media as a research recruitment tool: Ethical issues and
recommendations. *The American Journal of Bioethics: AJOB*, 17(3), 3–14.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2016.1276644

Gettings, P. E., Hall, E. D., Wilson, S. R., Kamal, D. M., Inderstrodt-Stephens, J. & Hughes-Kirchubel, L. (2019) Effects of reintegration difficulties, perceived message acceptance and perceived autonomy support on U.S. military Veterans' evaluations of messages encouraging them to seek behavioral health care. *Communication Monographs*, 86:2, 205-228.

https://doi.10.1080/03637751.2018.1536828

Gil-Rivas, V., Kilmer, R. P., Larson, J. C., & Armstrong, L. M. (2017). Facilitating successful reintegration: Attending to the needs of military families. *The American journal of orthopsychiatry*, 87(2), 176–184.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000201

Ginty A.T. (2013) Construct validity. In: Gellman M.D., Turner J.R. (eds) Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-</u>

<u>9_861</u>

Give an Hour. (2020). Our mission. https://giveanhour.org/about-give-an-hour/mission/

- Gleason B., Wood, C., & Teng, R. (2019). Wellness and burnout in human services literature: A content analysis of the journal of human services. *Journal of Human Services*, 39(1), 61–72.
- Glen, S. (2014). Cronbach's Alpha: Simple definition, use and interpretation. http://www.statisticshowto.com/cronbachs-alpha-spss/
- Glen, S. (2015a). ANCOVA: Analysis of Covariance.

https://www.statisticshowto.com/ancova/

- Glen, S. (2015b). Multicollinearity: Definition, causes, examples. *StatisticsHowTo.com*. <u>https://www.statisticshowto.com/multicollinearity/</u>
- Glen, S. (2015c). Non-probability sampling: Definition, types. *StatisticsHowTo.com*. https://www.statisticshowto.com/non-probability-sampling/

Godfrey, K. M., Mostoufi, S., Rodgers, C., Backhaus, A., Floto, E., Pittman, J., & Afari, N. (2015). Associations of military sexual trauma, combat exposure, and number of deployments with physical and mental health indicators in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans. *Psychological Services*, *12*(4), 366–377. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000059

Godier, L. R., Caddick, N., Kiernan, M. D., & Fossey, M. (2018). Transition support for vulnerable service leavers in the UK: Providing care for early service leavers.
 Military Behavioral Health, 6, 13–21.

https://doi.10.1080/21635781.2017.1325804

Goetzel, R. Z., Roemer, E. C., Holingue, C., Fallin, M. D., McCleary, K., Eaton, W.,
Agnew, J., Azocar, F., Ballard, D., Bartlett, J., Braga, M., Conway, H., Crighton,
K. A., Frank, R., Jinnett, K., Keller-Greene, D., Rauch, S. M., Safeer, R.,
Saporito, D., Schill, A., & Mattingly, C. R. (2018). Mental health in the
workplace: A call to action proceedings from the mental health in the workplacepublic health summit. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*,
60(4), 322–330. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000001271

Goldstein, K. M., Zullig, L. L., Oddone, E. Z., Andrews, S. M., Grewe, M. E., Danus, S., Heisler, M., Bastian, L. A., & Voils, C. I. (2018). Understanding women veterans' preferences for peer support interventions to promote heart healthy behaviors: A qualitative study. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *10*, 353–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.04.016

- Gomez-Baya, D., Lucia-Casademunt, Ana M., & Salinas-Perez, J. A. (2018). Gender
 differences in psychological well-being and health problems among European
 health professionals: Analysis of psychological basic needs and job satisfaction.
 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(7). 1474.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071474
- Gottlieb, U., Kelman, D., & Springer, S. (2018). Evaluation of two simple functional tests to predict attrition from combat service in female light infantry soldiers. *Medical Science Monitor: International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 24, 9334–9341. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.911672
- Government Accountability Office. (2014). Military and veteran support: VA/DoD programs that address the effects of combat on transition to civilian life. https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/666801.pdf
- Government Accountability Office. (2017a). DoD health: Action needed to ensure posttraumatic stress disorder and traumatic brain injury are considered in misconduct separations. <u>https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/684608.pdf</u>

Government Accountability Office. (2017b). Transitioning veterans: DOD needs to improve performance reporting and monitoring for the transition assistance program. <u>https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-18-23</u>

Government Accountability Office. (2019a). Military and veteran support: Detailed

inventory of federal programs to help servicemembers achieve civilian

employment. https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/696499.pdf

Government Accountability Office. (2019b). Transitioning servicemembers: Information on military employment assistance center.

https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/699769.pdf

Government Accountability Office. (2020). Supports and services for transitioning veterans.

https://www.gao.gov/key_issues/supports_and_services_for_transitioning_veteran s/issue_summary#t=0

- Green Cross Academy of Traumatology. (2020). Standards of self-care guidelines. <u>https://greencross.org/about-gc/standards-of-care-guidelines/</u>
- Gregg, B. T., Howell, D. M., & Shordike, A. (2016). Experiences of veterans transitioning to postsecondary education. *The American journal of Occupational Therapy: Official Publication of the American Occupational Therapy Association*, 70(6), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2016.021030

Gregory, P. (2020). Life transitions. <u>https://growwellnessgroup.com/life-transitions/</u>

Grimell, J. (2016). Existential spiritual life among Swedish service members in transition:
 Marking out trends. *Spirituality in Clinical Practice*, 3(3), 208–219.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000103

Grimell J. (2017). A service member's self in transition: A longitudinal case study analysis. *Journal of Constructivist Psychology 30*(3), 255–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10720537.2016.1187580</u>
- Guarnotta, E. (2019, December 11). High rate of substance abuse among veterans and treatment options. <u>https://www.rehabs.com/veterans-drug-abuse/</u>
- Guina, R. (2020, December 15), Types of military discharges understanding discharge ratings. <u>https://themilitarywallet.com/types-of-military-discharges/</u>

Gundlapalli, A. V., Fargo, J. D., Metraux, S., Carter, M. E., Samore, M. H., Kane, V., & Culhane, D. P. (2015). Military misconduct and homelessness among US veterans
Separated from active duty, 2001–2012. *JAMA*, *314*(8), 832–834.
https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.8207

- Hahn, A. M., Tirabassi, C. K., Simons, R. M., & Simons, J. S. (2015). Military sexual trauma, combat exposure, and negative urgency as independent predictors of PTSD and subsequent alcohol problems among OEF/OIF veterans. *Psychological Services*, *12*(4), 378–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000060</u>
- Hardison, C. M., McCausland, T. C., Shanley, M. G., Saavedra, A. R., Clague, A., Crowley, J. C., Martin, J., Wong, J. P., & Steinberg, P. S. (2017). What veterans bring to the civilian workplace. *RAND National Defense Research Institute*. <u>https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/tools/TL100/TL160-</u>

<u>1/RAND_TL160-1.pdf</u>

Healthy Barrington. (2018). Life transitions. <u>https://healthybarrington.org/know-the-</u> <u>signs/life-transitions/</u>

Heitkamp, A. (2019). Military culture. *Minot State University*. <u>https://www.nd.gov/veterans/files/resource/Military%20Culture.pdf</u>

Heitzman, A. C., & Somers, P. (2015). The disappeared ones: Female student veterans at

a four-year college. *College & University*, *90*(4), 16–26. American Association of Collegiate Registrars & Admissions Officers.

- Hiring Our Hero. (2020). Our mission. U.S. Chamber of Commerce Foundation. https://www.uschamberfoundation.org/our-mission
- Hodson, S., & McFarlane, A. (2016). Australian veterans Identification of mental health issues. *Australian Family Physician*, *45*(3), 98–101.
- Hoggatt, K. J., Jamison, A. L., Lehavot, K., Cucciare, M. A., Timko, C., & Simpson, T.
 L. (2015). Alcohol and drug misuse, abuse, and dependence in women veterans. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, *37*, 23–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxu010</u>
- Housing and Urban Development (HUD). (2020). HUD-VAS vouchers: Total number of HUD-VASH vouchers by PHA 2008-2020.

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/vash

- Hricova, M. & Lovasova, S. (2020). Stress, secondary trauma, and burnout Risk characteristics in helping professions. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Research*, 8(2), 161–165. <u>http://www.magnanimitas.cz/ADALTA/0802/papers/A_lovasova03.pdf</u>
- Jacco Duel, J., Godier-McBard, L., MacLean, M-B and Fossey, M. (2019) Challenging missions: Vulnerable veterans leaving the armed forces and promising avenues to support them in Castro and Dursun (Eds) Military Veteran Reintegration:
 Approach, Management, and Assessment of Military Veterans Transitioning to Civilian Life. Academic Press.
- Ji, L., Peng, H., & Xue, X. (2017). Age differences in the experience of daily life events:A study based on the social goals perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 1623.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01623

Joelson, R. B. (2020). Managing difficult life transitions.

https://richardbjoelsondsw.com/articles/managing-difficult-life-transitions/

- Johansen, R. B., Martinussen, M., & Kvilvang, N. (2015). The influence of military identity on work engagement and burnout in the Norwegian army rapid reaction force. *Journal of Military Studies*, 6, 1–11. <u>https://doi.10.1515/jms-2016-0196</u>
- Joint Chiefs of Staff. (2014). Enabling collaborative support to reintegrate the military family. *Chairman's Office of Reintegration: Veterans / Families / Communities.* <u>https://www.jcs.mil/Portals/36/Documents/CORe/141103_Enabling_Collaborativ</u> e_Support.pdf
- Jones, K. C. (2017). Understanding transition experiences of combat veterans attending community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 41(2), 107–123. <u>https://doi.10.1080/10668926.2016.1163298</u>
- Keeling, M., Kintzle, S. & Carl, A. C. (2018). Exploring U.S. veterans' post-service employment experiences. *Military Psychology*, 30(1), 63–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2017.1420976</u>
- Kettlewell, N., Morris, R. W., Ho, N., Cobb-Clark, D. A., Cripps, S., & Glozier, N. (2019). The differential impact of major life events on cognitive and affective wellbeing. SSM Population Health, 10.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100533

Kiernan, M. D., Repper, J., & Arthur, A. (2015). Why do they fail? A qualitative follow up study of 1000 recruits to the British Army Infantry to understand high levels of attrition. Work (Reading, Mass.), 52(4), 921–934. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-152208</u>

- Kime, P. (2015). Panel: Stigma is obstacle to mental health care. *Military Times*. <u>https://www.militarytimes.com/pay-benefits/military-benefits/health-care/2015/09/10/panel-stigma-is-obstacle-to-mental-health-care/</u>
- Kintzle, S. & Castro, C.A. (2018). Examining veteran transition to the workplace through military transition theory (P. D. Harms and P. L. Perrewé, Eds.) *Occupational Stress and Well-Being in Military Contexts (Research in Occupational Stress and Well Being, Vol. 16*), Emerald Publishing Limited, 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-355520180000016009
- Kintzle, S., Keeling, M., Xintarianos, E., Taylor-Diggs, K., Munch, C., Hasson, A. M., & Castro, C. A. (2015). Exploring the economic & challenges facing U.S. veterans:
 A qualitative study of volunteers of America service providers & veteran clients. *Volunteers of America*. <u>https://voa-</u>

production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/pdf_file/file/762/A_Study_of_Volunteers

of America Service Providers and Veteran Clients.pdf

- Kintzle, S., Rasheed, J. M., & Castro, C. A. (2016). The state of the American veteran: The Chicagoland veterans' study. USC School of Social Work, Center for Innovation and Research on Veterans & Military Families. <u>https://cir.usc.edu/wp-</u> content/uploads/2016/05/CIR ChicagoVetReport2016 single.pdf
- Kintzle, S., Schuyler, A. C., Ray-Letourneau, D., Ozuna, S. M., Munch, C., Xintarianos,E., Hasson, A. M., & Castro, C. A. (2015). Sexual trauma in the military:

Exploring PTSD and mental health care utilization in female veterans.

Psychological Services, 12(4), 394-401. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000054

- Knight, J. L. (2014). A study of military personnel's preparation for transition from military to civilian life. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). *Argosy University*. <u>https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/study-military-personnels-</u> preparation-transition/docview/1528550830/se-2?accountid=14872
- Koenig, C. J., Maguen, S., Monroy, J. D., Mayott, L., & Seal, K. H. (2014). Facilitating culture-centered communication between health care providers and veterans transitioning from military deployment to civilian life. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 95(3), 414–420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2014.03.016</u>
- Kramm, N. & Heinecken, L. (2015) We are different now? The effect of military service on youth reintegration and employment in South Africa. *African Security Review*, 24(2), 122–137, <u>https://10.1080/10246029.2015.1028417</u>
- Kyonka, E. G. (2019). Tutorial: Small-N power analysis. Perspectives on Behavior Science, 42(1), 133–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40614-018-0167-4</u>
- Kypraiou A, Sarafis P, Tsounis A, Bitsi, G., Andreanides, E., Constantinidis, T., Kotrotsiou, E., & Malliarou, M. (2017). Depression and anxiety in Greek male veterans after retirement. *Military Medicine*, 182(3), e1639–e1644. <u>https://doi.10.7205/MILMED-D-16-0299</u>
- Laerd Dissertation. (2012a). Internal validity. <u>https://dissertation.laerd.com/internal-validity.php</u>

Laerd Dissertation. (2012b). Purposive sampling. http://dissertation.laerd.com/purposive-

sampling.php

Laerd Dissertation. (2018a). Descriptive and inferential statistics.

https://statistics.laerd.com/statistical-guides/descriptive-inferential-statistics.php,

Laerd Statistics. (2018b). Multiple regression analysis using SPSS statistics. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/multiple-regression-using-spss-</u> <u>statistics.php</u>

- Laerd Statistics. (2018b). One-way ANCOVA in SPSS statistics. *Lund Research Ltd.* <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/ancova-using-spss-statistics.php</u>
- Lan, C. W., Fiellin, D. A., Barry, D. T., Bryant, K. J., Gordon, A. J., Edelman, E. J., Gaither. J. R., Maisto, S. A., Marshall, B. D. (2016). The epidemiology of substance uses disorders in US Veterans: A systematic review and analysis of assessment methods. Am J Addict, (1):7–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12319</u>
- Landreneau, K. (2016). Selecting an Instrument: Important Psychometric Properties Using the General Well-Being Schedule as the Example. *Nursing Education Research Conference 2016*.

https://sigma.nursingrepository.org/handle/10755/603898

- Lau, F. & Kuziemsky, C. (Eds.). (2017). Chapter 12: Methods of correlational study. In Handbook of ehealth evaluation: An evidence base approach. University of Victoria.
- Lazier, R. L, Gawne, A. W, & Williamson, N. S. (2016). Veteran family reintegration: Strategic insights to inform stakeholders' efforts. *Journal of Public and Nonprofit Affairs*, 2(1):49–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.20899/jpna.2.1.48-57</u>

- Leedy, P. & Ormrod, J. (2001). *Practical research: Planning and design* (7th ed.). Merrill Prentice Hall. SAGE Publications.
- Leiner, D. J. (2014). Convenience samples from online respondent pools: A case study of the SoSci Panel. *International Journal of Internet Science*, *20*(5),1–18.

Leonardson, G. R., Daniels, M. C., Ness, F. K., Kemper, E., Mihura, J. L., Koplin, B. A., & Foreyt, J. P. (2003). Validity and reliability of the general well-being schedule with northern plains American Indians diagnosed with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Psychological Reports*, *93*(1), 49–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.2003.93.1.49</u>

Leslie, L. S. &. Koblinsky, S. A. (2017) Returning to civilian life: Family reintegration challenges and resilience of women veterans of the Iraq and Afghanistan wars. *Journal of Family Social Work, 20*(2), 106–123.

https://10.1080/10522158.2017.1279577

- Lieberman, C. (2019). What wellness programs don't do for workers. <u>https://hbr.org/2019/08/what-wellness-programs-dont-do-for-workers</u>
- MacLean, M. B., Van Til, L., Thompson, J. M., Sweet, J., Poirier, A., Sudom, K.,
 Peddler, D. J. (2014). Postmilitary adjustment to civilian life: Potential risks and
 protective factors. *Physical Therapy*, *94*(8), 1186–1195.
 https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20120107
- MacLeana, M. B., VanTila, L., Sweeta J., Poiriera, A., & Kris McKinnona, K. (2018).
 Factors associated with work satisfaction among Veterans. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 4*(1). https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0013

Mankowski, M., & Everett, J. E. (2016). Women service members, veterans, and their

families: What we know now. *Nurse Education Today*, 47, 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.12.017

- Mänty, M., Kouvonen, A., Lallukka, T., Lahti, J., Lahelma, E., & Rahkonen, O. (2016).
 Pre-retirement physical working conditions and changes in physical health functioning during retirement transition process. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 42(5), 405–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3574</u>
- Markowitz, F. E., Kintzle, S. M., Castro, C. A., & Lancaster, S. L. (2019). Effects of perceived public regard on the well-being of military veterans. *Society and Mental Health*, 00(0), 1-14 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2156869319894372</u>
- Marshall, E. (n.d.). Two-way (between-groups) ANOVA. University of Sheffield. <u>https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.531212!/file/MASH_Twoway_ANOV</u> <u>A_SPSS.pdf</u>
- Matud, M. P., Lopez-Curbelo, M., & Fortes, D. (2019). Gender and psychological wellbeing. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(19), 3531. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16193531
- Mayne, A. R. (2013, July 11). U.S. Army drill and ceremony provides discipline, espirt de corps for more than 238 years. *Public Affairs, USAG-Rock Island Arsenal Public Affairs*.

https://www.army.mil/article/107255/us_army_drill_and_ceremony_provides_dis cipline_espirt_de_corps_for_more_than_238_years

McClain, T. S. (2019, February 27). Veterans need "friendly" communities to adjust to civilian life – here's how to make it happen. *The Hill*.

https://thehill.com/opinion/national-security/431233-veterans-need-friendlycommunities-to-adjust-to-civilian-life-heres

- McCormick, W. H., Currier, J. M., Isaak, S. L., Sims, B. M., Slagel, B. A., Carroll, T. D., Hamner, K. & Albright, D. L. (2019). Military culture and post-military transitioning among veterans: A qualitative analysis. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, *4*(2), 288–298. <u>http://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v4i2.121</u>
- McLaughlin, R., Nielsen, L., & Waller, M. (2008). An evaluation of the effect of military service on mortality: quantifying the healthy soldier effect. *Annals of epidemiology*, 18(12), 928–936. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2008.09.002</u>
- McRobert, C. J., Hill, J. C., Smale, T., Hay, E. M., & van der Windt, D. A. (2018). A multi-modal recruitment strategy using social media and internet-mediated methods to recruit a multidisciplinary, international sample of clinicians to an online research study. *PloS One*, *13*(7), e0200184.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200184

- Meisenberg, G., & Woodley, M.A. (2015)/ Gender differences in subjective Well-being and their relationships with gender equality. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 16, 1539–1555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-014-9577-5</u>
- Mental Health America. (2018). The state of mental health in America 2018. https://www.mhanational.org/issues/state-mental-health-america-2018
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Combat. Retrieved from <u>https://www.merriam-</u> webster.com/dictionary/combat
- Meston, C. M., & Ahrold, T. (2010). Ethnic, gender, and acculturation influences on

sexual behaviors. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 39(1), 179–189.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-008-9415-0

Military.Com. (2020). Veteran's health care overview.

https://www.military.com/benefits/veterans-health-care/veterans-health-careoverview.html

Military OneSource. (2019). VA health care for veterans.

https://www.militaryonesource.milmilitary-life-cycle/veterans-military-funeralhonors/va-healthcare-for-veterans

- Military One Source. (2020). PCS: The basic about permanent change of station. <u>https://www.militaryonesource.mil/moving-housing/moving/planning-your-</u> <u>move/pcs-the-basics-about-permanent-change-of-station</u>
- Minitab. (2016, May 18). Understanding the analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the ftest. <u>https://blog.minitab.com/blog/adventures-in-statistics-2/understanding-</u> analysis-of-variance-anova-and-the-f-test
- Mitchell, M. M., Gallaway, M., Millikan, A. M., & Bell, M. R. (2013) Combat Exposure, Unit Cohesion, and Demographic Characteristics of Soldiers Reporting Posttraumatic Growth. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, *18*:5, 383–395.
 <u>https://www.10.1080/15325024.2013.768847</u>

Mitre Corporation. (2019). Military-to-civilian readiness: The past, present, and future of the transition process. *VA Benefits Administration*.

https://benefits.va.gov/TRANSITION/docs/military-to-civilian-readiness.pdf

Mitta, A. (2019). Why leaving the military is harder for female vets. *Military Times*.

https://www.militarytimes.com/education-transition/2019/07/18/why-leaving-themilitary-is-harder-for-female-vets/

- Mobbs, M. C., & Bonanno, G. A. (2018). Beyond war and PTSD: The crucial role of transition stress in the lives of military veterans. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 59, 137–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.11.007</u>
- Morin, R. (2011). The difficult transition from military to civilian life. *Pew Research Center*. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2011/12/08/the-difficult-</u> <u>transition-from-military-to-civilian-life/</u>
- Moulta-Ali, U., & Panangala, S. V. (2015). Veterans' benefits: The impact of military discharges on basic eligibility. *Congressional Research Service*. <u>https://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2408&context</u> <u>=key_workplace</u>
- Murdoch, M., Simon, A. B., Polusny, M. A., Bangerter, A. K., Grill, J. P., Noorbaloochi, S., & Partin, M. R. (2014). Impact of different privacy conditions and incentives on survey response rate, participant representativeness, and disclosure of sensitive information: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *14*, 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-90
- Nakayama, T., Toyoda, H., Ohno, K., Yoshiike, N., & Futagami, T. (2000). Validity, reliability, and acceptability of the Japanese version of the General Well-Being Schedule (GWBS). *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality-of-Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 9(5), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1008940902849

Naphan, D., & Elliot, M. (2015). Role exit from the military: Student veterans' perceptions of transitioning from the U.S. military to higher education. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 36–48.

http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/2/naphan3.pdf

- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education; Board on Children, Youth, and Families;
 Committee on the Well-Being of Military Families. (2019). In S. Le Menestrel & K. W. Kizer (Eds). *Strengthening the Military Family Readiness System for a Changing American Society*. National Academies Press.
- National Alliance to End Homelessness. (2015, April 22). Veteran homelessness.

https://endhomelessness.org/resource/veteran-homelessness/

National Alliance to End Homelessness. (2019, November 1). Veterans.

https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-in-america/who-experiences-

homelessness/veterans/

National Center for Veterans Analysis and Statistics (2016). *Profile of post-9/11 veterans: 2014*. U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs.

https://www.va.gov/vetdata/docs/SpecialReports/Post_911_Veterans_Profile_201 6.pdf

National Low-Income Housing Coalition. (2015, August 3). Veterans who are single mothers likely to have housing cost burden. <u>https://nlihc.org/resource/veterans-who-are-single-mothers-likely-have-housing-cost-burden</u>

National Veterans Foundation. (2017). Transitioning from military to civilian: The

unique challenges of female veterans. <u>https://nvf.org/transitioning-female-veterans/</u>

National Veterans Foundation. (2020). About the National Veterans Foundation. https://nvf.org/about-national-veterans-foundation/

National Veterans' Training Institute. (2021). Transition challenges for women veterans. <u>https://www.nvti.org/News-and-Announcements/Featured-Articles/-Transition-</u> <u>Challenges-for-Women-Veterans</u>

National Wellness Institute. (2019). The six dimensions of wellness.

https://nationalwellness.org/resources/six-dimensions-of-wellness/

New Direction for Veterans. (2020). Common issues facing veterans.

https://ndvets.org/programs-services/mental-health/common-issues-facingveterans/

Newell, J.M., & Nelson-Gardell, D. (2014). A competency-based approach to teaching professional self-care: An ethical consideration for social work educators. *Journal* of Social Work Education, 50(3), 427-439.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2014.917928

Nieves, A. (2020, January 17). Female veterans face separate struggles than their male counterparts. *The Denver Channel*.

https://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/national/female-veterans-face-separatestruggles-than-their-male-counterparts

Nixdorf, I., Frank, R., & Beckmann, J. (2016). Comparison of athletes' proneness to depressive symptoms in individual and team sports: Research on psychological

mediators in junior elite athletes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 893. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00893

- Northern Arizona University. (n.d.). Understanding analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). <u>https://oak.ucc.nau.edu/rh232/courses/EPS625/Handouts/ANCOVA/Understandin</u> g%20ANCOVA.pdf
- Office of Public and Intergovernmental Affairs. (2017). VA releases veteran suicide statistics by state. *Department of Veteran Affair*.

https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressrelease.cfm?id=2951

- Okeke, O. J., & Okeke, C. P. (2018). Effect of gender on the psychological wellbeing of nurses in Enugu metropolis. *International Journal of Academic Research in Psychology*, 5(1), 15–23. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARP/v5-i1/4838</u>
- Olvera Alvarez, H. A., Provencio-Vasquez, E., Slavich, G. M., Laurent, J., Browning,
 M., McKee-Lopez, G., Robbins, L., & Spengler, J. D. (2019). Stress and health in nursing students: The nurse engagement and wellness study. *Nursing Research*, 68(6), 453–463. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0000000000383
- O'Neil, M. E., Carlson, K. F., Storzbach, D., Brenner, L. A., Freeman, M., Quiñones, A. R., Motu'apuaka, M., & Kansagara, D. (2014). Factors associated with mild traumatic brain injury in veterans and military personnel: A systematic review. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society: JINS*, 1–13. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S135561771300146X</u>

Open University. (n.d.). Assumptions of multiple regression.

https://www.open.ac.uk/socialsciences/spsstutorial/files/tutorials/assumptions.pdf

Operation Homefront. (2020). Rent-free transitional housing program.

https://www.operationhomefront.org/custompage?Id=2428

- Orazem, R. J., Frazier, P. A., Schnurr, P. P., Oleson, H. E., Carlson, K. F., Litz, B. T., & Sayer, N. A. (2017). Identity adjustment among Afghanistan and Iraq war veterans with reintegration difficulty. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice and Policy*, 9(Suppl 1), 4–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000225</u>
- Oster, C., Morello, A., Venning, A., Redpath, P., & Lawn, S. (2017). The health and wellbeing need of veterans: a rapid review. *BMC Psychiatry 17*(1), 414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1547-0</u>
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 42(5), 533–544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y</u>
- Parker, K., Igielnik, R., Barroso, A., & Cillufo, A. (2019). The American veteran experience and the post-9/11 generation. *Pew Research Center*. <u>https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2019/09/10/the-american-veteran-experience-and-the-post-9-11-generation/</u>
- _Pedersen, E. R., Naranjo, D., & Marshall, G, N. (2017). Recruitment and retention of young adult veteran drinkers using Facebook. *PLoS ONE 12*(3): e0172972. https://doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172972
- Pedlar, D., Thompson J, & Castro, A. C. (2019). Military to Civilian Transition Theories and Frameworks. In A. C. Castro & S. Dursun (Eds.), *Military Veteran*

Reintegration, 21-50. Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-</u> 815312-3.00003-6

- Penn State University. (n.d.). Testing and remedial measures for autocorrelation. https://online.stat.psu.edu/stat501/lesson/14/14.3
- Piedmont Healthcare. (2020). Can a sudden change in the weather affect your health? <u>https://www.piedmont.org/living-better/can-a-sudden-change-in-the-weather-affect-your-health</u>
- Poston, W. S. C., Olvera, N. E., & Yanez, C. (1998). Evaluation of the factor structure and psychometric properties of the General Well-Being Schedule (GWB) with Mexican American women. *Women and Health* 27: 49–62.
- Prokos, A., & Cabage, L. N. (2017). Women military veterans, disability, and employment. *Armed Forces & Society*, (43), 346–367. https://doi.10.1177/0095327x15610743
- Price, P. C., Jhangiani, R., & Chiang, I. A. (2014). Research methods in psychology (2nd Canadian Ed.). BC Open Textbook Project. https://opentextbc.ca/researchmethods/
- Prokos, A., & Cabage, L. N. (2017). Women military veterans, disability, and employment. *Armed Forces & Society*, (43), 346–367. https://doi.10.1177/0095327x15610743
- Ramos, R., Jenny, G., & Bauer, G. (2016) Age-related effects of job characteristics on burnout and work engagement. *Occupational Medicine*, 66(3), 230–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqv172</u>

Rampersad, J. D. (2017). Relationship between familism and sexual attitudes among college students (Order No. 10640980) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].
<u>https://www.proquest.com/pqdtlocal1005747/docview/1992750913/BA09DE8EC</u>

7D40A0PQ/1?accountid=14872

- Redmond, S. A., Wilcox, S. L., Campbell, S., Kim, A., Finney, K., Barr, K., & Hassan,
 A. M. (2015). A brief introduction to the military workplace culture. *Work* (*Reading, Mass.*), 50(1), 9–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-141987</u>
- Reed A. E., & Carstensen L. L. (2012). The theory behind the age-related positivity effect. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00339</u>
- Reed, A. E., Chan, L., & Mikels, J. A. (2014). Meta-analysis of the age-related positivity effect: age differences in preferences for positive over negative information.
 Psychology and Aging, 29(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035194</u>
- Reger, M. A., Smolenski, D. J., Skopp, N. A., Metzger-Abamukang, M. J., Kang, H. K., Bullman, T. A., Perdue, S., Gahm, G. A. (2015). Risk of suicide among US military servicemembers following Operation Enduring Freedom or Operation Iraqi Freedom deployment and separation from the US military. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(6), 561–569. <u>https://doi.10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.3195</u>

Regmi, P. R., Waithaka, E., Paudyal, A., Simkhada, P., & van Teijlingen, E. (2016).
Guide to the design and application of online questionnaire surveys. *Nepal Journal of Epidemiology*, *6*(4), 640–644. <u>https://doi.org/10.3126/nje.v6i4.17258</u>

Ribes-Iñesta, E. (2003). What Is Defined in Operational Definitions? The Case of

Operant Psychology. Behavior and Philosophy, 31, 111-126.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/27759449

Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical E20ducation*, 8(4), 261–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-</u>

<u>X</u>

- Rice, S., Winter, S. R., Doherty, S., and Milner, M. (2017). Advantages and disadvantages of using internet-based survey method in aviation-related research. *Journal of Aviation Technology and Engineering*, 7:1, 58–65.
 <u>https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1160&context=jate</u>
- Romaniuk, M., & Kidd, C. (2018). The psychological adjustment experience of reintegration following discharge from military service: A systemic review. *Journal of Military & Veterans' Health*, *26*(2), 60–73.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326463117
- Rosellini, A. J., Monahan, J., Street, A. E., Heeringa, S. G., Hill, E. D., Petukhova, M., Reis, B. Y., Sampson, N. A., Bliese, P., Schoenbaum, M., Stein, M. B., Ursano, R. J., & Kessler, R. C. (2016). Predicting non-familial major physical violent crime perpetration in the US Army from administrative data. *Psychological medicine*, *46*(2), 303–316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715001774</u>
- Ross, A., Bevans, M., Brooks, A. T., Gibbons, S., & Wallen, G. R. (2017). Nurses and health-promoting behaviors: Knowledge may not translate into self-care. *AORN Journal*, 105(3), 267–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2016.12.018</u>

Russell, D. W. and Russell, C. A. (2020). The evolution of mental health outcomes across

a combat deployment cycle: A longitudinal study of a Guam-based National Guard unit. *PLOS ONE 15*(3): e0230140.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230140

- Sacred Heart University Library. (2020). Organizing academic research papers: Types of research designs. <u>https://library.sacredheart.edu/c.php?g=29803&p=185902</u>
- Salvagioni, D., Melanda, F. N., Mesas, A. E., González, A. D., Gabani, F. L., & Andrade,
 S. M. (2017). Physical, psychological, and occupational consequences of job
 burnout: A systematic Review of Prospective Studies. *PloS one*, *12*(10),
 e0185781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185781</u>
- Sayer, N. A., Carlson, K. F., & Frazier, P. A. (2014). Reintegration challenges in U.S. service members and veterans following combat deployment. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, 8(1), 33–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12001</u>
- Scapardine, D. (2017). Leaving "other than honorable" soldiers behind: How the
 Department of Defense and Veterans Affairs inadvertently created a health and
 social crisis. *Maryland Law Review*, 76(4), 1133–1164.
 https://digitalcommons.law.umaryland.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3765&context=mlr
- Scherrer, J. F., Widner, G., Shroff, M., Matthieu, M., Balan, S., van den Berk-Clark, C., & Price, R. K. (2014). Assessment of a post deployment Yellow Ribbon reintegration program for National Guard members and supporters. *Military Medicine*, *179*(11), 1391–1397. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-14-00094</u>

Scholtes, V. A., Terwee, C. B., Poolman, R. W. (2011). What makes a measurement

instrument valid and reliable? Injury, 42(3): 236–240.

https://doi:10.1016/j.injury.2010.11.042

- Schuyler, A. C., Kintzle, S., Lucas, C. L., Moore, H., & Castro, C. A. (2017). Military sexual assault (MSA) among veterans in Southern California: Associations with physical health, psychological health, and risk behaviors. *Traumatology*, 23(3), 223–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000098</u>
- Seamone, E., Sreenivasan, S., McGuire, J., Smee, D., Clark, S., & Dow, D. (2018). A rehabilitative justice pathway for war-traumatized offenders caught in the military misconduct catch-22. Armed Forces & Society, 44(1), 139–155. https://doi.10.1177/0095327X17690852
- Segal, M. W., & Lane, M. D. (2016). Conceptual model of military women's life events and well-being. *Military Medicine*, 181(1 Suppl.), 12–19. <u>https://doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-15-00345</u>
- Sertia, M., S. (2016). Methodology Series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. *Indian* Journal of Dermatology, 61(3), 261–4. <u>https://doi.10.4103/0019-5154.182410</u>
- Siegle, D. (2020). External validity. *University of Connecticut*. <u>https://researchbasics.education.uconn.edu/external_validity/</u>
- Smith, R. T., & True, G. (2014). Warring identities identity conflict and the mental distress of American veterans of the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan. *Society and Mental Health*, 4(2) https://doi.org/10.1177/2156869313512212
- Sonder Behavioral Health & Wellness. (2020). Life transitions.

https://www.sonderwellness.com/therapy/mental-health-concerns/life-transitions

- Souse, V. D., Driessnack, M., & Costa Mendes, I. A. (2007). An overview of research designs relevant to nursing: Part 1: Quantitative research designs. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem*, 15(3): 502–507. <u>https://doi10.1590/S0104-</u> 11692007000300022
- Spini, D., Laura Bernardi & Michel Oris. (2017) Toward a life course framework for studying vulnerability. *Research in Human Development*, 14:1, 5–25. <u>https://10.1080/15427609.2016.1268892</u>
- Statista Research Department. (2019). U. S. veterans statistics and facts. https://www.statista.com/topics/1279/veterans/#dossierSummary__chapter1

Statistics Solutions. (2020). Selection process for multiple regression.

https://www.statisticssolutions.com/selection-process-for-multiple-regression/

- Stevelink, S., Jones, M., Hull, L., Pernet, D., MacCrimmon, S., Goodwin, L., MacManus, D., Murphy, D., Jones, N., Greenberg, N., Rona, R. J., Fear, N. T., & Wessely, S. (2018). Mental health outcomes at the end of the British involvement in the Iraq and Afghanistan conflicts: A cohort study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 213(6), 690–697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2018.175</u>
- Stevelink, S. A., Malcolm, E. M., Mason, C., Jenkins, S., Sundin, J., & Fear, N. T.
 (2015). The prevalence of mental health disorders in (ex-)military personnel with a physical impairment: A Systematic Review. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 72(4), 243–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2014-102207</u>
- Stevenson, B., & Wolfers, J. (2009). The paradox of declining female happiness. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy 1*(2), 190–225.

https://10.1257/pol.1.2.190

- Stoewen D. L. (2017). Dimensions of wellness: Change your habits, change your life. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal La Revue Veterinaire Canadienne*, 58(8), 861– 862.
- Stratton, S. (2021). Population research: Convenience sampling strategies. *Prehospital* and Disaster Medicine, 36(4), 373–374. <u>https://10.1017/S1049023X21000649</u>
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2016). Results from the 2015 national survey on drug use and health (NSDUH). <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015.pdf</u>
- Suzuki, M., & Kawakami, A. (2016). U.S. military service members' reintegration, culture, and spiritual development. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(11), 2059–2075. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/4</u>
- Tabachnick & Fidell. (2013). General uses of analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). *Statistics Solutions*. <u>https://www.statisticssolutions.com/general-uses-of-analysis-of-covariance-ancova/</u>
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. International Journal of Medical Education, (2), 53–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd</u>
- Taylor, J., W. S. Carlos Poston, II, C. Keith Haddock, G. L. Blackburn, Heber, D., S. B. Heymsfield, & J. P. Foreyt. (2003). Psychometric characteristics of the General Well-Being Schedule (GWB) with African American women. *Quality of Life Research*, 12(1), 31–39. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/4037590</u>

The Department of Veterans Affairs. (2018). The Military to civilian transition.

https://benefits.va.gov/TRANSITION/docs/mct-report-2018.pdf

Theodoroff, S. M., Lewis, M. S., Folmer, R. L., Henry, J. A., & Carlson, K. F. (2015). Hearing impairment and tinnitus: Prevalence, risk factors, and outcomes in US service members and veterans deployed to the Iraq and Afghanistan wars. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 37, 71–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxu005</u>

- Thomas, K. H., Turner, L. W., Kaufman, E. M., Paschal, A., Knowlden, A. P., Birch, D. A., & Leeper, J. D. (2015). Predictors of depression diagnoses and symptoms in veterans: Results from a national survey. *Military Behavioral Health*, 3(4), 255–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2015.1085928
- Thompson, J. M., Lockhart, W., Roach, M.B., Atuel, H., Bélanger, S., Black, T., Castro, C.A., Cox, D., Cooper, A., de Boer, C., Dentry, S., Hamner, K., Shields, D., & Truusa, T. T. (2017). Veterans' identities and well-being in transition to civilian life A resource for policy analysts, program designers, service providers and researchers. Report of the veterans' identities research theme working group, *Canadian Institute for Military and Veteran Health Research Forum 2016*. Research directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. Research directorate technical report.
- Torreon, B. S. (2016). U.S. periods of war and dates of recent conflicts. *Naval History and Heritage Command*. <u>https://www.history.navy.mil/research/library/online-</u> <u>reading-room/title-list-alphabetically/u/us-periods-war-dates-recent-conflicts.html</u>

Trobaugh, E. M. (2018). Women, regardless: Understanding gender bias in U.S. military

integration. Joint Force Quarterly, 88 (1).

https://ndupress.ndu.edu/Portals/68/Documents/jfq/jfq-88/jfq-88_46-

53 Trobaugh.pdf?ver=2018-01-09-102340-317

- Trojian T. (2016). Depression is under-recognized in the sport setting: time for primary care sports medicine to be proactive and screen widely for depression symptoms.
 British Journal of Sports Medicine, 50(3), 137–139.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095582
- Truusa, T. & Castro, C. A. (2019). Definition of a veteran: The military viewed as a culture. In C. A. Castro & S. Dursun (Eds), *Military Veteran Reintegration*, 6–18. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815312-3.00002-4
- Tsai, J., Hoff, R. A., & Harpaz-Rotem, I. (2017). One-year incidence and predictors of homelessness among 300,000 U.S. Veterans seen in specialty mental health care. *Psychological Services*, 14(2), 203–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000083</u>
- Tsai, J., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2015). Risk factors for homelessness among US veterans. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 37, 177–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxu004</u>
- Tsai, J., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2018). Characteristics and health needs of veterans with other-than-honorable discharges: Expanding eligibility in the veterans' health administration. *Military Medicine*, 183(5-6), e153–e157.

https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usx110

Tyson, N. D. (2020). How to identify cognitive bias: 12 examples of cognitive bias. *MasterClass*. <u>https://www.masterclass.com/articles/how-to-identify-cognitive-bias</u> United States Interagency Council on Homelessness. (2018). Homelessness in America: Focus on veterans.

https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Homelessness_in_Americ

a. Focus on Veterans.pdf

University of Connecticut (UCONN). (2015). Instrument validity.

https://researchbasics.education.uconn.edu/instrument_validity/

University of Maryland. (2017). 8 dimensions of wellness.

https://umwellness.wordpress.com/8-dimensions-of-wellness/

- University of Southern California Libraries. (2020). Organizing your social sciences research paper. <u>https://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/researchdesigns</u>
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2018). Definitions and concepts. Retrieved from https://census.gov/topics/population/veterans/about/glossary.html#par_textimage_

1

U.S. Census Bureau. (2020). Those who served: America's veterans from World War II to the War on Terror.

https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2020/demo/acs-43.pdf

USC Libraries. (2020). Organizing your social sciences research paper.

https://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/researchdesigns

U. S. Department of Defense. (US DoD, 2017). 2017 Demographics report. <u>https://download.militaryonesource.mil/12038/MOS/Reports/2017-demographics-report.pdf</u> U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs. (2015). Aging veterans and posttraumatic stress symptoms [National Center for PTSD website].

http://www.ptsd.va.gov/public/types/war/ptsd-older-vets.asp.

U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs. (2018). The military to civilian transition 2018: A review of historical, current, and future trends.

https://benefits.va.gov/TRANSITION/docs/mct-report-2018.pdf

USA GOV. (2020, March 13). Health benefits and issues for veterans.

https://www.usa.gov/veteran-health

- USO. (2020). USO pathfinder. https://www.uso.org/programs/uso-pathfinder
- VA Benefits and Health Care. (2020). Access and manage your VA benefits and health care. *Department of Veterans Affairs*. <u>https://www.va.gov/</u>
- VA Community Provider Toolkit (n.d.). Common challenges during readjustment. Department of Veteran Affairs.

https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/communityproviders/docs/readjustment.pdf

- VA Office of Research & Development. (2021). VA research on mental health. https://www.research.va.gov/topics/mental health.cfm
- Varga, C. M., Haibach, M. A., Rowan, A. B., & Haibach, J. P. (2018). Psychiatric history, deployments, and potential impacts of mental health care in a combat theater. *Military Medicine*, 183(1-2), e77–e82.

https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usx012

Veterans Inc. (2020). Support services for veteran families.

https://www.veteransinc.org/services/supportive-services-for-veteran-families/

Veterans of Foreign Wars. (2019). Cultural barriers impacting women veterans' access to healthcare. <u>https://www.vfw.org/advocacy/national-legislative-service/congressional-testimony/2019/5/cultural-barriers-impacting-women-</u>

veterans-access-to-healthcare

Veterans of Foreign Wars. (2020). Factsheet. <u>https://vfworg-cdn.azureedge.net/-/media/VFWSite/Files/Media-and-Events/Press-</u>

Room/VFWFactSheet.pdf?la=en&v=1&d=20200618T152609Z

- Vîrgă, D., Baciu, E.-L., Lazăr, T.-A., & Lupşa, D. (2020). Psychological capital protects social workers from burnout and secondary traumatic stress. *Sustainability*, *12*(6), 2246. <u>https://doi:10.3390/su12062246</u>
- Villagran, M., Ledford, C. J. W., & Canzona, M. R. (2015) Women's health identities in the transition from military member to service veteran, *Journal of Health Communication, 20*:10, 1125-1132.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2015.1018619

Vogt, D., Smith, B. N., Fox, A. B., Amoroso, T., Taverna, E., & Schnurr, P. P. (2017).
Consequences of PTSD for the work and family quality of life of female and male
U.S. Afghanistan and Iraq War veterans. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *52*(3), 341–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1321-5</u>

Volunteers of America. (2020). About us: Dedicated to making lives better.

https://www.voa.org/about-us

Walclawski, E. (2012). How I use it: Survey monkey. Occupational Medicine, (62)3,

477. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqs075

- Wainwright, V., McDonnell, S., Lennox, C., Shaw, J., & Senior, J. (2016). Soldier, civilian, criminal: identifying pathways to offending of ex-armed forces personnel in prison. *Psychology, Crime & Law: PC & L*, 22(8), 741–757. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2016.1181175</u>
- Walden University. (2020a). Online Education for Military Members and Families. <u>https://www.waldenu.edu/experience/military</u>
- Walden University. (2020b). Students. <u>https://www.waldenu.edu/about/who-we-are/students</u>
- Wall P. L. (2012). Posttraumatic stress disorder and traumatic brain injury in current military populations: A critical analysis. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 18(5), 278–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1078390312460578</u>
- Wallnas, A & Jendle. (2017). Effects of exercise, social support and hardiness on occupational stress in Swedish teachers. *Orebro University*. <u>http://www.diva-</u> portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1120081/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Wardleigh, C. (2020). Caring for mental health during life transitions. https://selecthealth.org/blog/2020/06/mental-health-during-life-transitions
- Warren, J., Garthwaite, K., & Bambra, C. (2015). Help for heroes? Evaluating a case management programme for ex-service personnel in the United Kingdom. *Perspectives in Public Health*, 135(1), 37–42.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913914555747

Weiner, M. R., Monin, J. K., Mota, N., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2016). Age differences in the association of social support and mental health in male U.S. veterans: Results

from the national health and resilience in veterans' study. *The American Journal* of Geriatric Psychiatry: Official Journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry, 24(4), 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2015.11.007

- Whitaker, C., Stevelink, S., & Fear, N. (2017). The Use of Facebook in Recruiting Participants for Health Research Purposes: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(8), e290. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7071</u>
- Whitworth, J., Smet, B. & Anderson, B. (2020). Reconceptualizing the U.S. military's transition assistance program: The success in transition model. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 6(1), 25–35. <u>http://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v6i1.144</u>
- Williams, C. (2007). Research methods. Journal of Business & Economics Research (JBER), 5(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.19030/jber.v5i3.2532</u>
- Winston-Salem State University Library. (2020). Key elements of a research proposal: Quantitative design. <u>https://www.wssu.edu/about/offices-and-departments/office-</u> of-sponsored-programs/pre-award/ Files/documents/develop-quantitative.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2020). WHO remains firmly committed to the principles set out in the preamble to the constitution.

https://www.who.int/about/governance/constitution

Worthen, M., & Ahern, J. (2014). The causes, course, and consequences of anger problems in veterans returning to civilian life. *Journal of Loss and Trauma: International Perspectives on Stress & Coping, 19*(4):355–363.
https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2013.788945

Xue, C., Ge, Y., Tang, B., Liu, Y., Kang, P., Wang, M., & Zhang, L. (2015). A meta-

analysis of risk factors for combat-related PTSD among military personnel and veterans. *PloS one*, *10*(3), e0120270.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120270

- Zaidi U. (2020). Health and rehabilitation science specialties, physical activity, and dimensions of wellness among the students of PNU. *Heliyon*, 6(1), e03204.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03204
- Zogas, A. (2017). US military veterans' difficult transitions back to civilian life and the VA response. Watson Institute, International & Public Affairs - Brown University. <u>http://watson.brown.edu/costsofwar/files/cow/imce/papers/2017/Zogas_Veterans</u> <u>%27%20Transitions_CoW_2.1.17.pdf</u>

Appendix A: Online Flyer



ATTENTION POST-9/11 MILITARY VETERANS Are you a military veteran from the post-9/11 Era who would like to share your transition experience as a veteran?

I am a wounded warrior advocate and a doctoral study at Walden University. This is a research study on how the demographic characteristics of veterans (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type [combat/non-combat], number of years served, and number of years since discharge) affect their self-perceived wellness post-service.

The survey will take between 10 and 15 minutes to complete. To protect your privacy, no names or other contact information will be collected.

Volunteers must be: Discharged from the U. S. military after September 11, 2001 In the rank E-3 to E-9, WO-1 to WO-4, or O-1 to O-6. Proficient in English language.

If you are a willing participant, please click on the following link to take the survey. At the end of the survey, you will also be asked to forward the link to other veterans you know who are eligible to participate. CLICK HERE TO TAKE THE SURVEY If you have any questions, you may contact me via email at oluwatosin.animashaun@waldenu.edu. The survey will be available for 2 weeks.

Appendix B: Screening Survey

- 1. What was your rank at discharge (e.g., Specialist/Corporal)?
- 2. Which was branch of military service did you serve (e.g., Army)?
- 3. What was your pay grade at discharge (e.g., E4)?

Appendix C: Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study that examine whether the demographic characteristics of veterans (age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/non-combat), number of years served, or number of years since discharge) is related to their self-perceived wellness. It is hoped that by having a better understanding of how these factors are related (and differences in some of the variables based on service type and length of separation) that additional information can be provided to those who assist veterans in their transition to civilian life to assist them in individualizing these programs based on veteran characteristics. The researcher is inviting participants who are Walden University veteran students and other veterans from various social media outlets.

This study is being conducted by a researcher named Oluwatosin Animashaun, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information:

The challenges military veterans experience during their transition from military to civilian life are related to adjusting to a civilian environment and culture that is much different from that which they experienced while serving in the military (Zogas, 2017). Researchers have found that successful employment, socioeconomic status, quality of living arrangements, psychological health, and quality of relationships with others have been found to be related to positive perceptions of wellness (Castrol & Kintzle, 2017; Cooper et al., 2018; Kneeling et al., 2018). But there is limited information on the relationship between the demographic characteristics of veterans and their well-being. The purpose of this study is to determine whether or not there is a correlation between the demographic characteristics of veterans and their self-perceived wellness.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

Complete a screening questionnaire about your time in the military, which is your branch of service, rank, and pay grade. The portion of the survey will take 1 to 3 minutes to complete. You will be asked to complete the demographic questionnaire, which is age, gender, military branch, rank at discharge, service type (combat/non-combat), number of years served, and number of years since discharge. The portion of the survey will take 3 to 5 minutes to complete. You will be asked to complete the General Well-being Schedule. The scale consists of 18 items asking about life satisfaction and level of psychological distress. There are 6 subscales measuring anxiety, depression, positive well-being, self-control, vitality, and general health (Dupuy, 1977). Questions 1 to 14 on the instrument uses 6-point Likert scale that ranges from one (All the time) to 6 (None of the time) and questions 15 to 18 uses 10-point Likert scale that ranges from 0 (Not concerned at all) to 10 (Very concerned) to measure each of the 18 items in the General Well-being Schedule. The survey should take 9 to 10 minutes to complete.

Here are some sample questions:

- What was your rank at discharge?

- Branch of service: 0= Army 1= Marine 2= Airforce 3= Navy

-Have your daily life been full of things that were interesting to you? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

1 (All the time) 2 (Most of the time) 3 (A good bit of the time) 4 (Some of the time)

5 (A little of the time) 6 (None of the time)

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. So, everyone involved will respect your decision to join or not. You will not be treated differently at Walden University or at your social media veteran group if you decide not to join the study. Even if you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind later and stop at any time. Only Walden veteran students and members of veteran organizations can volunteer for this study.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue, stress, or becoming upset. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

The study offers no direct benefits to individual volunteers. The aim of this study is to provide information to benefit those who support veterans in their transition in individualizing the transition programs based on veteran characteristics.

Payment:

Since this study will not compensate participants individually, each participant will be informed about his or her participation and that this study is completely voluntary, and that all information collected will be stored on a secure server and remain confidential (participant names will not be collected).

Privacy:

The researcher is required to protect your privacy. Your identity will be kept confidential, within the limits of the law. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure in the SurveyMonkey database which requires a user identification and password encryption to enter the database. The data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

Contacts and Questions:

You can ask questions of the researcher by sending an email to

Oluwatosin.animashaun@waldenu.edu. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant or any negative parts of the study, you can call Walden University's Research Participant Advocate at 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 05-28-21-0671267 and it expires on 05-27-2022.

Obtaining Your Consent

In order to protect each participant's privacy, no privacy signatures will be collected, and your completion of the survey would indicate your consent, if you so choose to participate. If you feel you understand the study well enough to decide about it, please indicate your consent by clicking on the survey, completing the survey, and submitting the survey.

Appendix D: Demographic Questionnaire

- 1. What is your age?
- Gender: 0= Male 1= Female
 Branch of service: 0= Army 1= Marine 2= Airforce 3= Navy
 Rank at discharge: 0= Enlisted 1= Warrant Officer 2= Officer
 Service type: 0= Non-combat 1= Combat
 Number of years served:
- 7. Number of years since discharged:

Appendix E: General Well-being Schedule

Read: This section of the examination contains questions about how you feel and how things have been going with you. For each question, mark (X) beside the answer which best applies to you.

1. How have you been feeling in general? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

- 1 [] In excellent spirits
- 2 [] In very good spirits
- 3 [] In good spirits mostly

4 [] I have been up and down in spirits a lot

- 5 [] In low spirits mostly
- 6 [] In very low spirits

 Have you been bothered by nervousness or your "nerves"? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] Extremely so-to the point where I could not work or take care of things

- 2 [] Very much so
- 3 [] Quite a bit
- 4 [] Some-enough to bother me
- 5 [] A little
- 6 [] Not at all

3. Have you been in firm control of your behavior, thoughts, emotions, or feelings?

(DURING THE PAST MONTH)

- 1 [] Yes, definitely so
- 2 [] Yes, for the most part
- 3 [] Generally so
- 4 [] Some-enough to bother me
- 5 [] A little
6 [] Not at all

4. Have you felt so sad, discourages, hopeless, or had so many problems that you

wondered if anything was worthwhile? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] Extremely so-to the point that I have just about given up

2 [] Very much so

3 [] Quite a bit

- 4 [] Some-enough to bother me
- 5 [] A little bit
- 6 [] Not at all

5. Have you been under or felt you were under any strain, stress, or pressure?

(DURING THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] Yes-almost more than I could bear or stand

- 2 [] Yes-quite a bit of pressure
- 3 [] Yes-some, more than usual
- 4 [] Yes-some, but about usual

5 [] Yes-a little

6 [] Not at all

6. How happy, satisfied, or pleased have you been with your personal life? (DURING

THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] Extremely happy-could not have been more satisfied or pleased

- 2 [] Very happy
- 3 [] Fairly happy
- 4 [] Satisfied-pleased
- 5 [] Somewhat dissatisfied
- 6 [] Very dissatisfied

7. Have you had any reason to wonder if you were losing your mind, or losing control over the way you act, talk, think, feel, or of your memory? (DURING THE

PAST MONTH)

- 1 [] Not at all
- 2 [] Only a little
- 3 [] Some-but not enough to be concerned or worried about
- 4 [] Some, and I have been a little concerned
- 5 [] Some, and I am quite concerned
- 6 [] Yes, very much so, and I am very concerned
- 8. Have you been anxious, worried, or upset? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)
- 1 [] Extremely so-to the point of being sick or almost sick
- 2 [] Very much so
- 3 [] Quite a bit
- 4 [] Some-enough to bother me
- 5 [] A little bit
- 6 [] Not at all
- 9. Have you been waking up fresh and rested? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)
- 1 [] Every day
- 2 [] Most every day
- 3 [] Fairly often
- 4 [] Less than half the time
- 5 [] Rarely
- 6 [] None of the time
- 10. Have you been bothered by any illness, bodily disorder, pains, or fears about
- your health? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)
- 1 [] All the time
- 2 [] Most of the time
- 3 [] A good bit of the time
- 4 [] Some of the time

5 [] A little of the time

6 [] None of the time

11. Has your daily life been full of things that were interesting to you? (DURING

THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] All the time

- 2 [] Most of the time
- 3 [] A good bit of the time
- 4 [] Some of the time

5 [] A little of the time

- 6 [] None of the time
- 12. Have you felt down hearted and blue? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] All the time

- 2 [] Most of the time
- 3 [] A good bit of the time
- 4 [] Some of the time

5 [] A little of the time

- 6 [] None of the time
- 13. Have you been feeling emotionally stable and sure of yourself? (DURING THE

PAST MONTH)

- 1 [] All the time
- 2 [] Most of the time
- 3 [] A good bit of the time
- 4 [] Some of the time
- 5 [] A little of the time
- 6 [] None of the time

14. Have you felt tired, worn out, used-up, or exhausted? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

1 [] All the time

2 [] Most of the time

3 [] A good bit of the time

4 [] Some of the time

5 [] A little of the time

6 [] None of the time

For each of the four scales below, note that the words at each end of the 0 to 10

scale describe opposite feelings. Circle any number along which seems closest to

```
how you have generally felt? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)
```

15. How concerned or worried about your HEALTH have you been? (DURING THE

PAST MONTH)

0 [] Not concerned at all

- 1[]
- 2[]
- 3[]
- 4[]
- 5[]
- 6[]

7[]

- 8[]
- 9[]
- 10 [] Very concerned

16. How RELEAXED or TENSE have you been? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

- 0 [] Very relaxed
- 1[]
- 2[]

3 [] 4 [] 5 [] 6 [] 7 [] 8 [] 9 []

10 [] Very tense

17. How much ENERGY, PEP, and VITALITY have you felt? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

- 0 [] No energy AT ALL listless
- 1[]
- 2[]
- 3 []
- 4[]
- 5[]
- 6[]
- 7[]
- 8[]
- 9[]
- 10 [] Very ENERGETIC, dynamic

18. How DEPRESSED or CHEERFUL have you been? (DURING THE PAST MONTH)

- 0 [] Very depressed
- 1[]
- 2[]

3 [] 4 [] 5 [] 6 [] 7 [] 8 [] 9 [] 10 [] Very cheerful

Scoring:

Items 1, 3, 6, 7, 9, 11, 15, and 16 are reverse scored. The scores from all items are added together and 14 are subtracted from the total to give a range of 0-110.

There are three proposed cut-points: total scores of 0-60 reflect "severe distress,"

61-72 "moderate distress," and 73-110 "positive well-being".

Six sub-scores can be derived

Sub-score Label	Question Topics
Anxiety	2. nervousness
	5. strain, stress, or pressure
	8. anxious, worried, upset
	16. relaxed, tense
Depression	4. sad, discouraged, hopeless
	12. down-hearted, blue
	18. depressed
Positive well-being	1. feeling in general
	6. happy, satisfied with life
	11. interesting daily life

Self-control	3. firm control of behavior, emotions		
	7. afraid, losing mind, or losing control		
	13. emotionally stable, sure of self		
Vitality	9. waking fresh, rested		
	14. feeling tired, worn out		
	17. energy level		
General health	10. bothered by illness		
	15. concerned, worried about health		

Pay	Army	Air Force	Marines	Navy	
Scale					
Commissioned Officers					
**	General of the	General of the Air		Fleet Admiral	
	Army	Force			
0-10	Army Chief of	Air Force Chief of	Commandant of	Chief of Naval	
	Staff	Staff General	the Marine Corps	Operations	
	General		General	Admiral	
0-9	Lieutenant General	Lieutenant General	Lieutenant General	Vice Admiral	
0-8	Major General	Major General	Major General	Rear Admiral	
0-7	Brigadier General	Brigadier General	Brigadier General	Rear Admiral	
0-6	Colonel	Colonel	Colonel	Captain	
0-5	Lieutenant Colonel	Lieutenant Colonel	Lieutenant Colonel	Commander	
.0-4	Major	Major	Major	Lieutenant	
				Commander	
0-3	Captain	Captain	Captain	Lieutenant	
0-2	1st Lieutenant	1st Lieutenant	1st Lieutenant	Lieutenant,	
				Junior Grade	
0-1	2nd Lieutenant	2nd Lieutenant	2nd Lieutenant	Ensign	
Warrant	Officers				
W-5	Master Warrant		Chief Warrant	Master Warrant	
	Officer 5		Officer 5	Officer	
W-4	Warrant Officer 4		Chief Warrant	Warrant Officer	
			Officer 4	4	
W-3	Warrant Officer 3		Chief Warrant	Warrant Officer	
			Officer 3	3	
W-2	Warrant Officer 2		Chief Warrant	Warrant Officer	
			Officer 2	2	
W-1	Warrant Officer 1		Chief Warrant	Warrant Officer	
			Officer 1	1	
Non-Commissioned Officers					
Special	Sergeant Major of	Chief Master	Sergeant Major of	Master Chief	
	the Army	Sergeant of the Air	the Marine Corps	Petty Officer of	
		Force		the Navy	
E-9	Command	First Sergeant	Sergeant Major	Master Chief	
	Sergeant Major	(Senior Master	Master Gunnery	Petty Officer	
	Sergeant Major	Sergeant)	Sergeant		
		Senior Master			
		Sergeant			
E-8	First Sergeant	First Sergeant	First Sergeant		
	Master Sergeant	(Senior Sergeant)			

Appendix F: US Military Ranks, Branches, and Pay Scale

		Senior Master	Master Gunnery	Senior Chief	
		Sergeant	Sergeant	Petty Officer	
E-7	Sergeant First	First Sergeant	Gunnery Sergeant	Senior Chief	
	Class	(Master Sergeant)		Petty Officer	
		Master Sergeant			
E-6	Staff Sergeant	Technical Sergeant	Staff Sergeant	Chief Petty	
		_		Officer	
E-5	Sergeant	Staff Sergeant	Sergeant	Petty Officer	
				First Class	
E-4	Corporal/Specialist	Senior Airman	Corporal	Petty Officer	
				Third Class	
Enlisted Personnel					
E4	Specialist	Senior Airman			
E-3	Private First Class	Airman First Class	Lance Corporal	Seaman	
E-2	Private	Airman	Private First Class	Sea Apprentice	
E-1	Private (Recruit)	Airman Basic	Private	Seaman Recruit	

Appendix G: Permission

Test: General Well-Being (GWB) Schedule

Year: 1977

Domain: Psychological

Assessment Tool Category: Psychological well-being

Variations/Translations: Psychological Mental Health index is a 10-item version; Health Insurance Study of General Well-being (HIS-GWB); Psychological General Wellbeing Index; British version known as the Adapted General Well-being Index (AGWBI)

Method of Delivery: Self-administered questionnaire

Description: The General well-being schedule is a self-administered questionnaire that focuses on one's subjective feelings of psychological well-being and distress. The scale assesses how the individual feels about his/ her "inner personal state". It consists of 18 items covering six dimensions of anxiety, depression, general health, positive well-being, self-control and vitality. The scale includes both positive and negative questions and each item has the time frame "during the last month". The first 14 questions use six-point response scales representing intensity or frequency. The remaining four questions use 0-to-10 rating scales defined by adjectives at each end.

Scoring/Interpretation: There is a total score running from 0 to 110 with lower scores indicating more severe distress. The three levels of distress are sectioned accordingly: 0 to 60 reflect "severe distress"; 61 to 72 "moderate distress"; and 73 to 110 "positive wellbeing". Scores can be narrowed further into severe, serious, distress, stress problem, marginal, low positive and positive well-being.

Time to Administer: Approximately 10 minutes

Availability: Public Domain. Can be accessed online.